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INTRODUCTION

This Court has accepted the United States District Court for the Southein District of'

Ohio's request to clarify the impact of this Court's holding in State v. Chandler, 109 Ohio St.3d

223, 2006-Ohio-2285, 846 N.E.2d 1234, upon individuals such as Mr. Garr, who was convicted

of first-degree trafficking in cocaine and was subjected to sentencing as a major drug offender

("MDO"), despite the fact that the "substance" which was offered for sale was never observed,

recovered, or tested. Specifically, this Court has agreed to answer the following question:

Whetlier the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v. Chandler, 109 Ohio

St.3d 223, 2006-Ohio-2285, as described in the syllabus of the court, to wit: "[a]
substance offered for sale must contain some detectable amount of the relevant
controlled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major drug offender
under Ohio Revised Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g)," extends to cases where the
substance offered for sale was never observed, tested, or recovered to ascertain
whether it coritained a detectable amount of the controlled substance, but no
affirmative evidence was presented to call into question the defendant's
representation in his offer to scll, or to refute the jury's factual fmding, that the
substance was in fact a controlled substance in an amount that equaled or

exceeded 1000 grams.

This Court should answer the question in the affirmative. In Chandler, this Court held:

'I'he General Assembly has authorized a hierarchy of criminal penalties for drug
trafficking based upon the identity and amount of the controlled substance
involved. By the terms of the penalty statute for cocaine, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4), the
substance involved in the violation is to be cocaine or, at the very least, "a

compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing cocaine." (Emphasis
added.) This language presumes that a detectable amount of cocaine is present
within the substance before the penalty enhancement applies.

Chandler at ¶18. "I'his Court concluded: "We hold that the statute is clear and that a substance

offered for sale must contain some detectable amount of the relevant controlled substance

before a person can be sentenced as a major drug offender under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g)." Id. at

1121.



This Court's acknowledgment in Chandler of the General Assembly's plain language

applies to the factual scenario presented in Mr. Garr's case. In Mr. Garr's case, while an offer

to sell cocaine was niade, no "detectable amount" of cocaine, whatsoever, was recovered.

While the evidence bronght forth by the State against Mr. Garr migltt support his conviction for

an offer to sell drugs under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a), a felony of the fifth degree, the evidenec was

instiilficient to support his first-degree felony drug traf6cking conviction and accompanying

MDO classification. It is axiomatic that before the State niay obtain a conviction for auy

offense, it must prove every element of that offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Sullivan v.

Louisiana (1993), 508 U.S. 275, 277-78, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182; Jackson v. Virginia

(1979), 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Fd.2d 560; In re Winship (1970), 397 U.S. 358,

361-64, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368. Moreover, Ohio appellate courts have properly relied

upon Chandler in cases that presented factual backgrounds similar to those presented in Mr.

Garr's case, i.e., in which no detectable amount of a controlled substance was recovered. See,

e.g., State v. Mitchell, 7th Dist. No. 08 JE 5, 2008-Ohio-6920, 2008 Ohio App. LEXIS 5869;

State v. Elliott, 8th Dist. No. 86461, 2006-Ohio-1092, 2006 Ohio App. LEXIS 1006. Furthei-,

sound policy considerations compel the application of Chandler's reasoning to the facts of Mr.

Garr's case. Accordingly, this Court should answer the federal court's question in the

affirmative.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. Procedural Posture.

Mr. Garr was indicted in the Hamilton County Court of Comnron Pleas on one count of

traffieking in cocaine in an amount that equaled or exceeded 1000 grams, a violation of R.C.

2925,03(A)(1). A major drug offender ("MDO") specification was returned under R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(g) and R.C. 2929.14(D)(3)(a). Mr. Garr's trial counsel filed a pretrial motion to

dismiss the MDO specification, arguing that there was insufficient evidence of a detectable

amount of a controlled substance to sustain the MDO enhancement under Chand7er. The

motion was overruled and Mr. Garr was subsequently convicted on the trafficking charge and

accompanying MDO specification. He was sentenced to a mandatory tei-rn of imprisonment of

ten years under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g) and R.C. 2929.14(D)(3)(a). Mr. Garr was acquitted on

all other coLmts.

Mr. Garr timely appealed his conviction and sentence to the First District Court of

Appeals, Hamilton County. 'Ihe court of appeals overruled Mr. Garr's two assignnients of

erTor, which again attacked the trial court's failure to dismiss the MDO specifcation and the

trial court's imposition of a mandatory sentence of ten years regarding the MDO speci(ication.

State v. Garr, 1 st Dist. No. C-060794, 2007-Ohio-3448, 2007 Ohio App. LEXIS 3179, at ¶7-8.

Mr. Garr timely souglit thi Court's jurisdiction regarding the issues that were raised in

the court of appeals. This Court denied Mr. Garr lcave to appeal his conviction and scntence.

In April 2008, Mr. Garr filed a timely petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United

States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, asserting the following grounds for

relief:

Ground One: "I'lie State of Ohio failed to present sufficient evidence to the jury to
prove that Mr. (iarr was a Major Drug Offender under Ohio law because no
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evidence was presented as to the weight or identity of the drug involved in the
Trafficking OiPense to which the Major Drug Offender attached.

Ground Two: Under Ohio law, an Of[er to Sale [sic] is a felony of the Fifth-
Degree oiily prmishable by 6-12 months, if the State of Ohio cannot prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance actually contanied/involved a
mixture of identifiable amormt of cocaine exceeding the weight limits provided
under Ohio law for a more serious offense.

On March 2, 2009, Magistrate Judge Black issued his Report and Reconunendation,

recommending that the State's motion to disrniss be denied, and that the question of' law as to

whetlier this Court's decision in Chandler applies to Mr. Garr's case be certified to this Court.

(Mar. 2, 2009, Report and Recommendation, at 24-25, attached). As noted by Magistrate Judge

Black, "The issues posed in the instant case are troubling." (Mar. 2, 2009, Report and

Recommendation, at 17-18, attached). Botll the trial court and the court of appeals held that

Chandler applied to Mr. Garr's case. Iiowever, the court of appeals, relyhig on the

"eircumstwrtial evidence" in the fornm of Mr. (iarr's statements to the police informant,

determined that Mr. Garr's case was distinguishable from Chandler. As aclmowledged by

Magistrate Judge Black, however, there should be "serious concerns" regarding the

circumstantial evidence which was relied npon by the court of appeals in upholding Mr. Garr's

enhanced sentence. (Mar- 2, 2009, Report and Recommendation, at 21-22, attached).

On July 16, 2009, Chief Judge Dlott certified the question addressed herein to this

Court. (June 26, 2009, Order on Report and Recommendation, attached; July 16, 2009,

Certification Order, attached). On September 30, 2009, this Court agreed to answer the district

court's question. (Sept. 30, 2009, Entiy).

II. The Facts Underlying Mr. Garr's Conviction and Sentence.

As determined by the court of appeals, the facts underlying Mr. Garr's conviction and

sentence were as follows:
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The facts of this case are largely undisputed. During a sting operation, Gan- told
police informant Robert Carr that he would sell him two kilograms of cocaine for
$42,000. At trial, the state played a series of recorded conversations between
Gan• and Carr detailing the tertns of this transaction, which included two
discussions about the quality of the cocaine- Carr and Garr eventually met in a
restaur:nrt parking lot with the understanding that (;arr was to deliver tlle cocaine
to Carr, and that Carr would pay him for it later. But due to a disagrcement over
payment, the sale was not completed, and Ciarr never produced any cocaine.
Police monitoring the scene allowed Garr to leave without incident. (iarr was
not arrested until several montlis later, and the state never recovered any
substance offered for sale in connection with these events.

State v- Garr, lst Dist. No. C-060794, 2007-Ohio-3448, 2007 Ohio App. LEXIS 3179, at 12.

ARGUMENT

This Court has agreed to answer the following, specific question:

Whether the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v- Chandler, 109 Ohio

St.3d 223, 2006-Ohio-2285, as described in the syllabus of the court, to wit: "[a]
substance offered for sale must contain some detectable amount of the relevant
contxolled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major drug offender
under Ohio Revised Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g)," extends to cases where the
substance offered for sale was never observed,t.ested, or recovered to ascertain
whether it contained a detectable amount of the controlled substance, but no
affirmative evidence was presented to call into question the defendant's
representation in his offer to sell, or to refute the jury's factual finding, that the
substance was in fact a controlled substance in an ainount that equaled or

exceeded 1000 grams.

(Sept. 30, 2009, Entry). For the reasons discussed herein, this Court should answcr the question

in the affirmative.

NE'I'ITIONER OLIVER LUCIEN GARR'S PROPOSITION OF LAW

This Court's holding in State v. Cliandler, 109 Ohio St.3d 223, 2006-Ohio-

2285, which concluded that a substance offered for sale must contain some

dctectable amonnt of the relevant controlled substance before a person can

be sentenced as a major drug offender under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g), applies

to cases where the substance offered for sale was never observed, tested, or

recovered to determine whether the substance offered for sale contained a

detectable aniount of the controlled substance.
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I. The General Assembly's plain lanauage as expressed in R.C. 2925.03, and this

Court's holding in Chandler interpreting that statute's plain languaee compels this

Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative.

In C'handler, this Court addressed the issue of whetlier a person can be subjected to the

special penalty statute applicable to a major drug offender for a first-degree felony conviction

when the substance that was offered for sale contained no detectable amount of the proscribed

substance. This Court held:

The penalty provision that relates to drug-trafficking cases, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4),
states at the outset: "If the drug involved in the violation is cocaine or a

compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing cocaine, whoever

violates division (A) of this section is guilty of trafficking in cocaine. The
penalty for the offense shall be determined as follows [setting forth the various

penalties]." (Emphasis added.)

Unless other specific portions of the section apply, trafficking in cocaine is a
fifth-degree felony, and there is no presumption for a prison term. R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(a). . . .

The penalty section at issue here, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g), states: "If the amount
of the drug involved equals or exceeds one thousand grams of cocaine tliat is not
crack cocaine or equals or exceeds one hundred grams of crack cocaine and
regardless of whether the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in
the vicinity of ajuveriil.e, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the first degree, the

offender is a rnajor drug offender, and the cour•t shall impose as a nzandatory
prison terrn the maximum prison term prescribed for a fclony nf the frrst degree
and may impose an additional marulatory prison term prescribed for a major

drug offender under division (D)(3)(b) of section 2929.14 of the Revised Code."
(Emphasis added.) Thus, this section provides a specific penalty enhancernent.

1'he appellees were charged with violating R.C. 2925.03(A)(1), and the court of
appeals properly held that the state was required to prove the identity of the
substance as well as a detectable amoruit of that substance, not for conviction,
but to impose the penalty eriliancement of R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g). The jury'"s
finding that the amount of the drug equaled or exceeded 100 grams of crack
cocaine was contrairy to fact, for the substance involved was 130.87 grams of
baking soda.

1'he major-drug-offender penalty that is referred to in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g) is
found in R.C. 2929.14(D)(3) and contains two parts. Subsection (a) states that if
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the offender violates R.C. 2925.03 and is classified as a major drug oPfender,
"the court shall impose ._. a ten-year prison term" that niay not be reduced by a
judicial release.... As the statute now stands, a major drug offender still faces
the mandatory maximum ten-year sentence that the judge must impose and may
not reduce. Only the add-on that had required judicial fact-finding has been

severed. ld.

The General Assembly has authoi-ized a luerarchy of criminal penalties for drug
trafficking based upon the identity and amount of the controlled substance
involved. By the terms of the penalty statute for cocaine, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4),

the substance involved in the violation is to be cocaine or, at the very least, "a

compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing cocaine." (Bmphasis

added.) This language presumes that a detectable amount of cocaine is present
within the substance before the penalty enhaiicement applies.

Chandler at 1112-13, 15-18. 1'his Court concluded: "We hold that the statute is clear and that

a substance of'fered for sale inust contain some detectable amount of the relevant

controlled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major drug offender under

R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g)." Id. at ¶21 (emphasis added).

The plain language of R.C. 2925.03 and this Court's reasoning in Chandler compel this

Coiu-t to answer the certified question in the affirmative. As noted by this Court, the substa.uce

offered for sale is to be cocaine, or at least a substance containing cocaine. Chandler at 1118.

Because no controlled substance, whatsoever, was recovered or tested, and because the State's

"prooP" of the identity and amount of the eontrolled substance announted to scant assertions by

the accused that the controlled substance was of a particular amount and quality, Mr. Garr's

MDO specification camiot stand.

Mr. Garr's case, like Chandler, is about the identity and quantity of the controlled

substance offered for sale. Chandler was not just a case about cocmterfeit drugs. it was a case

which addressed the question of what comprises sufficient evidence for enhanced drug

trafficking penalties when no cletectable amount of the controlled substance was recovered. In

ChandTer, the controlled substance that was offered for sale was affirmatively proven not to be a
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controlled substance. But the fact remains that in Mr. Garr's case, no controlled substanee,

whatsoever, was recovered, tested, and presented to the trier of fact. As determined in

Chandler, evidence sufficient for the iinposition of an MDO specification must include a

"detectable anzotmt" of the controlled substance. In Mr. Gan's ease, no detectable amount of a

controlled substance was presented to the jury. As such, this Court's holding in Chandler

applies to the facts of Mr. Garr's case.

The fact that the "drug" at issue in Chancller was detcilnined to be counterfeit does not

distinguish Chandler from cases in which no substance, whatsoever, was recovered. In

considering the General Assembly's intent in creating a hierarchy of criminal penalties for ctrug

traffreking, this Court properly noted: "By the terms of the penalty statute for cocaine, R.C.

2925.03(C)(4), the substance involved in the violation is to be cocaine or, at the very least, `a

compound, mixture, preparation, or substance contcrining cocaine.' (Etnpliasis added.) This

language presumes that a detectable amount of cocane is present within the substance before

the penalty enhancement applies." Chandler at ^18. Moreover, while the State may establish

any element of a crime through circumstantial evidence, see State v. Jenks (1991), 61 Ohio

St.3d 259, 272, 574 N.E.2d 492, this Court, in Chandler, determined that sufficient evidence for

the inlposition of the MDO specification requires a detectable amoant of the controlled

substance offered for sale. In a case such as Mr. Garr's, where the State's evidence supporting

the identity and amount of the controlled substance offered for sale was built upon cursory

assertions by the accused that the controlled substance was cocaine in excess of one kilogram, a

"detectable amount" of the substance offered for sale was not proven beyond a reasonable

doubt.
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II. Ohio appellate courts have applied the holding in Chandler in cases factually

similar to Mr. Garr's.

After this Court announced its holding in Chandler, Ohio appellate courts began to

apply Chandler's rationale in cases factually similar to Mr. Garr's case. In Slate v. Mitchell, 7th

Dist. No. 08 JE 5, 2008-Ohio-6920, 2008 Ohio App. LEXIS 5869, the court of appeals held that

there was insufficient evidence to support the defendant's conviction on a third-degree felony

drug trafficking charge when the sale of the controlled substance was never cornpleted because

the defendant was unable to procure the controlled substance. Id. at ¶1. The court of' appeals

refused to distinguish Chancller, as the First District Court of Appeals did in Mr. Garr's case.

The court of appeals expressed its disapproval of the court of appeals' holding in Mr. Garr's

case:

The First District has distinguished Chandler on the grounds that a counterfeit

substance that has been tested is different than a substance that is offered to be
sold but that is never delivered. Srale v. Garr, I st Dist. No- 60794, 2007-Ohio-
3448. They focused on the defendant's statenlent that the crack cocaine he
intended to sell was high quality. Id. at P6. The court concluded that
circumstantial evidence can be utilized to establislz that there was "some
detectable amount of the relevant controlled substance" as required by Chandler.

Id.atP5.

Even if the Garr• court's inteipretation and method of distinguishing Claandler

were correct, which is highly debatable, Garr itself is distinguishable frotn the
case at bar. Although appellant offered to sell the informant Oxycontin, there is
no evidence circumstantial or otherwise that there was some detectable amount of
Oxycontin in some drugs offered for sale. Rather, the only evidence was that
appellant was attempting to find sotne Oxycontin and that he never did find any
pills to purchase in order to resell them to the informant. In a case where a
defendant is trying to find a drug for a buyer but never finds it, the penalty
enhancement provision, which the Supreme Court has held requires some
detectable amount, is not satisfied.

Notably, there is an appellate case out of the Eighth District, which is contrary to

the First District's Garr ease and which was decided while the Chandler appeal

was pending in the Supreme Court. State v. Elliott, 8th Dist. No. 86461, 2006-

Ohio-1092. In Elliott, the defendant offered to sell a quarter of an ounce of crack
cocaine for $200 to an undercover officer. The officer said that atter he tried the
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crack that he had just purchased for $20 from the defendant, he may return for the
quarter ounce. Id. at P7. T'he defendant was immediately arrested. 'I'he $20 rock
turned ont to be baking soda and the verbally offered quarter ounce of crack
cocaine was never recovered.

1'he defendant was convicted on the following counts: (1) traflicking in a
counterfeit substance by selling the rock of baking soda; (2) offering to sell the
quarter ounce of crack cocaine that was never produced; aud (3) offering to sell
the $20 worth of crack cocaine that tmned out to be baking soda. It is the
treatment of the second count that is relevant to our analysis. Regarding this
count, the delendant's penalty was erilranced to a third degree felony upon the
jury's finding that he offered to sell an amount equaling or exceeding five grains
but less than ten grams.

The Eighth District upheld the drug trafficking conviction for the offer to sell
crack cocaine under count two. Id at P26, 29. However, the court held that the
state did not provide sufficient evidence to sustain the penalty enhancement to a
third degree felony. Id. at P26. Adopting the Fifth District's Chandler analysis
as to the penalty enhancement, the Eighth District concluded ihat the state was
required to prove a specific amount of the drug actually existed in order to obtain
penalty enhancenient. Id. at P27. T'hns, the Elliott court modified the conviction
for offering to sell the quarter ounce from a third degree felony to a fifth degree
felony, which is the lowest crack cocaine penalty provided in R.C. 2925.03(C).

Id. at P3, 27.

To conclude the analysis, the Supreme Court's Chandler case iuled that the
penalty enhancement provisions in the drug trafficking statute cannot be used
where there is no detectable trace of the alleged substance. Pursuant to this
precedent, then we hold that wliere a defendant offers to sell six Oxycontin
tablets but is unable to procure the pills for resale, the state has failed to show a
detectable amount of a controlled substance as requii-ed for penalty enhancemeiri.

Id- at 1127-31, 34; see, also, State v- Elliott, 8th Dist. No. 86461, 2006-Ohio-1092, 2006 Ohio

App. LEXIS 1006.

Accordingly, Ohio appellate courts have deteimined that the holding in Chandler applies

to cases in which the controlled substance that was offered for sale was never recovered or

tested. While Mitchell and Elliott involved factual scenarios in whieh the accused could not, or

did not, procure the drugs offered for sale, those cases are not materially distinguishable from
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the facts of Mr. Garr's case. In those cases, as in Mr. Garr's case, no detectable amount of the

controlled substance offered for sale was recovered. Moreover, in Mr. Garr's ease, there was

little circumstantial evidence supporting the identity and amount of the drugs offered for sale.

Mr. Garr did not have the burden of showing why no drugs materialized. The State was

required to prove their existence, in the form of a detectable amount, beyond a reasonable

doubt. Ohio appellate courts have properly applied Chancller's reasoning to cases factually

similar to that of Mr. Gan•. The courts' application of Chandler was proper because Chandler

did not merely address the narrow issue of the offer to sell counterfeit controlled substances.

Rather, as evidenced by the conclusion in Chandler itself Chandler addressed whether a

detectable aniount of the relevant controlled substance was necessary to enhance drug

trafficking penalties.

III. The application of this Court's holdine in Chaarller to the facts of Mr. Garr's case
accords with longstanding principles of due process , and is in accordance with

sound public policy.

Before the State may obtain a conviction for any offense, it must prove every element of

that offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993), 508 U.S. 275, 277-78,

113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182; Jackson v. Virginia (1979), 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S.Ct. 2781,

61 L.Fd.2d 560; In re YVinship (1970), 3971J.S. 358, 361-64, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368. A

conviction based upon insufficient evidence must be overturned. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 315-18.

When a verdict regarding a charge is not supported by sufficient evidence, the reviewing court

must vacate the verdict and dismiss the charge. S1ale v. lhompkins (1997), 78 Ohio St.3d 380,

387, 678 N.E.2d 541.

1'he Stale was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the charge

against Mr. Garr, inciuding the identity and amount of the controlled substance alleged to have

11



been offered for sale llrr enhancement purposes. As discussed in Chandler, R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(a) provides that "[u]nless other specific portions of the section apply, trafficking

in cocaine is a fifth-degree felony, and there is no presumption for a prison term." Mr. Garr has

not argued that he could not be validly convicted of a fifth-degree felony drug trafficking

charge. "Undoubtedly, a person can be convicted for offering to sell a controlled substance in

violation of R.C. 2925.03(A)(1) without actually transferring a controlled substance to the

buyer." Chandler at ¶9 (citing State v. Patterson (1982), 69 Ohio St.2d 445, 23 0.0.3d 394,

432 N.F..2d 808; see, also, State v. Scott, 5th Dist. No. WD-05-095. 2007-Ohio-564, 2007 Ohio

App. LEXIS 524. But in Chandler, this Court properly acknowledged the General Assembly's

intent in creating a hierarchy of drug trafficking penalties based upon the identity and anlount of

the controlled substance involved. "By the terms of the penalty statute for coeaine, R.C.

2925.03(C)(4), the substance involved in the violation is to be cocaine or, at the very least, "a

compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing cocaine." Id. at T18. Accordingly,

sufficient evidence of a detectable amount of the controlled substance at issue must be presented

if enhanced penalties are to be levied upon the accused.

Moreover, the application of the holding in Chandler to the facts of Mr. Garr's case

niakes serise. Magistrate Judge Black recognized that there should be "serious concerris"

regarding the circumstantial evidence which was relied upon by the court of appeals in

upholding Mr. Garr's enhanced sentence. (Mar. 2, 2009, Report and Recommendation, at 21-

22, attached). For circumstantial evidence to meet the standard of due process under the

Fourteenth Amendment, it must have been adequate for a. rational trier of fact to have made a

"permissible inference" of guilt, as opposed to a "reasonable speculation" of guilt. See

12



Newman v. Metrish, 543 F.3d 793, 796-97 (6th Cir. 2008) (quoting Johnson v. Coyle, 200 F.3d

987, 992 (6th Cir. 2000)).

LJnder Chandler, a substance of(ered for sale must contain "some detectable amount of

the relevant controlled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major drug offender

under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g)." Chandler at ¶21. By applying Chandler to the facts of Mr.

Garr's case, this Court worild adhere to the mandate that circumstantial evidence must present a

"permissible inference" of gnilt, as opposed to "mere speculation." Mr. Garr's few assertions

regarding the identity and aniount of the controlled substance could aptly be construed as efforts

to defraud the potential buyer, or to express to the buyer that a controlled substance could be

obtained, when it ultimately could not be obtainied. See, generally, State v. Mitchell, 7th Dist.

No. 08 JE 5, 2008-Ohio-6920, 2008 Ohio App. LEXIS 5869; State v. Elliott, 8th Dist. No.

86461, 2006-Ohio-1092, 2006 Ohio App. LEXIS 1006.

Moreover, as noted by Magistrate Judge Black:

Certainly, as the Ohio Court of Appeals found, there were conversations between
the parties about the quality and ainount of cocaine involved in the offer to sell
made by petitioner to the informant. However, the informant testified that he
"never saw [petitioner] with cocaine," and that although he believed petitioner
was bringing the cocaine to sell to the informant at their final meetnig, he did not
see any "dope or cocaine" in petitioner's black car where the parties met for
"roughly" 30 minutes in an attempt to work out logistical problems with the sale.
'I'he investigator, who was present conductitig surveillance at the scene, also
testified that he did not believe the cocaine was in the black car, but rather was
brought in another car parked at a nearby gas station. Tellingly, lie stated: "'That's
what my belief is. It's nothing more than a belief."

(Mar. 2, 2009, Report and Recommendation, at 22 n.10, attached) (citations omitted).

Magistrate Judge Black's concerns are well founded. Truc, the evidence addaced at Mr.

Garr's trial was suffcient to secure his conviction for a fifth-degree felony drug traflicking

offense. Ilowever, applying a ten-year mandatory sentence for Mr. Garr's offer-to-sell

13



conviction, absent sufficient evidence of a deteetable amormt of cocaine, camiot be justified in

light of Chandler.

Moreover, applying Clwndler to Mr. (iarr's case will promote sound public policy. The

majority in Chandler recognized that the statute's plain language expressed the General

Assembly's policy that the State must prove that a detectable amount of a controlled substance

is present before a court may impose the MDO penalty enhancement. Chandler at ¶18. This

legislative policy decision must prevail over any speculative concern that creative drug dealers

will create distance between themselves and their drugs. Indeed, while the legislature has an

entirely appropriate interest in punishing those who engage in the sale of illegal substances, it

also has a legitimate interest in setting the standards that the State must satisfy before a

substantially enhanced sentence may be imposed on those who qualify as MDOs. Under the

General Assembly's scheme, a person who merely offers to sell a controlled substance is guilty

of trafficking in drugs, R.C. 2925.03(A)(1), and is subject to being convicted for fifth-degree

felony drug trafficking. Chandler at ¶9 (citing Stale v. Patterson (1982), 69 Ohio St.2d 445, 23

0.O.3d 394, 432 N.R.2d 808). The Chandler decision reflected this Court's appreeiation of the

General Asseinbly's intention that in order for an individual to be subjected to enhanced

penalties, a detectable amotmt of the controlled substance must have been present in the

substance which was offered for sale. The application of Chandler to the facts of Mr. Garr's

case further acknowledges that in order for enhancad drug trafficking penalties to apply,

sufficient evidence, in the form of a detectable amount of a controlled substance, must be

proven by the State beyond a reasonable doubt.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed herein, this Court should answer the certified question in the

affirn-iative.

Respectfully submitted,

OFFICE OF TIIE OHIO PUBLIC DEFENDER

KRIST(SPHERA. HAINES #0080558
Assistant State Public Defender

250 East Broad Street, Suite 1400
Columbus, Ohio 43215
(614) 466-5394
(614) 752-5167 (Fax)
kristopher.haines@opd.ohio.gov

COUNSLL FOR PE1'ITIONF,R
OLIVER LUCIEN GARR
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRIC'I' OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

OLIVER LLJCIEN GARR,

Petitioner,

vs.

WARDEN, MADISON CORRECTIONAL
INSTITUTION,

Case Number: 1:08ev293

Chief Judge Susan J. Dlott

ORDER ON REPORT AND
RECOMMENDATION

Respondent.

This matter is before the Court pursuant to the Order of General Reference in the United

States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio Western Division to United States

Magistrate Judge Timothy S. Black. Pursuant to such reference, the Magistrate Judge reviewed

the pleadings and filed witli this Coui-t on March 2, 2009 a Report and Recommendation (doc.

14). Subsequently, Respondent filed objections to such Report and Recommendation (doe. 22).

The Court has reviewed the comprehensive findings of the Magistrate Judge and

considered de novo all of the filings in this matter. Upon consideration of the foregoing, the

Court deternunes that Respondent's objections are well-talcen and that the Magistrate Judge's

Recommendations should be modified in part and adopted as modified.

Respondent did not object to the Magistrate Judge's recommendation that a certified

question be presented to the Supreme Court of Ohio but suggested that the question be reframed.

The Court agrees, and it will certify a question to the state high court in one of the fonns

suggested by Respondent. Respondent objects to the Magistrate Judge's recommendation that it

be designated as the moving party with respect to the certified question, stating that Petitioner
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Garr should be designated as the moving party for three reasons: (1) Crarr is tiying to get his

conviction for a felony of the first degree vacated and reduced to a felony of the fifth degree and

is thus in a similar posture to a criminal defendant who comes bcfore the Supreme Court of' Ohio

appealing his conviction; (2) a habeas petitioner bears the burden of proof, and (3) it is practical

to designate the respondeut in this action as also the respondent before the Supreme Court of

Ohio. This objection is well taken.

Accordingly, the Court SUSTAINS Respondent's Objections to the Report and

Recommendation (doe. 22) and ADOPTS the Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendation

(doe. 14) as modified according to this Order. Consistent with the Magistrate Judge's

Recommendation, Respondent's motion to dismiss (doc. 6) is DENIED. It is further

ORDERI:D that this case is STAYED pending the Supreme Court of Ohio's consideration of

the following state law question, which will be CERTIFIED to the state supreme court to

answer in accordance with Rule XVIII of the Rules of Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio:

Whether the Supreine Court of Ohio's decision in State v.
Chandler, 109 Ohio St. 3d 223, 2006 Ohio 2285 (2006), as
described in the syllabus of the court, to wit: "[a] substance offered
for sale must contain sonle detectable amount of the relevant
controlled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major
drug oflender under R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4)(g)," extends to cases
where the substance offered for sale was never observed, tested, or
recovered to ascertain whether it contained a detectable amount of
the controlled substance, but no affirmative evidence was
presented to call into question the defendant's representation in his
offer to sell, or to refute the jury's factual finding, that the
substance was in fact a controlled substance in an amount that
equaled or exceeded 1000 grams.

2
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The Court will designate the Petitioner in this case as the moving party in the matter

certified to the Supreme Court of Qhio.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

s/Susan J. Dlott
Chief Judge Susan J. Dlott
tlnited States District Court

3
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

OLIVER LUCIEN GARR,

Petitioner,

V5.

WARDEN, MADISON CORRECTIONAL
INSTITUTION,

Case Number: 1:08cv293

Chief Judge Susan J. Dlott

CERTIFICAI'ION ORDER

Respondent.

Pursuant to the Rules of Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio Rule XVIII, the Court

hereby issues this Certification Order to be served upon all parties or their counsel of r-ecord and

filed with the Supreme Court of Ohio.

A. CASE NAME

Oliver Lucien Garr v. Warden, Madison Correctional Institution, U.S. District Court,

Southern District of Ohio, Case No. 1:08ev293.

B. STATEMENT OF'CI3E CASE

1. FACTS

Habeas Petitioner Oliver L. Garr alleges that the evidence introduced at his state court

trial was insalficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) he committed a first-degree-

felony instead of a fifth-degree-felony cocaine-trafficking offense under Ohio Revised Code

("O.R.C.") §g 2925.03(A)(I) and 2925.03(C)(4)(g) and that (2) a mandatoiy ten-year sentence

was required in this case under the major drug offense ("MDO") penalty provision set forth in

O.R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4)(g).

On April 7, 2006, the Hamilton Courrty, Ohio grand jury returned an indictment charging
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Petitioner witli one count of trafficking in cocaine "in an amount that equaled or exceeded 1000

gi-anis," in violation of O.R.C. § 2925.03(A)(1), and one couht of engaging in a pattern of

corrupt activity in violation of O.R.C. § 2923.32(A)(1). (Doe. 6, Ex. 1.) An MDO specification

was attached to the trafficking count. Pet.itioner's trial counsel filed a pretrial motion to dismiss

the MDO specification on the ground that there was no evidence of any "detectable amount of a

controlled substance." (Id., Ex. 2.) The motion was overruled and the matter proceeded to trial.

After a jury trial, Petitioner was found guilty on the trafficking charge and the attached MDO

specification and was sentenced to a ten year mandatory prison term. (Id., Ex. 5.)

Petitioner timely appealed to the Ohio Court of Appeals, raising two assigninents of

error.

1. "fhe trial court erred in denying defendant's motions to dismiss
the MDO specifications and for a verdict of acquittal on those
specifications [because the MDO specification was not supported

by sufficient evidence].

2. The trial court en"ed to defendant's prejudice in sentencing him
to a mandatory term of ten years [because the evidence was
insufficient to support an MDO conviction or sentence for a first-

degree-felony cocaine trafficking offense].

(Id., Ex. 6.) The Court of Appeals overruled the assignments of error and affirmed the trial

court's judgment.

In its decision, the state appellate court inade the following factual findings: that ditring a

sting operation, Petitioner told a police informant that lie would sell him two kilograms of

cocaine; that Petitioner and the informant tnet in a parking lot with the understanding that

Petitioner was to deliver the cocaine to the informant; that due to a disagreement over payment

the sale was not completed; that Petitioner never produced any cocaine; that Petitioner was not

2
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arrested until several months later; and that the state never rec,overed any substance offered for

sale in connection with these events. (Id., Ex. 8 at 2.)

Petitioner's counsel appealed to the Suprenie Court of Ohio, which denied Petitioner

leave to appeal and summarily dismissed the appeal as "5iot involving any substantial

constitutional question." (Id., Ex. 11.) Petitioner also filed various pro se pleadings challenging

his conviction and sentence, all of whicll were denied.

2. CIRCUMS'PANCES GIVING RISE TO TIIE QUESTION OF LAW

Petitioner asserts two grounds for relief in his petition for habeas corpus:

Ground One: The State of Ohio failed to present sufficient
evidence to the jury to prove that Mr. Garr was a Major Drug
Offender under Ohio law because no evidence was presented as to
the weight or identity of the drug involved in the Trafficking
Offense to which the Major Drug Offender Attached.

Ground Two: Under Ohio law, an Offer to Sale is a felony of the
Fifth-Degree only punishable by 6-12 months, if the State of Ohio
cannotprove beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance actually
contained/involved a mixture of identifiable aniount of cocaine
exceeding the weight limits provided under Ohio ... law for a

more serious offense.

(Doe. 1 at 6, 8.)

The constitutional question to be resolved by the federal habeas court is wliether the

evidence presented at Petitioner's trial was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the

eleinents of the offense and penalty as defined by state law. At the sentencing hearing,

Petitioner's trial counsel argued that under the Supreme Court of Ohio's recent decision in State

v. Chandler, 109 Ohio St. 3d 223, 2006 Ohio 2285, 846 N.E.2d 1234 (2006), Petitioner could not

be found guilty of the MDO specification because "there were no detectible amounts of a

controlled substance liere." (Doc. 13, 'Tr. 904.) The trial coui-t proceeded to impose a
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"mandatory miniinum 10-year prison sentence," apparently because Petitioner was convicted of

a first-degree felony offense involving an "offer to sell kilos of cocaine_" (Id., Tr. 906-07, 915_)

However, the trial court refused to impose an additional prison term on the MDO specification

given its interpretation of Chandler as specifically prohibiting an added MDO term based on the

facts presented to the jury. (Id., Tr. 915-16)

In Chandler, the Supreme Court of Ohio considered "whether a person can be subject to

the special penalty statute applicable to a major drug offender for a first-degree felony di-ug

conviction when the substance offered as crack cocaine contains no detectable amount of the

drug." 109 Ohio St. 3d at 224, 846 N.E.2d at 1235. The defendant in Chandler had been

charged under O.R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4)(g), which provides that when the anzount of the drug

involved equals or exceeds one thousand grams of cocaine that is not crack cocaine or equals or

exceeds one hundred grams of crack cocaine, "the offender is a major drug offender, and the

com-t shall impose as a mandatory prison term the maximum prison term prescribed for a felony

of the first degree and may impose an additional mandatory prison term prescribed for a major

drug offender. ..." In that case, the jury found that the amount of the drug equaled or exceeded

100 grains of crack cocaine. However, this finding was contrary to fact because the substance

involved was 130.87 grams of baking soda. Id. at 227, 846 N.E.2d at 1238.

On appeal, the Supreme Court of Ohio upheld Chandler's trafficking conviction because

"a person can be convicted for offering to sell a controlled substance in violation of R.C.

2925.03(A)(1) without actually transferring a controlled substance to the buyer." Id. at 226, 846

N.E.2d at 1236-37. However, the court found that O.R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4), the penalty provision

relating to cocaine trafFicking, did not apply when the substance offered as crack cocaine did not

4
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actually contain any detectable amount of the drug. According to the court, O.R.C. §

2925.03(C)(4) "presumes that a detectable amount of cocaine is present within the substance

before the penalty enhancement applies." Id. at 228, 846 N.E.2d at 1238-39. Because the

substance the defendant offered for sale was baking soda, and thus did not contain a detectable

amount of cocaine, the Chandler court held that the defendant could not be sentenced as a major

drug offender under O.R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4)(g). Id.

Petitioner in this case relied on Chandler in his state direct appeal proceedings,

contending that because the sulistance offered for sale to the informant was never recovered, the

evidenee was insufficient to establish that a detectable amount of cocaine was present within that

substance for the purposes of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt Petitioner's guilt of a first-

degree felony (as opposed to a fifth-degree felony) and automatic classification as a major drug

offender under O.R.C. § 2925.03(C)(4)(g). (Doc. 6, Exs. 6, 9.) The First District Court of

Appeals apparently conceded that the standards enunciated in Chandler governed the disposition

of the sufficiency-of-evidence issue, acknowledging that the substance offered for sale was never

recovered and thus eould not be tested to determine if it contained a detectable amount of

cocaine. State v. Garr, Appeal No. C-060794, at ^ 4 (Ohio Ct. App. I Dist. July 6, 2007) (Doe.

6, Ex. 8). However, the appellate court distinguished Chandler based on circumstantial evidence

presented at trial, concluding that statements made during conversations between Petitioner and

the informant about the quality and amount of cocaine to be sold was sufficient to support the

reasonable inference that the substance offcred actually was cocaine. Id. ¶¶ 6-7.

5
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Another Ohio appellate court came to the opposite conclusion in its interpretation of

Chandler. ]n State v. Mitchell, No. 08 JE 5, 2008 WL 5412414, at *5 (Ohio Ct. App. 7 Dist.

Dec. 16, 2008), the court upheld a trafficking conviction but found that there was ittsufficient

evidence to support the defendant's enhanced penalty for offering to sell OxyContin in an

amount that exceeded the bulk amount when there was no OxyContin recovered. According to

the 1Llitchell court, Chandler stands for the proposition that the penalty enhancement provisions

of the drug trafficking statute cannot be used where there is no detectable trace of the alleged

substance. In reversing the defendant's conviction under the penalty enhancement, the Seventh

District Court of Appeals refused to distinguish Chandler as the First District Court of Appeals

had done in this case, finding "that there is no valid reason for us to distinguish appellant's offer

to sell OxyContin resulting in no sale and Chandler's offer to sell crack cocaine resulting in the

sale of baking soda." Id. at *5. Thus, there is a conflict among Ohio's appellate courts as to the

proper interpretation of Chandler and whether a defendant is subject to the increased penalties of

the drug trai'ficking statute based on the amount of the drugs offered for sale when no drugs are

recovered and/or tested.

The standard of review established by the Supreme Court in .Tackson v. Virginia, 443

U.S. 307 (1979), governs the resolution of the constitutional sufficiency-of-evidence claims

raised in the instant petition for writ of habeas corpus. Under this standard, "the relevant

question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution,

anp rational trier of fact could have found the essential etements of the crime beyond a

reasonable doubt." Id. at 319 (emphasis in original). Federal habeas courts generally are bound

by the state court's interpretation of state law that was "announced on direct appeal of the

6
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challenged conviction." Bradshaw v. Richey, 546 U.S. 74, 76 (2005) (citations omitted).

However, the highest court of the state is the final arbiter of the state-law issue. West v.

American Telephone & Telegraph Co. 311 U.S. 223, 236 (1940). As Magistrate Judge Black

observed in this case,

[t]he parties have not cited, nor could the undersigned find, any
state supreme court case addressing the specific issues that have

arisen in applying Chandler to the unique factual circumstances of

this case - i.e., whether Chandler is limited to cases where
evidence has been presentcd demonstrating that the substance
offered for sale was counterfeit, unavailable for sale, or otherwise
laeking a detectable amount of cocaine as represented by the

defendant; or whether Chandler can otherwise be reasonably

distinguished from thc instant case, where it is undisputed that the
substance was never observed or recovered and petitioner's guilt
under the enhanced penalty provision can be inferred only from
statements made by defendant in setting up the sales transaction
with the informant regarding the quality and amount of cocaine

involved in the proposed sale.

(Doc. 14 at 18.)

The Magistrate Judge further explained:

The issues posed in the instant case are troubling. It appearsfrom
the record that both the trial court and the Ohio Court of Appeals

were persuaded that Chandler applied to petitioner's case.

Specifically, it appears that the trial court determined that because
no cocaine was ever observed or recovered, Chandler applied to

preclude any enhancement of petitioner's sentence on the MDO
specification. I-lowever, the court apparently did not recognize the

extent of the Chandler holding as prohibiting not only an "add-on"
sentence based on petitioner's classification as a major drug
offender, but also petitioner's conviction and sentence to a
mandatory minimum ten-year term for a first-degree-felony

cocaine-trafficking offense under Ohio Rev. Code §

2925.03(C)(4)(g).

In contrast, apparently realizing that petitioner's conviction and
mandatory ten-year sentence were also subject to reversal under
the trial court's interpretation of Chandler, the Ohio Court of

7
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Appeals determined that thefaats of this case were sufficienfly

distinguishable frorn Chandler to constitute circumstantial

evidence suffieient to support the reasonable inferenee that the
substance offered for sale to the inf'ormant actually was cocaine.

(Id. at 21.)

Furthermore, "[i]f the Ohio Court of Appeals had directly addressed and answered the

unresolved state-law question posed herein in the State's favor, by holding as a matter of law

that Chandler is distinguishable from and thus inapplicable to the case-at-hand, this Court would

have been bound by the state court's determination upholding the petitioner's conviction and

sentence on that state-law ground." (Id. at 23.)

To summarize, there remains an unresolved state-law question in this case which may

moot the Court's consideration of the extremely close, fact-based sufficiency-of-evidence cla$n

open to review under Jackson based on Chandler. Accordingly, this Court certifies the

following question of law to be answered by the Suprenie Court of Ohio.

3. THF. QUESTlON OF LAW TO BE ANSWERED

The question of law to be answered by the Supreme Court of Ohio is as follows:

Whether the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v.

Chandler, 109 Ohio St. 3d 223, 2006 Ohio 2285 (2006), as
described in the syllabus of the court, to wit: "[a] substance offered
for sale must contain some detectable amount of the relevant
controlled substance before a person can be sentenced as a major
drug offender under Ohio Revised Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g),"
extends to cases where the substance offered for sale was never
observed, tested, or recovered to ascertain whether it contained a
detectable amount of the controlled substance, but no affirmative
evidence was presernted to call into question the defendant's
representation in his offer to sell, or to refute the jury's factual
finding, that the substance was in fact a eontrolled substance in an

amount that equaled or exceeded 1000 grains.

8
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C. NAMES OF THE PARTIES

Petitioner: Oliver Lucien Garr

Respondent: Warden, Madison Correctional Institution

D. COUNSEL FOR EACH PARTY

Petitioner's Counsel:
Kristopher A. Haines
Office of the Ohio Public Defender
8 East Long Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215

614-466-5394

kristopher.haines@opd.ohio.gov

Petitioner:
Oliver L. Garr
#A535-073
Dayton Correctional Institution
4104 Germantown Road
Dayton, Ohio 45417

Respondent's Counsel:

W illiam H. Lamb
Ohio Assistant Attorney General
1600 Carew "I'ower
441 Vine Street
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202
513-852-3497
william.lamb@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

E. DESIGNATION OF THE MOVING PARTY

Petitioner is the moving par'ty.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

s/Susan J. Dlott
Chief 7udge Susan J. Dlott
United States District Court
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WES'I'ERN DIVISION

Oliver Lucien Garr,
Petitioner,

vs. Case No. 1:08cv293
(Dlott, C.J.; Black, M.J.)

Warden, Madison Correctional
Institution,

Respondent.

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

Petitiouer, an inmate in state custody at the Madison Correctional Institution
in London, Ohio, has filed a pro se petition for writ of habeas corpus pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 2254. This matter is before the Court on respondent's motion to
disnliss and petitioner's "traverse" in response to the motion to dismiss, as
suppleinented. (Docs. 6, 9, 10).'

On April 7, 2006, the Hamilton County, Ohio, grand jury returned an
indictment charging petitioner with one count of trafficking in cocaine "in an
amount that equaled or exceeded 1000 grams," in violation of Ohio Rev. Code
§ 2925.03(A) (1), and one count of engaging in a pattern of corrupt activity in
violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 2923.32(A)(1). (Doc. 6, Ex. 1). A major drug
offender ("MDO") specification was attached to the trafficking count. (Id.).

' By separate Order issued this date, the Court has granted respondent leave to supple-
ment his "traverse" in opposition to the motion to dismiss "with relevant case authorities." (See
Doc. 10). In addition, at the request of a clerk of the Court, respondent has filed a copy of the
trial transcript for the Court's consideration in deciding whether or not to grant the motion to

dismiss. (See Doc. 13).
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Petitioner's trial counsel filed a pretrial motion to dismiss the MDO
specification attached to the trafficking count on the ground that there was no
evidence of any "detectable amount of a controlled substance." (See id., Ex. 2).
The motion was overruled on July 19, 2006, and the matter proceeded to trial. (Id.,

Ex. 3).

After a jury trial, petitioner was found guilty on the trafficking charge and
attached MDO specification, but was acquitted of engaging in a pattern of corrupt
activity.2 (See id., Ex. 4). On September 13, 2006, petitioner was sentenced to a
ten year mandatory prison term. (Id., Ex. 5).

With the assistance of counsel who represented petitioner at sentencing,'
petitioner timely appealed to the Ohio Court of Appeals, First Appellate District,
raising two assignments of error:

1. The trial court erred in denying defenda.nt's motions to dismiss the
MDO specifications and for a verdict of acquittal on those
specifications [because the MDO specification was not supported by
sufficient evidence].

2. The trial court erred to defendant's prejudice in sentencing him to a
mandatory term of ten years [because the evidence was insufficient to
support an MDO conviction or sentence for a first-degree-felony
cocaine trafficking offense].

(See id, Ex. 6).

On July 6, 2007, the Court of Appeals overruled the assignments of error
and affirmed the trial court's judgment. (Id., Ex. 8). In its decision, the state
appellate court made the following factual findings, which are presumed correct

' It appears fi•om the trial transcript that petitioner was also tried in the joint trial on
cocaine possession, trafficking and conspiracy charges contained in a separate indictment
returned in 2005. (See Doe. 13). Petitioner was acquitted of those charges. (Id., Tr. 891-92).

' As petit.ioner has indicated in the petition, he was represented by different counsel at
trial; Elizabeth Agar, wlio represented petitioner in the direct review proceedings, first appeared
as petitioner's counsel at sentencing. (See Doc. 1, p. 14, ¶16).

2
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under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1),4 regarding the incident resulting in petitioner's

conviction and sentence:

The facts of this case are largely undisputed. During a sting
operation, Garr told police informant Robert Carr that he would sell
him two kilograms of cocaine for $42,000. At trial, the state played a
series of recorded conversations between Garr and Carr detailing the
terms of this transaction, which included two discussions about the
quality of the cocaine. Carr and Garr eventually met in a restaurant
parking lot with the understanding that Garr was to deliver the cocaine
to Carr, and that Carr would pay him for it later. But due to a
disagreement over payment, the sale was not completed, and Garr
never produced any cocaine. Police monitoring the scene allowed
Garr to leave without incident. Garr was not arrested until several
months later, and the state never recovered any substance offered for
sale in coimection with these events.

(Id., p. 2).

Petitioner's counsel timely appealed to the Supreme Court of Ohio. (See id.,

Ex. 9). On October 31, 2007, the state supreme court denied petitioner leave to
appeal and summarily dismissed the appeal "as not involving any substantial

constitutional question." (Id., Ex. 11).s

In the meantime, while his appeal was pending before the state supreme
court from the Ohio Court of Appeals' direct appeal decision, petitioner filed

various pro se pleadings challenging his conviction and sentence.

4 Specifically, 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1) provides that "[fln a proceeding instituted by an
application for a writ of habeas corpus by a person in custody pursuant to the judgment of a State
court, a determination of a factual issue made by a State court shall be presumed correct" unless
petitioner rebuts the presumption by "clear and convincing evidence." Petitioner has neitlier
cited nor presented any evidence to rebut the Ohio Court of Appeals' factual findings quoted

herein. Therefore, he has not shown that such findings are erroneous.

s It is noted that on October 9 and 11, 2007, while the appeal filed by counsel was still

penditig before the state supreme court, petitioner filed pro se motions to certify conflict with the

Ohio Court of Appeals, First Appellate District. (See Doc. 6, Exs. 20-21). Specifically,

petitioner argued that the Court of Appeals' direct appeal decision was "in conflict with ... Fifth

and Eighth Appellate District decisions." (Id.). On October 31, 2007, the Court of Appeals

sununarily denied these inotions, which it found were "not well taken." (Id., Ex. 26).

3
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First, on August 6, 2007, petitioner filed apro se application pursuant to

Ohio R. App. P. 26(B) for reopening of the appeal with the Ohio Court of Appeals,

First Appellate District. (Id., Ex. 12). Petitioner alleged in the application that his
appellate counsel was ineffeetive "for neglecting to raise an abuse of discretion
claim within the original appellate brief." (Id.). On November 9, 2007, the Ohio

Court of Appeals denied petitioner's application to reopen the appeal. (Id., Ex.

15). Respondent states that petitioner did not pursue an appeal from this decision

to the Supreme Court of Ohio. (Id., Brief, p. 5).

Second, on September 7, 2007, petitioner filed a pro se petition for post-

conviction relief with the Hamilton County Common Pleas Court. (Id., Ex. 16). In

the petition, petitioner alleged new claims that had not been raised on direct appeal
of (1) prosecutorial niisconduct; (2) ineffective assistance by trial counsel; (3) trial
court error in failing to give a lesser-included-offense jury instruction; and (4) the
denial of a fair trial under the "cumulative effect doctrine." (Id.). On September

28, 2007, the Common Pleas Court denied the petition as "untimely and not well

taken." (Id., Ex. 18).

Finally, on October 23, 2007, petitioner filed apro se motion "to vacate

voidable sentence[,] Civil Rule 60(B)" with the Hamilton County Common Pleas

Coui1:. (Id., Ex. 22). Petitioner essentially alleged in this motion that his sentence
was improperly enhanced "based upon factors determined by the judge" rather than
the jury, in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights as recognized by the Supreme

Cotirt in Apprendi v. New.Iersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), Blakely v. Washington, 542

U.S. 296 (2004), and United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005). (Id.).

On November 1, 2007, the Common Pleas Court denied petitioner's motion
to vacate sentence, reasoning in relevant part as follows:

Attached to this entry is a copy of the juty's guilty verdict. The jury
did make a specific finding of fact [that] the defendant offered to sell
cocaine in an amount that DID (emphasis supplied) eqaal or exceed

1000 grams.

Defendant's attention is ft?rther directed to R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g)

which states in pertinent part as follows:

"lfthe amount of the drug vivolved equals or exceeds
one thousand grams of cocaine ..., trafficking in cocaine

4
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is a felony of the first degree, the offender is a major drug
offender, and the court SHALL impose as a mandatory
prison term the maximum prison term prescribed for a
felony of the first degree. .."

It is hornbook law [that] ten years is the maximum period of
confinenlent in the Department of Corrections for a felony of the first

degree.

Additionally, this ten year mandatory sentence the tr[ia]1 court
imposed was specifically addressed by the Court of Appeals and that
appellate court affirmed the sentence oPthe trial court.

(Id., Ex. 27).

Petitioner filed the instant federal habeas corpus petition in April 2008. (See

Doe. 1). I-Ie asserts two grounds for relief, which essentially are the sazne claims
that he raised in the state direct review proceedings:

Ground One: The State of Ohio failed to present sufficient evidence
to the jury to prove that Mr. Garr was a Major Drug Offender under
Oluo law because no evidence was presented as to the weight or
identity of the drug involved in the Trafficking Offense to which the
Major Drug Offender attached.

Ground Two: Under Ohio law, an Offer to Sale is a felony of the
Fifth-Degree only punishable by 6-12 months, if the State of Ohio
cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance actually
contained/involved a mixture of identifiable amount of cocaine
exceeding the weight limits provided under Ohio ... law for a more

serious offense.

(Id., pp. 6, 8).

In response to the petition, respondent has filed a motion to dismiss. (Doc.
6). Respondent contends that petitioner's claims for habeas relief "are not
cognizable because both grounds related to a state law question interpreting a state

statute." (Id., p. 8).

5
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Petitioner opposes the motion to dismiss. (Doc. 9). Ile argues that he has
raised claims of a "direct violation of federal due process" because "the State of
Ohio failed to prove all essential charging elements," specifically, the element
necessary to establish the enhanced penalty for an "offer to sell more than and/or
equal to 1000 grams of cocaine ... as a felony of the first-degree." (Id., p. 2). In

support of this argumetit, petitioner has separately submitted a decision by the
Ohio Court of Appeals, Eighth Appellate District, which he contends casts doubt
on the decision rendered in this case by the Ohio Court of Appeals, First Appellate
District. (Doc. 10, Appendix A).

Respondent's Motion To Dismiss Should Be Denied; And
The Critical Unresolved State-Law Question - Whether State v. ChaFZrller, 846

N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio 2006), Applies To This Case - Should Be Certified To
The Supreme Court Of Ohio

In the two grounds for relief alleged in the petition, petitioner essentially
contends the evidence introduced at his trial was insufficient to establish beyond a
reasonable doubt that (1) lie committed a first-degree-felony instead of a fifth-
degree-felony cocaine-trafficking offense under Ohio Rev. Code §§ 2925.03(A)(1)
and 2925.03(C)(4)(g); and (2) a mandatory ten-year sentence was required in this
case under the MDO-penalty provision set forth in Ohio Rev. Code
§ 2925.03(C)(4)(g) based on the jury's determination that petitioner was guilty of a
first-degree-felony by offering to sell cocaine in an amount equal to or exceeding
1000 grams. (Doc. 1, pp. 6, 8; see also Doc. 6, Ex. 4).

As an initial matter, contrary to respondent's contention in the motion to
dismiss, petitioner has asserted cognizable constitutional claims. Specifically,
petitioner has alleged that his rights under the Fourteenth An7endment's Due
Process Clause were violated because the State failed to meet its burden of proving
beyond a reasonable doubt every fact necessary to convict and sentence him for a
first-degree-felony cocaine-trafficlcing offense under Ohio Rev. Code
§ 2925.03(C)(4)(g), based on the identity and anlount of the substance involved in

the crime. See In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 363-64 (1970); see also State v.

Chandler, 846 N.E.2d 1234, 1236-37 (Ohio 2006).

As respondent points out (Doc. 6, Brief, pp. 13-14), the federal habeas court

6
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niust accept the Ohio courts' interpretation of the state statutory provisions under

which petitioner was convicted and sentenced. See Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S.

62, 67-68 (1991) ("it is not the province of a federal court to reexamine state-court
determinations on state-law questions"). However, the ultimate question whether
the evidence presented was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the
elements of the offense and penalty as defined by state-law are of constitutional
dimension and thus within the federal habeas court's authority to address. See

Sanford v. Yukins, 288 F.3d 855, 860 (6" Cir.), c•ert. denied, 537 U.S. 980 (2002).

The standard of review established by the Suprenie Com-t in Jackson v.

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979), governs the resolution of the constitutiona.l
sufficiency-of-evidence claims raised in the instant petition for writ of habeas

corpus.

Under this standard, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact

could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319 (emphasis in original). "fhe inquiry does not involve
consideration of tlte propriety of the jury instructions; indeed, the Supreme Court
has noted that the matter is "wholly unrelated to the question of how rationally the
verdict was actually reached," and thus does "not require scrutiny of the reasoning
process actually used by the factfinder-if known." See icr' at 318 & 319 n.13.e

In assessing whether the evidence of guilt satisfies due process under the

Jackson standard, the State is not required to rule out every hypothesis except that

' Cf. United States v. Castano, 543 F.3d 826, 835-36 (6" Cir. 2008) (in case involving

errors in the verdict foirn and jury instructions, the Sixth Circuit cited United States v. Lowe, 172

Fed.Appx. 91, 94 (6' Cir. 2006) (not published in Federal Reporter), in support of its liolding
that although the evidence may "well have been sufiicient to convict ..., the errors and
confusion that pervaded [the] trial `deprived the jury of the opportunity to come to that

verdict"'); see also United States v. Korey, 472 F.3d 89, 94-96 (3" Cir. 2007) (recognizing that

"there is an important difference between considerations of the sufficiency of evidence and
propriety ofjury instruetions," the circuit court held that due process was denied when erroneous
jury instructions were given which relieved the government of proving "beyond a reasonable
doubt that there was a shared goal-a vital aspect of conspiracy" despite "ample evidence" that
the defendant shared a common goal to advance the cocaine-trafficking scheme). llere,
petitioner has never alleged a denial of due process due to error in the jury instructions; it
appears that at this late juncture, any such claiin would be dismissed as waived.

7
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of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 326. Rather, "a federal habeas corpus
court faced with a record of historical facts that supports conflicting inferences
must presume - even if it does not affirmatively appear in the record - that the
trier of fact resolved any such conflicts in favor of the prosecution, and must defer

to that resolution." Id.; see also Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959, 969-70 (6t' Cir.),

cert denied, 464 U.S. 951, 962 (1983). Consequently, the reviewing court is not
perrnitted to make its own subjective determination of guilt or innocence or
otherwise substitute its opinion for that of the trier of fact which convicted the

petitioner. Jackson 443 U.S. at 318-19 & n.13; see also York v. Tate, 858 F.2d

322, 329 (6"' Cir. 1988) (per curiam), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1049 (1989).

Moreover, the Jackson standard "must be applied with explicit reference to

the substantive elements of the criminal offense as defined by state law." Jackson,

443 U.S. at 324 n. 16 (emphasis added); see also Sanford, 288 F.3d at 860. In

Sanford, the Sixth Circuit discussed the difficulty inherent in distinguishing "pure
sufficiency claims from state law claims disguised as Jackson claims:"

Jackson establishes that states must act on the basis of sufficient
evidence. The principle seems unproblematic.... Implementing

Jackson is not so easy as stating its principle, however. Judgments
represent the application of law to fact. Bvidence can be
"insufficient" only in relation to a rule of law requiring more or
different evidence. When a state court enters or affirms a conviction,
it is saying that the evidence satisfies the legal norms. These norms
are for the state to select. State law means what the state courts say it
mcans. A claim that the state court misunderstood the substantive
rcquirements of state law does not present a claim under § 2254....
The difference between unreviewable legal interpretations and factual

claims open under Jackson establishes a formidable problem of

implementation.

Sanford, 288 F.3d at 860 (quoting Bates v. McCaugTetry, 934 F.2d 99, 102 (7'h

Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 915 (1991)).

The Sixth Circuit proceeded to lay out different scenarios discussed in Bates

wherein a defendant may assert the evidence is insufficient to support his

conviction. Id. at 860-6 1. Two of these scenarios involve the state courts' legal
interpretations of state law, which are not subj ect to review by way of a back-door
sufficiency-of-evidence challenge under Jackson:

8
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(1) Defendant believes that the combination of elements X, Y, and Z
is an offense. The court disagrees, holding that the state need prove
only X and Y. After a trial at which the proseeution introduces no
evidence of Z, the court convicts the defendant.

(2) State law defines the combination of elements X, Y, and Z as
criminal. Defendant believes that element Z can be satisfied only if
the state establishes fact Z', but the state court disagrees. After a trial
at which the prosecution introduces some evidence of Z but does not
establish Z', the court convicts the defendant.

Id.

On the otller band, the following scenario presents a fact-based claim that is

open to review under Jackson:

State law defines the combination of elenients X, Y, and Z as
criminal.... The prosecutor and the state courts concede that X, Y, and
Z are elements of the crime and agree with the defendant on their
meaning. Defendant contends that there is no basis on which the trier
of fact could find Z. The state court disagrees and convicts.

Id.

In this case, petitioner was convicted as charged in the indictment of offering
to sell cocaine "in an amount that equaled or exceeded 1000 grams" iti violation of

Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(A)(1). (See Doe. 6, Exs. 1, 4, 5; Doe. 13, Tr. 892). In
addition, the jury explicitly found that petitioner offered to sell cocaine in an
amount that "did equal or exceed 1000 grains."' (Doc. 6, Ex. 4; Doc. 13, Tr. 892).

At the sentencing hearing, petitioner's trial counsel argued that under the

Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v. Chandler•, 846 N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio

' It appears from the record that the trial court did not instruct the jury about any

requirements or factors to be considered in making this finding. (See Doc. 13, Tr. 825-63). The

jury was instructed only as follows in considering the element oi' an "offer to sell" for purposes
of establishing petitioner's guilt for trafficking under Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(A)(1): "fhe
State need not prove that the controtled substance was actually transferred or that a controlled
substance actually exists to be transfen-ed. The offer to sell is sufficient." (Id., Tr. 846).

9
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2006), petitioner could not be found guilty of the MDO specification because
"there were no detectible amounts of a controlled substance here." (Doe. 13, Tr.
904). Counsel further contended in pertinent part:

And failing [the MDO specification], we are left with a felony of the
first degree, which is what the jury found him guilty of... I am

satisfied under Chandler that the Court couldn't impose any n7ore
than 10 years.... The Supreme Court has spoken very clearly on that

issue.

And I would ask your Honor to consider something less than the 10
years and something along the lines of a minimum sentence for a
felony of the first degree, in view of the fact that there are no
controlled substances at all involved here and his lack of prior adult
criminal history and his stability in the community.

(Id., Tr. 904-05).

At that point, the trial judge asked defense counsel whether petitioner was
nevertheless subject to a"mandatory 10 years" in prison based on the jury's
finding that petitioner had "offered to sell more than a kilo of cocaine;" counsel

responded: "Well, under Chandler I ain not sure," and "I don't want to concede

that." (Id., Tr. 905-06). Counsel continued:

My position is since Chandler - if there is no MDO then it defaults to
an F1, a straight F1 where the sentence range would be from 3 to 10....
[T]hat it is a mandatory ... sentence of 10 years. I don't want to
concede that. I would like the Court of Appeals to take a look at that

issue.

(Id., Tr. 906).

The prosecutor counter-argued:

['T]his is a 10-year mandatory. Offer to sell over 1000 grams is a 10-

year mandatory.

The State's position is that the Chandler case doesn't apply here and
that the specs, the MDO specs, still apply. And the reasoning behind

10
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that is that the... Supreme Court kept an offer to sell as a violation of

its ovtm.

(Id., Tr. 911). The prosecutor conceded in response to questions posed by the trial

judge that "the Chandler case leaves more questions than answers," but that "it is

still a major Fl, mandatory 10." (Id., Tr. 912-13).

After hearing counsel's arguments, the trial court proceeded to impose a
"mandatory minimum 10-year prison sentence," apparently because petitioner was
convicted of a first-degree-felony offense involving an "offer to sell kilos of

cocaine." (See id., Tr. 906-07, 915). However, the court refused to impose an
additional prison term on the MDO specification given its interpretation of

Chandler as specifically prohibiting ai1 added RMDO term based on the facts

presented to the jury. (Id, Tr. 915-16).

In Chandler, 846 N.E.2d at 1235, the Supreme Court of Ohio considered the

issue raised in consolidated appeals "wllether an person can be subject to the
special penalty statute applicable to a nlajor drug offender for a first-degree felony
[cocaine trafficking] conviction when the substance offered ... contains no
detectable anlount of the drug." In that case, the court upheld the defendants'
traffieking convictions, because "a person can be convicted for offering to sell a
controlled substance in violation of R.C. 2925.03(A)(1) without actually
transferring a controlled substance to the buyer." Id. at 1236-37 (citing State v_

Patterson, 432 N.E.2d 802, syllabus (Ohio 1982)). However, the court held that
the crucial question renlained whether "R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g), the specific section
relating to major-drug-offender penalties, provides a penalty for offering to sell ...
cocaine when the substance offered as ... cocaine does not actually contain any

detectable amount of the drug." Id. at 1237.

The court addressed this question in pertinent part as follows:

The penalty provision that relates to drug trafficking cases, RC.
2925.03(C)(4), states at the outset: "If the drug involved in the

violation is cocaine or a con2pouna; mixture, preparation, or

substanee containing cocaine, whoever violates division (A) of this

section is guilty of trafficking in cocaine. The penalty for the offense
shall be determined as follows [setting forth the various penalties]."

(Emphasis added.)

11
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Unless other specific poi-tions of the section apply, trafficking in
cocaine is a fifth-degree felony, and there is no presumption for a
prison term. R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a). The penalty is raised one degree
"if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the
vicinity of ajuvenile." R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(b), (c), (d), and (e). If the
amoimt of the drug involved "equals or exceeds five grams but is less
than ten grams of cocaine that is not crack cocaine ... or equals or
exceeds one gram but is less than five grams of crack cocaine,"
trafficking in cocaine is a fourth-degree felony, and there is a
presumption of a prison term. R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(c). If the amount
is ten grams or more but less than 100 grams of powder cocaine (or
five grams or more but less than ten grams of crack cocaine), the
offense is a third-degree felony with a mandatory prison term. R.C.
2925.03(C)(4)(d). If the amount is 100 grams or more but less than
500 grams of powder cocaine (or ten grams or more but less than 25
grams of crack cocaine), the offense is a second-degree felony with a
mandatory prison term. R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(e).

If the amount is 500 grams or more but less than 1,000 grams of
powder cocaine (or 25 grams or more but less than 100 grams of crack
cocaine), the offense is a first-degree felony, and the court shall
impose a mandatory prison term. R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(f).

The penalty section at issue here, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g), states: "If
the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds one thousand
grams of cocaine that is not crack cocaine or equals or exceeds one
hundred grams of crack cocaine and regardless of whether the offense
was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a
juvenile, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the first degree, the

offender is a major drug offender, and the court shall impose as a
mandatory prison term the maximum prison terni prescribed as a
felony of the ftrst degree and may impose an additional mandatory

prison terin prescribed for a major drug offender under division
(D)(3)(b) of section 2929.14 of the Revised Code." Thus, this section
provides a specific penalty enhancement.

'The appellees were charged with violating R.C. 2925.03(A)(1), and
the court of appeals properly held that the state was required to prove
the identity of the substance as well as a detectable amount of that

12



Case 1:08-cv-00293-SJD-TSB Document 14 Filed 03/02/09 Page 13 of 27

substance, not for conviction, but to impose the penalty enhancement
of R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g). The jury's finding that the amount of the
drug equaled or exceeded 100 grams of crack cocaine was contrary to
fact, for the substance involved was 130.87 grams of baking soda.

The major-drug-offender penalty that is referred to in R.C.
2925.03(C)(4)(g) is found in R.C. 2929.14(D)(3) and contains two
parts. Subsection (a) states that if the offender violates R.C. 2925.03
and is classified as a major drug offender, "tlle court shall impose ***
a ten-year prison term" that may not be reduced by judicial release.
The second part, R.C. 2929.14(D)(3)(b), provides, "The court
imposing a prison term on an offender under division (D)(3)(a) of this
section may impose an additional prison term of one, two, three, four,
five, six, seven, eight, nine, or ten years" under certain conditions. In

State v. Foster, ... 845 N.E.2d 470 [(2006)], we held that R.C.
2929.14(D)(3)(b) is unconstitutional ... because it required judicial
factfinding before an additional ten years of prison could be
imposed.... We severed R.C. 2929.14(D)(3)(b) to remedy the
constitutional violation.... As the statute now stands, a major drug
offender still faces the inandatory maximum ten-year sentence that the
judge must impose and nlay not reduce. Only the add-on that had
required judicial fact-finding has been severed....

The General Assembly has authorized a hierarchy of criminal
penalties for drug trafficking based upon the identity aud amount of
the cotitrolled substance involved. By the terms of the penalty statute
for cocaine, R.C. 2925.03(C)(4), the substance involved in the

violation is to be cocaine, or, at the very least, "a compound, mixture,

preparation, or substance containing cocaine." (Emphasis added).
This language presumes that a detectable amount of cocaine is present
within the substance before the penalty enhancement applies.

Chandler, 846 N.E.2d at 1237-38.

Pursuant to this reasoning, the Chandler court held that because the

substance offered for sale was baking soda, and thus did not eontain a detectable
amount of cocaine, the defendants could not be sentenced under Ohio Rev. Code

§ 2925.03(C)(4)(g). Id. at 123 8-39. The court further affirmed the judgments of
the lower courts of appeals, which had not only vacated both the mandatory and
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add-on sentences imposed under Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g), but also the
defendants' underlying trafficking convictions based on the State's failure "to
prove an essential element of the offense." See State v. Chandler, 813 N.E.2d 65,

69, 75-76 (Ohio Ct. App. 5 Dist. 2004) (holding that "in order to sustain a
conviction pursuant to R.C. 2925.03(A) and (C)(4)(g)," the state must not only
prove "a sale or offer to sell a controllcd substance" but also "the identity of the
controlled substance and a detectable amount of that substance"); State v. 131edsoe,

No. 2003CA00403, 2004 WL 2002855, at *24 (Ohio Ct. App. 5 Dist. Sept. 7,

2004) (unpublished).

ln the state direct review proceedings, petitioner relied on Chandler in

challenging both his conviction for a first-degree-felony cocaine-trafficking
offense and mandatory ten-year sentence under Ohio Rev. Code
§ 2925.03(C)(4)(g); essentially, he contended that because the substance offered
for sale to the informant was never recovered, the evidence was insufficient to
establish that a detectable amount of cocaine was present within that substance for
purposes of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt petitioner's guilt of a first-
degree felony (as opposed to a fifth-degree felony) and automatic classification as
a major drug offender under § 2925.03(C)(4)(g). (See Doc. 6, Exs. 6, 9).

The Ohio Court of Appeals, which was the last state court to issue a
reasoned decision addressing the merits of these clainls, overruled petitioner's
assignments of eiror; the eourt made factual findings, which are presumed correct
under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(a)(1),$ and reasoned in relevant part as follows:

....Garr's assignments of error turn on his contention that the state
could not establish the weight or identity of the substance he had
offered for sale wit.hout recovering and testing it. Absent this
evidence, Garr argues, the state could not prove the MDO
specification but only established that he had committed a fifth-
degree-felony trafficking offense, for which he should have been

sentenced accordingly.

Garr cites the Ohio Supreme Court's decision in State v. Chandler as

controlling authority for both assignments of error.... Unlike the

present case, however, in Chandler the state liad recovered, weighed,
and tested the substance offered for sale. It was not crack cocaine. It

' See supra p. 3 n.4.
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was instead 130.87 grams of baking soda. The issue before the

Chandler court was whether a person could be subject to the penalty-
enhancement provision in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g) under these
circumstances. In determining that such a penalty was improper, the
court held that a substance offered for sale must contain "some
detectable amount of the relevant controlled substance" before a
person can be sentenced under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g). The court
noted that the jury had made a mistake of fact when it had concluded
that the baking soda was fantamount to crack cocaine.

This case is different. The issue presented here is whether the state
could establish "some detectable amount of the relevant controlled

substance"-as required by Chcrndler-as well as the amount of the

controlled substance, through circumstantial evidence. We hold that it
could. It is beyond question that the state may attempt to establish
any element of any crinle through circumstantial evidence. We find
no reason to make an exception for the elements of R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(g).

And there is sufficient cii-cumstantial evidence in the record to support
[Glarr's conviction and sentence. At trial, the state played recorded
conversations between Garr and Carr during which Garr offered to
sell cocaine to Carr. The amount of cocaine that Garr had offered to
sell was identified multiplc times and was never less tllan two
kilograms. During one conversation, CaiT indicated that he would not
pay for the cocaine if it was counterfeit. During another conversation,
Garr represented to Cat7• that the cocaine he intended to sell him was

of high quality.

Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the state, we hold
that a rational trier of fact could have concluded beyond a reasonable
doubt that Garr had offered to sell Carr 1000 or more grams of actual
cocaine. We therefore hold that Garr's MDO-specification conviction
was supported by sufficient evidence, and that the trial court properly
sentenced Gatr under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g) as a first-degree felon
and as a major drug offender. '

(Id, Ex. 8, pp. 3-5) (footnotes omitted).
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In the usual case, a federal habeas petitioner is not entitled to relief unless
the state court's adjudication of his constitutional claim resulted in a decision that
(1) was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established
federal law as detennined by the United States Supreme Court, or (2) was based on
an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the

state court proceedings. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d); see also Willianzs v. Taylor, 529
U.S. 362, 402-03 (2000) (O'Connor, J., writing for majority on this issue); Harris

v. Stovall, 212 F.3d 940, 942 (6"' Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 947 (2001);

Harpster v. Ohio, 128 F.3d 322, 326 (6" Cir. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1112

(1998).

A state court decision is "contrary to" clearly established federal law as
determined by the Supreme Court under § 2254(d)(1) if the state court arrives at a
conclusion opposite to that reached by the Supreme Court on a question of law or
decides a case differently than the Supreme Court has on a set of materially

indistinguishable facts. Williams, 529 U.S. at 405-06 (O'Connor, J.); Harris, 212

F.3d at 942. An "unreasonable application" of Supreme Court precedent occurs (1)
if the state court identifies the correct legal standard but unreasonably applies it to
the facts of the case, or (2) if the state court either unreasonably extends a legal
principle from Supreme Court precedent to a new context where it should not
apply or unreasonably refuses to extend that principle to a new context where it

should apply. Williams, 529 U.S. at 407-08 (O'Connor, J.).

Under § 2254(d)(1)'s "unreasonable application" clause, a federal habeas
corpus court "may not issue the writ simply because that court concludes in its
independent judgment that the relevant state-court decision applied clearly
established federal law erroneously or incorrectly. Rather, tha application n7ust

also be unreasonable." Id. at 411 (O'Connor, J.); see also Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S.

685, 694 (2002); McGhee v. Yukins, 229 F.3d 506, 510 (6"' Cir. 2000); Harris, 212

F.3d at 942.

The reasonableness inquiry is an objective one; it does not involve a
subjective inquiry into whether or not reasonable jurists would all agree that the

state court's application was unreasonable. Williams, 529 U.S. at 409-10

(O'Connor, J.); see also Washington v. HofbaueY 228 F.3d 689, 698 (6"' Cir.

2000); Harris, 212 F.3d at 942-43. Moreover, the writ may issue only if the
application is objectively unreasonable "in light of the holdings, as opposed to the
dicta, of the Supreme Court's decisions as of the time of the relevant state court

decision." McGhee, 229 F.3d at 510, 512 (citing Williams, 529 U.S. at 412).
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In this case, although the Ohio Court of Appeals did not cite Supreme Court
precedent in addressing petitioner's sufficiency of evidence claims, the court
utilized the proper standard of review established by the Supreme Court in Jackson

in assessing whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt the
essential elements of a first-degree-felony cocaine-trafficking offense and MDO
classification under Ollio Rev. Code §§ 2925.03(A)(1) and 2925.03(C)(4)(g). (See

Doc. 6, Ex. 8, p. 4).

The Ohio Court of Appeals also properly recognized that "[c]ircumstantial

evidence alone is sufficient to support a conviction." Newman v. Metrish, 543 F.3d

793, 796 (6"' Cir. 2008) (quoting Johnson v. Coyle, 200 F.3d 987, 992 (6" Cir.

2000)). (See also Doe. 6, Ex. 8, p. 4).However, for such evidence to be meet the
standard of due process, it must be enough for a rational trier of fact to make a

permissible inference of guilt, as opposed to a reasonable speculation that the

petitioner is guilty of the charged crime. Newman, 543 F.3d at 796-97 (and Sixth

Circuit cases cited therein); see also United States v. Slewa, No. 06-20519, 2008

WL 5244353, at *6 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 16, 2008) (unpublished).

There is no bright line test to determine when facts amount to only a
reasonable speculation and not to sufficient evidence. However,
where the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the
prosecution creates only a reasonable speculation [that an essential
element has been proven], there is insufficient evidence to satisfy the

Jackson standard.

In considering the sufficiency-of-evidence issue, the Ohio Court of Appeals

distinguished Chandler based on certain circumstantial evidence presented at trial

as well as the fact that, in contrast to Chandler, no evidence was introduced to

refute the jury's factual finding that the substance offered for sale was cocaine.
Apparently conceding that the standards enunciated in Chandler governed the

disposition of the issue, the court acknowledged that the substance offered for sale
was never recovered, and thus could not be tested to determine if it contained a
detectable amount of coeaine; however, the court concluded that statements made
during conversations between petitioner and the informant in setting up the
transaction that ultimately fell through, about the quality and amount of the cocaine
to be sold, was sufficient to support the reasonable inference that the substance
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offered actually was cocaine. (See id. ).

It is well-settled that federal habeas courts generally are bound by the state
court's interpretation of state law that was "annotmced on direct appeal of the

challenged conviction." Bradshaw v. Richey, 5461J.S. 74, 76 (2005) (citing

Estelle, 502 U.S. at 67-68, and Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 691(1975)).

However, by the same token, the highest court of the state is the final arbiter of the
state-law issue; therefore, "[w]hen it has spoken, its pronouncement is to be
accepted by federal courts as defining state law." West v. Arnerican Telephone &

Telegraph Co., 311 U.S. 223, 236 (1940); see also Hicks v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624,

629-30 & n. 3 (1988) (applying West standard in federal habeas case).

In the absence of prevailing authority from the state's highest court, the
federal court must "ascertain from all available data what the state law is and apply
it rather than ... prescribe a different rule, however superior it may appear from the
viewpoint of the `general law' and however much the state rule may have departed

from prior decisions of the federal courts." West, 311 U.S. at 237. "Where an

intermediate appellate state court rests its considered judgment upon the rule of law
which it announces, that is datum for ascertaining state law which is not to be
disregarded by a federal court unless it is convinced by other persuasive data that
the 1lighest court of the state would decide otherwise." Id. (and cases cited

therein); see also Hampton v. United States, 191 F.3d 695, 701 (6t" Cir. 1999)

(citing Ilicks, 485 U. S. at 630 n.3); cf. Lawler v. Fir•eman's Fund Ins. Co., 322

F.3d 900, 903 (6"' Cir. 2003).

Here, the parties have not cited, nor could the undersigned find, any state
supreme court case addressing the specific issues that have arisen in applying

Chandler to the unique factual circumstances of this case - i.e., whether Chandler

is limited to cases where evidence has been presented demonstrating that the
substance offered for sale was counterfeit, unavailable for sale, or otherwise
lacking a detectable amount of cocaine as represented by the defendant; or whether

Chandler can otherwise be reasonably distinguished from the instant case, where it
is undisputed that the substance was never observed or recovered and petitioner's
guilt under the enhanced penalty provision can be inferred only from statements
made by defendant in setting up the sales transaction with the informant regarding
the quality and amount of cocaine involved in the proposed sale.

Recently, in an unpublished decision, another state appellate court expressed
serious concerns about the Ohio Court of Appeals' decision in the instant case. See
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State v. Mitchell, No. 08 JE 5, 2008 WL 5412414, at *5 (Ohio Ct. App. 7 Dist.

Dec. 16, 2008) (unpublished). In Mitchell, the court held that the evidence was

insufficient to support the defendant's conviction on a heightened, third-degree-
felony trafficking charge, where the amount offered "was said to equal or exceed
the bulk amount" under the enhanced penalty provision set forth in Ohio Rev.
Code § 2925.03(C)(1)(c). In that case, the defendant accepted payment from an
informant for the purchase of six 80 milligram tablets of Oxycontin, but the sale
was never completed because the defendant was unable to procure the pills. See id.

at'e1.

In reversing the defendant's conviction under the penalty enhancement, the
Seventh District Court of Appeals reftised to distinguish Chandler as the Ohio

Court Appeals had in the instant case, and instead determined "that there is no
valid reason for us to distinguish appellant's offer to sell Oxycontin resulting in no
sale and Chandler's offer to sell crack cocaine resulting in the sale of baking soda.

Id at `15. Finding it "highly debatable" that the "Garr court's interpretation and

method of distinguishing Chandler were correct," the Mitchell court went on to

distinguish Garr because no evidence had been introduced "circumstantial. or
otherwise that there was detectable amount of Oxycontin in some drugs offered for
sale," but rather only evidence that "appellant was attempting to find some
Oxycontin and that he never did find any pills to purchase in order to resell them to

the informant." Id.

In so ruling, the court continued in dicta to criticize the Court of Appeals'

decision in the instant case as follows:

Notably, there is an appellate case out of the pight[h] District, which
is contrary to the First District's Garr case and which was decided

while the Chandler appeal was pending in the Supreme Court. State

v. Elliot, 8°i Dist. No. 86461, 2006-Ohio-1092. In Elliott, the

defendant offered to sell a quarter of an ounce of crack cocaine for
$200 to an undercover officer. The officer said that after he tried the
crack that he had just purchased for $20 from the defendant, he may
return for the quarter ounce.... The defendant was immediately
arrested. "I'he $20 rock turned out to be baking soda and the verbally
offered quarter ounce of crack cocaine was never recovered.

The defendant was convicted on the following counts: (1) trafficking
in a counterfeit substance by selling the rock of baking soda; (2)
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offering to sell the quarter ourtce of crack cocaine that was never
produced; and (3) offering to sell the $20 worth of crack cocaine that
turned out to be baking soda. It is the treatment of the second count
that is relevant to our analysis. Regarding this count, the defendant's
penalty was enhanced to a third degree felony upon the jury's finding
that he offered to sell an amount equaling or exceeding five grams but

less than ten grams.

The Eighth District upheld the drug trafficking conviction for the offer
to sell crack eocaine under count two.... However, the court held that
the state did not provide sufficient evidence to sustain the penalty
enhancement to a third degree felony.... Adopting the Fifth District's

Chandler analysis as to the penalty enhancement, the Eighth District
concluded that the state was required to prove a specific amount of the
drug actually existed in order to obtain the penalty enhancement....

Thus, the Elliott court modified the conviction for offering to sell the
quarter ounce from a third degree felony to a fifth degree felony,
which is the lowest crack cocaine penalty provided in R.C.

2925.03(C)....

Considering that we now have the benefit of the Supreme Court's

G'handler decision in a baking soda case, the Elliott court's handling

of the issue of a case involving drugs that were never produced or
recovered has even more support. We note here the Ohio Attorney
General's Anlicus Brief in the Supreme Court's Chandler case

specifically equated the defendant who sells a counterfeit substance
with a defendant who does not have any substance. That brief stated:

"This case, rather, turns on whether R.C. 2925.03 applies
to individuals who offer to sell crack that turns out not to
exist, either because it is fake or because the defendant

literally has nothing to sell." (Emphasis added).

To conclude this analysis, the Supreme Court's Chandler case ruled

that the penalty enhancement provisions in the drug trafficking statute
cannot be used where there is no detectable trace of the alleged
substance. Pursuant to this precedent, then we hold that where a
defendant offers to sell six Oxycontin tablets but is unable to procure
the pills for resale, the state has failed to sliow a detectable amount of
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a controlled substance as required for penalty enhancement. There is
no reason to distinguish between Chandler's baking soda that did not
contain drugs and appellant's complete lack of drugs. This is
especially true in a case where it is established that appellant
unsuccessfully went looking for drugs to resell and lcept meeting with

the informant thereafter (as opposed to Garr where the court thought

the defendant may have actually had [cocaine] to sell but merely
failed to hand it over due to a failure to produce payment)....

Id, at * 5-6.9

'The issues posed in the instant case are troubling. It appears frorn the record
that both the trial court and the Ohio Court of Appeals were persuaded that

Chandler applied to petitioner's case. Specifically, it appears that the trial court
determilied that because no cocaine was ever observed or recovered, Chandler

applied to preclude any enllancement of petitiouer's sentence on the NIDO
specification. However, the cotn-t apparently did not recognize the extent of the

Chandler holding as prohibiting not only an "add-on" sente,nce based on
petitioner's classification as a major drug offender, but also petitioner's conviction
and sentence to a mandatory maximutn ten-year term for a first-degree-felony
cocaine-traffi cking offense under Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g). See

Chandler, 846 N.E.2d at 1239 (affirming appellate court decisions); see supra p.

14.

In contrast, apparently realizing that petitioner's conviction and mandatory
ten-year sentence were also subject to reversal under the trial court's interpretation

of Chandler, the Ohio Court of Appeals determined that the facts of this case were

sufficiently distinguishable from Chandler to constitute circumstantial evidence

sufficient to support the reasonable inference that the substance offered for sale to

the informant actually was cocahie.

This case falls within the category of cases open to review under.Iaclrson to

the extent the Ohio courts agreed that Chandler applies as requiring proof beyond a

reasonable doubt of a detectable amount of cocaine before petitioner could be
subjected to the enhanced penalty provision set forth in Ohio Rev. Code
§ 2925.03(C)(4)(g), and petitioner claims that there is no basis on which the trier of

9 Petitioner has submitted a copy of the Eighth Appellate District's .FZltott decision for

this Court's consideration as an attached exhibit to his supplemental pleading in opposition to

respondenYs motion to dismiss. (See Doe. 10, Appendix A).
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fact could have found that fact beyond a reasonable doubt. Upon close review of
the trial transcript, the undersigned has serious concerns about the "circumstantial
evidence" presented at petitioner's trial, which was relied on by the Ohio Court of
Appeals in upholding petitioner's qualification for the enhanced penalty. An
extremely close question is presented here as to whether such evidence is enough

to suppot-t a permissible inference, as opposed to a reasonable speculation, that

petitioner actually had the cocaine with him to sell to the informant if an agreement
could have been reached regarding payment at their final meeting.10

On the other hand, upon review of the Ohio Court of Appeals' decision in
this case, it appears that the court also sought to distinguish Chandler in light of

the affirmative evidence presented in that case, which demonstrated that the jury
was mistaken in finding under Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g) that the
substance offered for sale was cocaine. (See Doc. 6, Ex. 8, pp. 3-4). Although the

Court of Appeals did not go so far as to conclude that Chandler's holding is
limited to cases where the jury's factual finding is i-efuted by the evidence, the
distinction made does raise a state-law question which is highly pertinent to the
disposition of this case because, if it is decided in the State's favor, the Court
would not have to decide the extremely close, fact-based sufficiency-of-evidence

claim open to review under Jackson.

It appears that no state court, including the Ohio Court of Appeals in the
instant case, has directly considered the state-law issue posed herein - i.e., whether

Chandler extends to prohibit a conviction for a first-degree-felony cocaine-
trafficking offense and mandatory ten-year sentence under the enhanced penalty
provision of Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g), where the actual substance
offered for sale is never produced or recovered for purposes of establishing a

1D Certainly, as the Ohio Court of Appeals found, there were conversations between the
parties about the quality and amount of cocaine involved in the offer to sell made by petitioner to
the informant. I-Iowever, the informant testified that he "never saw [petitioner] with cocaine,"
and that although he believed petitioner was bringing the cocaine to sell to the inforinant at their
final meeting, he did not see any "dope or cocaine" in petitioner's black car where the parties
met for "roughly" 30 minutes in an attempt to worlc out logistical problems with the sale. (Doc.
13, Tr. 682-83, 694-95, 699-700). The investigator, who was present conducting surveillance at
the seene, also testified that he did not believe the eocaine was in the black car, but rather was

brought in another car parked at a nearby gas station. (Id., Tr. 724). 'Teliingly, he stated: "That's

what my belief is. It's nothing more than a belief." (Id.).
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detectable amount of cocaine, but also no affirmative evidence is presented to cast
doubt on the petitioner's representations to the informant regarding the identity and
weight of the substance or to otherwise refute the jury's finding that the substance
offered for sale was cocaine in "an amount that did equal or exceed 1000 grarns."

As discussed above, other state appellate courts have criticized the Court of
Appeals' decision in this case and have concluded that Chandler extends to cases

where the offer to sell does not result in an actual sale, and no illegal substance is

produced or recovered. See, e.g., Mitchell, supra, 2008 WI, 5412414, at *5-6;

Doc. 10, Appendix A. Those cases, however, are also distinguishable from the

case-at-hand because, as in Chandler, the affirmative evidence demonstrated that
the defendants had not actually procured the drugs offered for sale and, therefore,
lacked a detectable amount of the controlled substance required for a penalty

enhancement. See id.

Both the Supreine Court of Ohio in Chandler and the Ohio Court of Appeals

in the instant case emphasized that testing had revealed that the substance offered

for sale in Chandler was baking soda, not crack cocaine. Indeed, the court in

Chandler posited: "Holding that the penalty enhancement for a major drug
offender applies when any substance over 100 grams-baking soda, face powder,
powdered sugar, or the like-is represented to be `crack cocaine' contradicts the

statute." Chandle>^, 846 N.E.2d at 1238-39. 'The court went on to point out that the
Ohio legislature had "already specifically proscribed the activity present in this
case as trafficking in counterfeit controlled substances," the violation of which was
classified only as a felony of the fourth or fifth degree. Id. at 1239.

As the prosecutor stated at petitioner's sentencing, Chcandler• presents more

questions than answers, particularly in a case such as this where, in contrast to

Chandler, there is no evidence in the record even remotely suggesting that
petitioner did not llave any cocaine to sell, or that he made false representations to
the informant regarding the identity and weight of the substance he was offering to
sell. If the Ohio Court of Appeals had directly addressed and answered the
unresolved state-law question posed herein in the State's favor, by holding as a

matter of law that Chandler is distinguishable from and tlius inapplicable to the
case-at-hand, this Court would have been bound by the state court's determination
upholding petitioner's conviction and sentence on that state-law ground. See

Walker v. Timmerrnan-Cooper, No. 1:05cv103, 2006 WL 3242101, at *8-9 (S.D.
Ohio Oct. 5, 2006) (Report & Recommendation) (Black, M.J.) (unpublished)
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(holding that although Ohio law was unclear regarding a certain element required
to be proven by the State, the federal habeas court was bound by the Ohio appellate
court's ruling on that state-law issue), adopted, 2006 WL 3803235 (S.D. Ohio

Nov. 7, 2006) (Spiegel, S.J.) (unpublished); see also Gitnotty v. Elo, 40 Fed.Appx.

29, 32 (6`t Cir. Apr. 25, 2002) (not published in Federal Reporter) (citing Davis v.

Strack, 270 F.3d 111, 123 n.4 (2id Cir. 2001)), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 894 (2002);

Johnson v. Rosetneyer, 117 F.3d 104, 108 (3`d Cir. 1997)."

Tlierefore, in the interest of comity, the undersigned concludes that the
Supreme Court of Ohio should first bc afforded the opportunity to consider the
unresolved state-law question posed in this case, which may moot the Court's
consideration of the extremely close, fact-based sufficiency-of-evidence claim

open to review under Jackson based on Chandler.

Accordingly, in sum, respondent's motion to dismiss (Doc. 6) should be
DENIED. In addition, the undersigned RECOMMENDS that the following
question of Ohio law, which may be "determinative of the proceeding and for
which there is no controlling precedent" in the Ohio courts, be certified to the
Supreme Court of Ohio in accordance with the procedure set forth in Rule XVIII of
the Rules of Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio, see Rule XVIII, § 1, of the

Rules of Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio:

" Cf. Estelle, 502 U.S. at 67-68; 141'arner v. Zent, 997 F.2d 116, 133 (6's Cir. 1993)
(absent a showing of "extreme circumstances where it appears that the [state court's]
interpretation of [state law] is an obvious subterfuge to evade consideration of a federal issue,'
the federal habeas court is bound by the state court's detemination of state law) (quoting
Mullaney, 421 U.S. at 690-91), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1073 ( 1994).
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Whether the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v. Chandler,

846 N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio 2006), prohibiting a first-degree-felony
cocaine-traffieking conviction and sentence uDder the enhanced
penalty provision of Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g) where the
substance offered for sale does not contain a detectable amount of the
drug, applies to this case; or, in other words, whether Chandler, which

involved the sale of a counterfeit substance, extends to cases wliere
the substance offered for sale was never observed, tested or recovered
to ascertain whether it contained a detectable amount of cocaine, and
no affirmative evidence was presented to call into question the
defendant's representations, or to refute the jury's factual finding, that
the substance in fact was cocaine in an amount equal to or exceeding

1000 grams.

Respondent, as the party requesting the dismissal of the federal habeas
corpus petition on the ground that petitioner has asserted non-cognizable state-law
claims, should be designated as the moving party. Moreover, nothing in the
certification, including the particular phrasing of the foregoing question, should be
deemed as limiting the Supreme Court of Ohio in its consideration of the state-law

question presented herein.

IT IS THEREFORE RECOMIVIENDED THAT:

1. Respondent's motion to dismiss (Doc. 6) be DENIED.

2. IT IS FURTHER RECOMMENDED that this case be STAYED
pending the Supreme Court of Ohio's consideration of the following state-law
question, which the undersigned RECOMMENDS should be CERTIFIED to the
state supreme court to answer in accordance with Rule XVIII of the Rules of
Practice of the Supreme Court of Ohio:
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Whether the Supreme Court of Ohio's decision in State v. Chandler,

846 N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio 2006), prohibiting a first-degree-felony
cocaine-trafficking conviction and sentence under the enhanced
penalty provision of Ohio Rev. Code § 2925.03(C)(4)(g) where the
substance offered for sale does not contain a detectable amount of the
drug, applies to this case; or, in other words, whether Chandler, which

involved the sale of a counterfeit substance, extends to cases where
the substance offered for sale was never observed, tested or recovered
to ascer-Cain whether it contained a detectable amount of cocaine, and
no affirmative evidence was presented to call into question the
defendant's representations, or to refute the jury's factual finding, that
the substance in fact was cocaine in an amount equal to or exceeding

1000 grams.

Date: 3/2/09 __ s/Timothy S. Black
che Timothy S. Black

tJnited States Magistrate Judge

J Vâ RYANC02DD9 habeu ordncWS-291G.ny-tir)SupcEv'jd-MDPSmncsnnQOhScrwpd
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UNITED STATES I>I,STRICT COUR7'
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

Oliver Lucien Garr,
Petitioner

vs Case No. 1.08cv293
(Dlott, J.; Black, M.J.)

Warden, Madison Correctional
Institution,

Respondent

NOTICE

Attached hereto is a Report and Recommendation issued by tlie Honorable

Timothy S. Black, United States Magistrate Judge„in the above-entitled habeas

corpus action. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b), which may be applied in this

action under Rules 1 and 11 of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases in the

United States District Coui-ts, 28 U.S.C. foll. § 2254, any party may object to the

Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendation within ten (10) days after being

served with a copy thereof. Such party shall file with the Clerk of Court and serve

on all other parties written objections to the Report and Recommendation,

specifically identifying the portion(s) of the proposed findings, recommendations,

or report objected to, together with a memorandum of law setting forth the basis

for such objection(s). Any response by an opposing party to the written objections

shall be filed within ten (10) days after the opposing party has been served with the

objections. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b). A party's failure to make objections in

accordance with the procedure outlined above may result in a forfeiture of his

rights on appeal. See Thoin.as v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140 (1985); United States v.

Walters, 638 F.2d 947 (6" Cir. 198 1).
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THE STATE OF OHIO, IiAh`III.TOIt1 COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

date: 09/1311006
code: GJEI

judge: 156

STATE OF OHIO
VS.

OLIVER L GARR

N O•

Judge; DENNIS 8 IIELMICI^

` ^
R 060253i

c^

JUDGMENT ENTRY: SENTENCE:
INCARCERATION

Defendant was present in open Court with Cotmscl ELIZARE'I'13 E ACAR on the 13th
day of September 2006 for seatence.
The court infomred the defendant that, as the defendant vrel] knew, after defendant
enteriug a plea of not guilty and after trial by jury, the defendant has been found guilty of
the off®nse(s) of:
count i: TRAFFICICING IN COCAINE WITH SPIECIFICATION,
2925a03A1/+ORC14'yFf
count 2- ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF CORRUPT ACTIVITY,
2923-32AItORCN, JUDGMENT ENTRY OF ACQUITTAI.

The Court afforded defendant's counsel an opportunity to speak on behalf of the
defendant. The Court addressed the defendant personally and asked if the defendant
wished to make a statement In the defendant's behalf, or present any information in
mitigation of punish.ment.

Defendant,is sentenced to be imprisoned as follows:
courrt 1: CONFINEIVIENT:10 Yrs DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS
TEN (10) YEARS IS MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCE.
DRIVER'S LICENSE SUSPENSION: 5 Yrs

DEFENDANT TO RECEIVE CREDIT FOR ALL JUSTICE CENTER TIRfE .
SERVED ON THIS NiATTER.

FINE OF S20,000:00 IMPOSED OF WHICH $10,000.00 IS MANDATORY DRUG
FINE.

DEFENDANT T(? PAY TIIE COURT COSTS.

DEFENDANT TO PAY PUBLIC DEFENDER ATTORNEY FEES.

APP$AL BOND SET AT $5,000,000.00.

e

^ rjl, , I CMSG306N : ».
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THE STATE OF OIIIO, HAMILTON COUNTY

data: 09/I3/2006
code: GJEI

judge: 156

COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

NO: B 0602631

STATE OF OIIIO
VS.

OLIVER L CARR

JUDGMENT ENTRY: SENTENCE:
INCARCERATION

FURTIIER, IN ACCORDANCE WITH RC 2901.07, THE DEFENDAN'Y' IS
REQUIRED TO SUBMIT A DNA SPECIMEN WHICH WILL 9E COLLECTED
AT THE PRISON, JAIL, CORRECTIONAL OR DETENTION FACILITY TO
WHICH THE DEFENDANTIiAS BEEN SENTENCED. TN THE SENTENCE
INCLUDES ANY PERIOD OF PROBATION OR COMMUNITY CONTROL, OR
IF AT ANY `I'IME THE DEFENDANT IS ON PAROLE, TRANSITIONAL
CONTROL OR POST-RELEASE CONTROL, THE DEFENDAN'I' WILL BE
REQUIRED, AS A CONDITION OF PROBATION, COMMUNITY CONTROL,
PAROLE, TRANSITIONAL CONTROL OR POST-RELEASE CONTROL, TO
SUBMIT A DNA SPECIMEN TO THE PROBATION DEPARTMENT, ADULT
PAROLE AUTHORITY, OR O'FIIER'AUTHORIxY AS, DESICv:NATED°HY, LAW
IF TH:E DEFENDANT F'AILS OR REFUSES TO SUBMIT TO TIiR RE4UIRED
DNA SPECIMEN COLLECTION PROCEDURE, THE DEFENDANT WILL BE
SUBJECT TO ARIdFST AND PUNISHMENT FOR VIOLATING THIS
CONDITION OF PROBATION, COMMUNITY CONTROL, PAROLE,
TRANSITIONAL CONTROL OR POST-RELEASE CONTROL.

AS PART OF THE SENTENCE IN'I'HIS CASE, THE DEFENDANT SHALL BE
SUPERVISED BY TIIE ADULT PAROLE AUTHORITY AFTER DEFENAANT
LEAVES PRISON, WHICH IS REFERRED TO AS POST-RELEASE CONTROL,
FOR FIVE (5) YEARS,

IF THE DEFENDANT VIOLATES POST-RELEASE CONTROI. SUPERVISION
QRANY CONbITION.THEI2EOF,TIIE ADULT PAROLE.AUT.HORTTY MAY.
IMPOSE A PRISON TERM, AS PART OF THE SENTENCE, OF UP TO
NINE (9) MONTHS, WITH A MA7CIMUM FOR REPEATED VIOLATIONS OF
FIFTY PEI2CENT ( 50%u ) OF TIIE STATED PRISON TERM, IF THE
DEFENDANT COMMITS A NEW FELONY WHILE SUBJECT TO POST.
RELEASE CONTROL, THE DEFENDANT MAY BE SENT TO PRISON FOR
THE REMAINING POST-RELEASE CONTROL PERIOD OR TWELVE ( 12)
MONTHS, WHICHEVER IS GREATER. THIS PRISON TERM SIIALL IiE
SERVED CONSECUTIVELY TO ANY PRISON TERM IMPOSED FOR THE
NEW FELONY OF WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS CONVICTED.

Pege 2
CMSG30bN

n-w. '^L
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STATE OF OHIO, Plaintiff-Appellee, vs. OLIVER GARR, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL NO. C-060794

COURT OF APPEALS OF OHIO, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, HAMILTON
COUNTY

2007 Ohio 3448; 2007OItioApp. LEXIS3I79

Jnly 6, 2007, Date of Judgment Entry on Appeal

NOTICE:

THESE ARE NOT OFFICIAL IIEADNO'1'ES OR
SYLLABI AND ARE NEITHER APPROVED IN AD-
VANCE NOR ENDORSED BY THE COURT. PLEASE
REVIEW THE CASE IN FULL.

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: Discretionary appeal not

allowed by ,State v. Garr, 2007 Ohio 5735, 115 Ohio St.
3d 1475, 2007 Ohio 5735, 875 NF..2d 628, 2007 Ohio
LF.XIS 2813 (Ohio, Oct_ 31, 2007)

PRIORIIISTORY: [**1]
Criminal Appeal From: Hamilton Cotmty Coutt of

Commott Pleas. TRIAL NO. B-060263I _

arrested until several months later and the drugs were
never recovered. At h-ial, the State played a scries of re-
corded eonversations between defendatrt and the irtfor-
mant that detailed the terms of the transaction. Defendant
was convicted and sentenced. On appeal, the court found
sufficient circumstantial evidence to suppoit the specifi-
cation. Although the drags were not recovered for pur-
poses of detertnining a detectable amount of cocaine,
there were multiple recorded conversations between the
informant and defendant that referenced the atnount of
drugs that were to have been sold and the fact that they
were of a high quality. As there was support for the con-
viction of the offense and the specification, the imposi-
tion of the mandatory sentence was proper.

DISPOSITION: Affirmed.
OUTCOME: The court affirmed the judgment of the
trial court.

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Defendant appealed a
judgment from the Hamitton County Court of Common
Pleas (Ohio), wliich convicted him of first-degree felony
trafficking in dntgs and of a corresponding major-dntb
offender specification. The trial court imposed a manda-
tory tet-m of imprisonment pursuant to R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(g).

OVERVIEW: During a sting operation, defendant told a
police infot-mant that he could sell him a large amount of
cocaine. They met in a parking lot with an understanding
that defendant would deliver the drugs and the utfonnant
would pay him later. However, a disagreement arose
regarding pavment, the sale was not completed, and de-
fendant did not produce the cocaine. Defendant was not

HEADNOTES

SENTENCING - EVIDENCE - DRUGS

SYLLABUS

The jnry could have properly t-elied on circumstan-
tial evidence to support the defendant's conviction as a
major drug offender for trafficknrg in an amount that
equaled or exceeded 1,000 grams of cocaine: it was not
necessary for the state to have recovered and tested the
substance offered for sale in order to prove its weight
and identity.

The trial court did not err in sentencing the defen-
dant to ten years' mandatoty incarceration based on the
penalty-enbaucement provision in R. C.
2925.03(C)(4)(g): SPate v. Chandler, 109 0hio St.3d 223,
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2006 Ohio 2285. 846 N.E.2d 1234, was not applicable
because the defendant had not offered to sell a counter-
feit controlled substance, but had oftered to sell ovei-
1,000 grarns of actual cocaine.

COUNSEL: Joseph T. Deters, Prosecuting Attorney,
and Scott M. Heenan, Assistant Prosecuting Attorney,

for Plaintiff-Appellee..

Elizabeth E. Agar, for Defendant-Appellartt.

JUDGES: LEE H. HILDEBRANDT, JR., Presiding

Judge. DINKELACKER and WINKLER, JJ., coneur.

RALPH WINKLER, retired, from the Pirst Appellate

District, sitting by assignment.

OPINION BY: LEE H. HILDEBRANDT, JR.

OPINION

DECISIOId

LEE H. PIILDEBRANDT, JR., [**2] Presiding

Judge.

[*Pl] Following a jury trial, Oliver Garr was found
guilty of a first-degree-felony trafficking offense and of a
corresponding major-drug-oiTender ("MDO") specifica-
tion. The trial court sentenced hiin to ten years' manda-
tory incarceration under the penalty provision in R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(g). Gan' now appeals the jury's verdict
and the trial court's sentence. We affirtn.

[*P2] 'I'he facts of this case are largely undisputed.
During a sting operation, Gan- told police informant
Robert Carr that he would sell him two kilograms of co-
caine for $ 42,000. At trial, the state played a series of
recorded conversations between Garr and CatT detailing
the terms of this transaction, wltich included two discus-
sions about the quality of the cocaine. CatT and Garr
eventually nret in a restaurant parking lot with the under-
standing that Garr was to deliver the cocahie to Carr, and
that Can would pay him for it later. But due to a dis-
agreement over payment, the sale was not completed,
and GaiT never produced any cocaine. Police monitoiing
tlte scene allowed Ga r to leave without incident. Garr
was not arrested nntil several montlts later, and the state
never recovered any substance offered for sale in [**31
connection with these events.

[*P3] In his first assignnrent of error, Gat-r con-
tends that his MDO specification was not supported by
suffrcient evidence. In his second assignment of error,
Garr argues that the trial court en-ed in sentencing him to
ten yeas mandatory incarceration because the evidence
did not support an MDO or first-degree-felony convic-
tion. The MDO and sentencing provisions at issue ai-e
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both contained in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g). In perfinent
part, that code section provides, "If the amount of the
drug involved [in the trafficking offense] equals or ex-
ceeds one thousand grams of cocaine **" trafficking in
cocaine is a felony of the first degree, the offender is a
major dtug offender, and the court shall impose as a
mandatory prison term the maximnm prison term pre-
scribed for a felony of the first degree." ' Gan's assign-
ments of error tum on lus conteution that the state could
not establish the weight or identity of the substance he
had offered for sale without recovering and testing it.
Absent this evidence, Garr argues, the state could not
prove the MDO specification but only established that he
had cornmitted a fifth-degree-felony Irafficking offense,
for which he should [**4] have been sentepced accord-
ingly.'

I R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g); see, also, R.C.

2929,01(X) (defining a major dntg offender as a
person convicted of selling 1000 or tnore gi-ams
of cocaine).
2 SeeR.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a).

[*P4] Gancites the Ohio Supreme Court's decision
in State v. Claandler' as controlling authority for botli

assignntents of error. In Chandler, the defendants had
been convicted of trafficking in 100 or niore grams of
crack cocaine and had been sentenced as first-degree-
felony major drug offenders under the same penalty-
enhancement provision applied to Garr. a Unlike the pre-

sent case, however, in Chandler the state had recovered,
weighed, and testcd the substance offered for sale. ' It
was not crack cocaine. It was instead 130.87 grams of
baking soda, ` The issue before the Chandler court was

whether a person could be subject to the penalty-
enhancement provision in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g) under

these circumstances. ' In detei7nining that such a penalty
was improper, the court held that a substance offered for
sale must contain "some detectable amount of the rele-
vant controlled substance" before a person cai be sen-
tenced under R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g). " The cotut noted
that the jttry had made [**51 a mistake of fact when it
had concluded that baking soda was tantantount to crack

cocaine. '

3 109 Ohio St.3d 223, 2006 Ohio 2285, 846
N.E.2d 1234.
4 Id. at P4.
5 Id. atP3.
6 Id. atPI6.
7 Id. at Pl.
8 Id at P21
9 Id at PI9.

[*P51 This case is different. The issue presented
here is whether the state could establish "some detectable
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amount of the relevant controlled substance"-as required

by Charzdler-as well as the amount of the controlled sub-
stance, through circumstantial evidence. We hold that it
could. It is beyond question that the state inay attempt to
establish any elensent of any crime through circumstan-
tial evidence. 10 We find no reason to make an exception
for the elements of RC. 2925.03(C)(4)(g)_

[*P6] And there is sufficient circumstantial evi-
dence in the record to suppott Carr's conviction and sen-
tence. At trial, the state played recorded conversations
between GaiT and Carr dnring whictt GaIT offered to sell
cocaine to Can-. The atnount of cocaine that Garr had
offered to sell was identified multiple tinres and was
never less than two kilograms. During one conversation,
Carr indicated that he would not pay for the cocaine if it
was countetfeit. During atrother conversation, Garr rep-
resented to Carr [**61 that the cocaine he intended to
sell him was of high quality.

[*P7] Viewing this evidence in a light tnost favor-
able to the state, we hold that a t'ational trier of fact could

have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that GatT had
offered to sell Can 1000 or more grams of actual co-
caine. ° We therefore hold that Garr's MDO-
specification conviction was suppoited by sufficient evi-
dence, " and that the trial court propet'ly sentenced Garr

under R.C_ 2925.03(C)(4)(g) as a first-degree felon and

as a major drug offender.

10 State v. Jeraks (1991), 61 Ohio St3d 259,
272, 574 N.E.2d 492.
11 Id. at paragraph two of the syllabus.
12 SeeR.C. 2929.01(X).

[*P81 Botlt of Garr's assigntnents of error are over-
ruled. The judgment of the trial court is affirmed.

Judgment affirmed.

llT1VKELACKER and WINKLER, JJ., concur.

RALPH WINKLER, retired, from the First Appel-
late District, sitting by assignment.
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STATE OF OHIO, Plaintiff-appellee vs. ANDRE ELLIOTT, Defendant-appellant

NO. 86461

COURT OF APPEALS OF OHIO, EIGHTII APPELLATE DISTRICT, CUYA-
HC)GA COUNTY

2006 Ohio 1092; 2006 Ohio App. LEXLS 1006

March 9, 2006, Date of Announcement of Decision

PRIOR ITISTORY: [**1] CHARAC7'ER OF PRO-

CEEDING: Criminal appeal from Cuyahoga County
Court of Common Pleas. Case No. CR-451285.

DiSPOSITION: MODIFIED; AND AFFIRMED;
REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING.

COUNSEL: For planrtiff-appellee: WILLIAM D. MA-

SON, Cuyahoga County Prosecutor, PINKEY CARR,

Assistant, Cleveland, Ohio.

For defendant-appellant: MARGARET AMER ROBEY,
ESQ., Cleveland, Ohio.

JUDGES: KENNETII A. ROCCO, JUDGE. FRANK D.
CELE,BREZLE; JR., P..1. and COLLEEN CONWAY
COONEY,J.,CONCUR.

OPINION BY: KENNETH A. ROCCO

OPINION

JOURNAI. EN7'RY and OPINION

KENNETH A. ROCCO, J.:

["`P1] After a bench trial, defendant-appellant An-
dre Elliott was convicted of trafficking in a counterfeit
controlled substance and two counts of drug trafficking.

[*P2] Elliott presents three assignments of etTor in
which he appeals only his convictions and sentences on
counts two and three, i.e., for drug traffrcking. He first
argues that this cottrt should stay this appeal due to the
Ohio Supreme Court's pending decision upon accepting

review of State v. Chandler, 157 Ohio App.3d 672, 2004

Ohio 3436, 313 N.F..2d 65. Should this court decline to
stay this case, Elliott further argues, based upon the ap-
pellate court's analysis in Chandler, that his [**2] con-
victions for dnig h-afHcking in violation of R.C. 2925.03
are unsuppoited by either sufficient evidence or the
weight of the evidence.

[*P3] Upon a review of the record in conjunetion
with applicable legal anthotity, this court partly agrees
with Elliott's arguments. Consequently, Elliott's convic-
tiou for dtvg traf6cking on count three is affirmed, but
his eonviction on count two cannot be sustained as a
third-degree felony. 1'herefore, his conviction on comtt
two is modified to a felony of the fifth degree, and this
case is retnanded for resentencing in accordance with
this opinion.

[*P4] Elliott's convictions result fi'om a "reverse
sting" operation conducted by the Cleveland Police De-
partment's Sixth District Vice Unit on the night of March
26, 2004. As described by Detective James Cudo during
his testimony at Elliott's trial, Cudo simply drove an un-
marked vehicle slowly in the area of East 156th Street
and Corsica Avenue, an area known for drug activity,
watching for someone to make a gesture indicating drugs
were for sale.

[*P5] At approximately 10:30 p.m., a man, whotn
Cudo later identified as Elliott, made such a gesture by
giving [**3] hitn "the wave." Cudo nodded, pulled into a
parking space, waited for Elliott to ntn to the vehicle,
then rolled down the fi-ont passenger window.

[*P6] Elliott leaned into the car to ask Cudo "what
[he] wanted." Cudo responded, "a 20", referring to a $ 20
rock of c-ack cocaine." Elliott proceeded to "spit from
his mouth a plastic bag which had [what] appeared to be
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one rock of crack cocaine into his hand and tlten handed
it to" Cudo. 'I'he patties stipulated at trial that the sub-
stance of which the rock consisted, although it weighed
.17 grams, was tteither cocaine nor any other controlled
substance. Cudo, in htm, handed Elliott a marked $ 20

bill.

[*P7] As Cudo did so, Ite asked Elliott "if he could
liandle any weight." Elliott asked Cudo "how much," attd
Cudo responded, "a quarter ouuce." Elliott indicated lie
could "get some" for "$ 200." Cudo later testified the
"nonnal price" for a quarter ounce was between "two and
$ 300, depending on***the quaity**"." Cudo told Elli-
ott that he would test what Elliott Itad given him, then
asked how he could find Elliott again for the larger sale.
L'.lliott answered that "his name [was] Pimple, and that lie
would be walking up and down [**4] Fast 156th Street

all nigl t."

[*P8] Afler Cudo drove away, Elliott was arrested
by other officers who were taking part in the operation.

[*P9] Elliott subsequently was indicted on three
counts: 1) trafficking in a counterfeit contt'olled sub-

stance, R.C_ 2925.37; 2) trafficking in crack cocaine in
an anount between {ive and ten grams, R.C. 2925.03 (a

third-degree felony); and, 3) trafficking in crack cocaine
in an amount less than one gram, RC. 2925.03 (a fiftli-
degree felony). His case proceeded to a trial before the

bench.

[*P10] The state presentcd the testimony of Cudo
and one of his colleagues, together with the report that
indicated the "roek" was not a controlled substance_ Al-
though Elliott tnoved for acquittal as to counts two and
three, the trial court denied the motion.

[*Pl 1] Tlte trial court tdtimately sentenced Elliott
to concurrent ternis of incarceration of one year on count
two together with six months on counts one and tlu-ee,
whiclr the court "merged" for sentencing purposes.

[*P12] Elliott has filed a timely appeal and chal-
lenges his drug trafficking coiivictions with [**5] the
following three interrelated assignments of etror:

[*P]3] "I. The Ohio Supretne Court is poised to
rule on a similar case involving a sale of counterfeit

drugs charged under R.C. 2925.03 as an "offer to sell"

genuine drugs; ttiis case should be stayed pending that
decision, if not decided in Mr. Elliott's favor on otlier

grounds.

[*P14] "IT. The court's decision finding the defen-
dant guilty of dtug trafficking was not suppotted by suf-
ftcient evidence and was against the manifest weight of
the evidence as Mr. Elliott never made an "offer to sell" a
quarter ounce of cocaine.
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[*Pl5] "III. Mr. Elliott's drug traflicking conviction
and sentencing must be vacated becanse the sentencing
provisions of R.C. 2925.03 link the convictions and pen-
alty to the idetttity and weight of the drug; no conviction
and sentence can be upheld in the absenee of any con-
trolled substance and this conviction is therefore sup-
ported by insufficient evideuce and against the nranifest
weight of the evidence."

[*P16] Elliott argues in his first assignment of error
that this case should be stayed pending the Ohio Su-
preme Court's decision in [**61 its review of the Fifth
Appellate District's opinion in State v. Chandler, supra.
This cotut declines to do so.

[*P 17] '1'herefore, Elliott's first assignment of et-ror
is ovetxuled.

[*P18] ]n Elliott's second and third assibunents of
error, he essentially argues that his two convictions for
violation of R. C. 2925.03 are imp-oper.

[*Pl9] Elliott contends that pmsuant to the appel-
late court's analysis in Chandler of the interplay between

R.C. 2925.03's guilt and sentencing provisions together
with the passage into law of R.C. 292537, the earlier

Ohio Supreme Cowt decisions in State v. Scott (I982),

69 Ohio St.2d 439, 432 N.F.2d 798 and State v. Patter-
son (1982), 69 Ohio St.2d 445, 432 N.L+'.2d 802 have

been completely superseded. This court, liowever, con-
siders the circumstances of this case are disthrguishablc
from thosc presented in Chmidler. Elliott's argument is

tltus persuasive only in part.

[*P20] None of the couttts of Elliott's indietinent
contained a specification_ The appellate court in Chata-

dler, on ttre other hand, was faced with a defendant who
had [**71 been convicted of dtug trafficking under an
indictment which, in addition to the sutgle base charge,
contained a "Major Drug Offender" ("MDO") specifica-
tion pursuant to R.C. 2929.14(D)(3). Since Chandler,
who was acting as the go-between for his colleague
Bledsoe on that occasion, had sold only baking soda,
Chandler challenged his convietion for "drug" trafficking
on the basis of the specification, arguing that he could
not be lawfully convicted of the charge because the
specification required an actual amount of a controlled
substance. 7'he appellate court agreed with this premise.

[*P21] The appellate court tlien further explained
its analysis in State v. Bledsoe, .Stark App. No.
2003CA00403, 2004 OITio 4764, Chandler's companion
case. "I-he coutt exanrined the interplay between R.C.
2925.03(C)(4)(g), which concerns signiftcant amounts of
drugs, and a specification brougltt under R.C.
2929.14(D)(3), and detennined the amount of "controlled
substance" was material in such cases for purposes of the
penalty to be itnposed.
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[*P22] The court determined that since, logically, a
penalty camrot [**8] be imposed without a crime having
been committed, if the facts of the case proved that no
anrount of "controlled substance" existed, tlte defendant
in such a situation could be neither convicted nor sen-

tenced under R.C. 2925.03. The statute thus restricted the
state, and, on the count of his hidictment that eontained
the specification, Bledsoe's conviction was sustained by
neither sufficient evidence nor the weight of the evi-
dence.

[*P23] The charges against E1liott, on the other
lrand, did not contain any specifrcations_ Rather, be of-
fered the item lie spit from his mouth to Cudo and ac-
cepted Cudo's ntoney in excliange for the item, which
weighed .17 grains.

[*P24] Sintilarly, when Cudo inquired about
"weiglrt," Elliott did not respond negatively. Instead, he
asked Cudo the quantity he desired, stated he could get
it, quoted as his price the appropriate "street" price for a
quatter ounce of crack cocaine, and told Cudo wlrere he
could be found upon Cudo's return for the drugs. Elliott
apparently thus was "ready and willing to provide" to

Cudo what he requested. State v. Pirnental, supra at P26-

28, 33.

[*P25] This court does not find it necessary [**9]
sttictly to follow the FiIIh District's analysis because we
recently held that "the proscribed conduct [under R.C.

2925.03(A)(1)] is the offer to sell, not the offering of a

controlled substance." State v. Pitnentcrl, Cuvahoga App.

No. 84034, 2005 Ohio 384, P25, citing State v. Scott,

supra at 440.

[*P26] The trial court, therefore, did not err either
in denying Elliott's motions for acquittal or in finding
him guilty of drug trafficking_ Nevertheless, the state did
not provide evidence suifieient to sustain the third-
degree felony offense alleged in count two.

[*P27] Based upon the circumstances of this case,
exaunined in liglit of the Fifth Appellate district's analysis

in Chandler, Elliott's conviction on count two falls, as
did his conviction on count three, unde- R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(a), because the state failed to prove a spe-
cific amount of the drug actually existed. According to

R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a), trafficking in cocaine, "except as
otherwise provided," is "a felony of the fifth degree."

Page 3

[*P28] For the foregoing reasons, Elliott's secood
and third [**10] assignments of error are sustained only

in part.

[*P29] Elliott's conviction on count three is af-
firmed, but his conviction on comtt two must be modi-
fied to reflect it was a felony of the fifth degree, and, as

set forth in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a), ttte penalty must be

adjusted accordingly.

[*P30] 71tis case is remanded for proceedings con-
sistent with this opiniion.

It is ordered that appellant and appellee share costs

herein taxed.

The court fmds there were reasonable gt'ounds for

this appeal.

It is ordered that a special mandate issue ottt of this
court div-ecting the Cuyahoga County Court of Common
Pleas to carry this judgment into execution. The defen-
dant's conviction having been tnodified and affirined as
modified, any bail pending appeal is tenninated. Case
rentanded to the trial court for resentencing.

A certified copy of this entry shall constitnte the

mandate pursuant to Rule 27 of the Rules of Appellate

Procedure.

KENNETH A. ROCCO

JUDGE

FRANK D. CELEBREZZE, JR., P.J. and COLLEEN
CONWAY COONEY, J. CONCUR

N.B. This entry is an announcenient of ttte court's

decision. See App.R. 22(B), [**11] 22(D) and 26(A);

Loc. App.R. 22. This decision will be journalized and
will become the judginent and order of the court pm'suant

to App.R. 22(E) unless a motion for reconsideration with

suppotting brief, per App.R 26(A), is filed witliin ten
(10) days of the announcement of the court's decision.
1'he time period for review by the Supreme Cotut of
Ohio shall begin to nnt upon the joumalization of this
cotu-t's annomicement of decision bythe clerk per App.R.

22(E). See, also, SCt.Prac.R. 11, Section 2(11)O.
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PRIORHISTORY: ['"7]
Criminal Appeal from Common Pleas Court, Case No.

06CR169.

DISPOSITION: Convictions Affirmed; Sentence Va-
cated; Cause Remanded.

ainount of a controlled substance as required for a pen-
alty enhancement. The court rejected defendant'.s furttier
contention that his convictions were aeainst the manifest
weight of the evidence. The testimony of the informant
was not incredible, and the jury could properly find her
version of the transactions to be credible.

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Defendant souglit review
of the judgment of the Jefferson County Common Pleas
Court (Ohio), which convicted hiin on three counts of
drug trafficking, one of which dealt with an offer to sell
Oxycontin, a third degree felony as the amount exceeded
the bulk amount under R.C. 2925.03((_)(7)(c). Defeidant

contended, in part, that insufficient evidence was pre-
sented to support tbe eontention that the amouut of Oxy-
contin exceeded the bulk amount.

OVERVIEW: An informant ptn'chased crack cocahie
fi-om defendant on two occasions. On a third occasion,
the infortnant asked defendant to sell her six 80 milli-
giam tablets of Oxycontin. Defendant took ttte infor-
tnant's money, and though he was not able to procure
Oxycontin at the time, he held onto the money in antici-
pation that he would be able to fill the order for the in-
formant in the futare. Defendartt was atTested for the two
completed erack cocaine sales and for the offer to sell
Oxycontin. The court tioted that the penalty enhaneement

provisions in § 2925.03(C) could not be used where there
was no detectable trace of the alleged substance. Since
defendant was unable to procure the six Oxycontin tab-
lets for resale, the State had failed to show a detectable

OUTCOME: Thc court affinned defendant's convietions
but reversed his penalty enhancement resulting from the
bulk antount finding. T'he court remanded the matter for
resentencing on a fourth-degree felony as opposed to the
third-degree felony on which his sentence was originally
based.

COUNSEL: For Plaintiff-Appellee: Attorney Thomas
Straus, Prosecuting Attorney, Attorney Jane Hanlin, As-
sistantProsecuting Attorney, Steubenville, Ohio.

For Defendant-Appelllnt: Attotvey Steven Sticldes,
Steubenville, Ohio.

JUDGES: VUKOVICH, J. Donofrio, J., coocurs. Waite,
J., concurs.

OPINION

VUKOVICH, J.

[^'Pl) Defendant-appellant Robert Mitchell appeals
fi'om three drug trafficking convictions eutered in the
Jefferson County Common Pleas Court. He contends that
there was insufficient evidence on wttat constitutes the
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bulk amount of Oxycontin, and he urges that his convic-
tions are contrary to the tnanifest weight of the evidence.
For the following rcasons, appellant's convictions are
afftrtned. Howevcr, his penalty enhancement resulting
fi-om the bulk amount finding is reversed, and the case is
remanded for resentencing on a fourth degree felony as
opposed to the tltird degree fc[ony ott which his sentence
is currently based.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

[*P2] Appellant was indicted for three counts of
dnig trafficking in violation of R.C. 2925.03(A)(1).
Couuts one and three are the result of two different sales
of [**2] crack cocaine and are fifth degree felonies un-
der R.C 2925.03(C)(4)(a). Count two deals with an offer
to sell Oxycontin, a third degree felony since the amount
offered was said to eqttal or exceed the bulk atnount un-

der R. c. 2925.03(C) (1) (c).

[*P31 At trial, the state called a foronsic scientist to
the stand, and the inforrnant and the detective testified
about eaclt transaction. For instance, on October 23,
2006, the infoiiuant was searched by police, wired and
provided with $ 100 in cash. The infbrinant set up a
mecting witlt appellant, who was her friend and supplier.
A detective watched her enter appellant's place of em-
ployment. He waited for her to exit and hand over .63
grams of crack cocainre, which appellattt had sold to her

tor $ 100.

[*P4] On October 24, 2006, the inforntant asked
appellant to sell her six 80 milligram tablets of Oxycon-
tin, which she said was for her friend. Appellant told the
infortnant to come to his work where he then accepted $
300 that had been provided to the informant by the po-
lice. Appellant left to retrieve the pills and was gone for
over an hour. However, he was not able to procure Oxy-
contin at the time. He kept the money, apparently in an-
ticipation that he would be [**3] able to fill the Oxycon-
tin order for ber in the ftiture. Appellant gave the infor-
mant two niethadorte pills to "hold over" her friend.

[*P5] On October 25, 2006, the infoj7nant returned
to appellant's work to inquire about the status of his
search for Oxycontin. As he still had not procured the
pills, slre purchased .27 grams of crack cocaine from
appellant for $ 50. The police then arrested appellant for
the two completed crack cocaine sales and for the offer
to sell Oxycontin. See R-C. 2925.03(,9)(1) (no person
shall knowingly sell or offer to sell a controlled sttb-
stance).

[*P6] A juiy convicted appellant on all tluee counts
as charged. Upon convicting him for the offer to sell
Oxycontin, the jury made an additional finding regarding
this offense, which specified that the amount he offered
to sell equaled or exceeded the bnik atnount. This addi-
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tional finding resulted in a penalty enhancement. 'fhus,
rather than being convicted of a regular tourth degree
felony, which has a discretionary sentencing range of six
to eighteen months with tio requirement of prison time,
the offer to sell Oxycontin became a felony of the third
degree foi- which the court was reqnh•ed to impose as a
mandatory prison term one [**4] of the prison temis
prescribed for a third degree felony. See R.C.
2925.03(C) (1) (a),(c).

[*P7] ln a January 30, 2008 judgment entry, appel-
lant was sentenced to a mininuun sentence of six months
on the fifth degree felonies and a minimtmr but manda-
tory sentence of one year on the third degree felony. All
sentences- were ordered to run consecutively. Appellant
filed timely notice of appeal.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBF.R ONE

[*PS] Appellant's first assigmnent of eiTor pro-
vides:

[*P9] "TIIE DEFENDANT'S MOTION PURSU-
AN'1I'O CRIMINAL RULF, 29 SHOULD HAVE BEEN
GRANTED PERTAINING TO THE CHARGE OF
VIOLATING O.R.C. §2925.03(A)(7)&(C)(1)(c) BE-
CAUSE THE STATE OF OHIO OFFERED NO EVI-
DENCE SUBSTANTIATING THE BULK AMOUNT"
REQUIREMEN7' AS ALLEGED."

[*PIO] Sufficiency of the evidence is the legal
standard applied to determine whether the case may go to
the juty or wbether the evidence is legally sufficient as a
matter of law to support the jury verdict. State v. Smith
(1997), 80 Ohio St..3d 89, 173, 1997 Ohio 355, 684
N.F.2d 668. Thus, an appellate court reviews a denial of
a Crtm.R 29 tnotion for acquittal using the same stan-
dard that an appellate court uses to review a sufficiency
of the evidence claim. State v. Carter (1995), 72 Ohio
St.3d 545, 553, 1995 Ohio 104, 651 N.E.2d 965.

[*P11] Sufficiency of [**5] the evidence is a legal
test dealing with adequacy, as opposed to weight of the
evidence. State v. Thompkins (1997), 78 Ohio St.3d 380.
386, 1997 Ohio 52, 678 N.E.2d 541. In viewing a suffi-
ciency of the evidence argument, a conviction will not be
reversed unless the reviewing cotut detennines, after
viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
prosecution; that no rational trier of fact could find that
the eletnents of the oPfense were proven beyond a rea-
sonable doubt. State v. Goff (1998), 82 Ohio St.3d 123,
138, 1998 Ohio 369, 694 N.F.2d 916. In other words, the
evidence is sufficient if, after viewing the evidence in dte
light most favorable to the state, reasonable minds can
reach different conclusions as to whether each element
has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. C'arter, 72
Ohio St.3d at 553; State v. Bridgeman (1978), 55 Ohio
S't.2d 261, 263, 381 N.E.2d 184.
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['P121 Dtug trafficking is committed when a per-
son knowingly sells or offers to sell a controlled sub-

stance. B.C. 2925.03(A)(1). The offense is considered
aggravated drug trafficking if the drug involved is any
compound, mixture, preparation or substance included in
schedule I or schedule 11, witlt the exception of mari-
juaua, cocaine, L.S.D., heroht and hashish. R.C.
2925.03(C)(1). Oxycodone [**61 is a schedule II nar-
cotic that is an opiate or opium derivative. R.C.

3779_47(A)(I)(n). See, also, KC. 2925.01(A) (referring

to R.C. 3719.01 for fbe meaning of schedule li).

[*P13] Trafficking in such a substance is a fourth
degree felony unless a penalty enhancement provision
applies. R.C'. 2925.03(C)(1)(a). In particular, if the
amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds the bulk
amount but is less than five times the buIlc amount, then
aggravated trafficking is a felony of the third degree, and
the court shall itnpose as a mandatory prison term one of
the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the third de-

gree. R.C. 2925.03(C)(1)(c).

[*P14] The bulk amount of a conipound, mixmte,
preparation or substance that is or contains any amount
of a schedule II opiate or opium derivative is defined as
an antount equal to or exceeding twenty grams or five
times the maximum daily dose in the usual dose range
specified in a standard pharmaceutical reference manual.
R.C. 2925.01(D)(1)(d). A standard pltarmaceutical refer-
ence manual is defined as includ'ntg standard references
that are approved by the state board of phannacy. R.C.
2925.01(M) (3).

[*PI5] Here, it was established (hat Oxycoutin is
oxycodone. (Tr. 113). [**7] Futther, it was demon-
strated that appellant offered to sell the informant six 80
milligram talilets of Oxycontin for $ 300, which money
the utformant provided to appellant. The testimony of the
informant and a detective, in addition to taped conversa-
tions, supported this claitn. As appellant notes, the trial
court instructed the jury on the relevant definition of the
bulk amount. (Tr. 149-150, 179).

[*P16] Appellant's only argument here is that there
was insufficient evidence presented to support the con-
tention that the amount of Oxycontin contained in six 80
milligram tablets equals or exceeds the buIlc amount in
order to elevate count two to a third degree felony. He
charactetizes the testitnony on this matter as murky. The
state urges that they presented sufficient testimony that
six 80 milligatn tablets of Oxycontin equals or exceeds
the bulk amount.

[*P]7] At trial, a forensic scientist explained that
the bulk amount depends on dosage and originally an-
swered that she "believe[d]" the bulk amount of 80 tnilli-
gram Oxycontin tablets to bc six pills. (Tr. 109). Appel-
lant seems to take issue with the fact that the expert used
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the word "believe" instead of using more definitive lan-

guage.

[*P18] However, the [**81 expert thereafter con-
tinued to discuss how the bulk amount is set by the Ohio
State Board of Pharmacy when they detcrmine based
upon dosage how much a person can ingest in one day.
Slte repeated two tnore times witltout qualification that
the bttlk amount of 80 milligram Oxycontin tablets is six
pills. (Tr. 112, 114). She also specified that the daily
dosage provided by the state pharmacy board is ninety
milligrams. She thett applied the statutory defrnition in
R.C 2925.01(D)(1)(d) of five times the maximum daily
dosage to arrive at 450 milligrams, which bulk aniount
tlueshold is less than the 480 milligrams contained in six
80 snilligam tablets. (Tr. 114).

[*P 19] After viewing the evidence in the light most
favorable to the state, a reasonable person could con-
clude that six 80 milligram tablets of Oxycontin is more
than the bttlk amount. See, e.g., State v. Fisher. 5th Dist.
No. 05CAA04020, 2006 Ohio 2201, P21, 24-25; State v.
Coie, 12th Di.st. No. CA2004-01-007, 2005 Ohio 2274,
P30. Accordingly, appellant's specific arguntent on the
bulk amount is without merit.

[*P20] However, sinoe there did not actually cxist
any Oxycontin here, there is a different probletn with the
sufficiency of the evidence surrounding [**91 the bulk
amount for purposes of penalty enhancement. It is well-
established that drag trafftclcing can occur even whei-e no
dntgs exist due to the statutory language "sell or offer to
sell". See State v. McKenzie (Sept. 12, 1996), 7th Dist.
No. 06-JE-2, 7996 Ohio App. LEXIS 4002 (defendant
took tnoney to buy drugs and never returned). This is
based upon the Ohio Supreme Court's definiug "offer" as

used in B.C. 2925.03(A)(1) as a declaration of one's
readiness and willingness to sell drugs and then' explana-
tion that the offense entails an offer to sell drugs, not an
offer of the drugs thetnselves. See State v_ Scott (1982),
69 Ohio St.2d 439, 440, 432 N.E.2d 798_ 1'he use of "of-
fer to sell" disjunctively with "sell" has been described as
an attempt by the legislature to curtail the mm'keting
phase of drug trafficking. Id. at 441. See, also, State v.

Patterson (1982), 69 Ohio St.2d 445, 447-448, 432
N.E.2d 802 (reiterating that failure to deliver is not a
defense). Still, these cases merely dealt with the dntg
traffieking offense in R.C. 2925.03(A)(1) and did not

involve the penalty enhancement provisions in R.C.
2925.03(C).

[*P21] When it comes to enhancing the penalty,
the Supreme Court has more recently stated that the
statutory Irierarchy of penalties [**10] based upon the
identity and amount of the dtug presupposes that a de-
tectable amount of a controlled substance is present
within the substaoce before the penalty enhancenient
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applies. State v. Chandler, 109 Ohio St.3d 223, 2006

Ohio 2285, P18, 846 NE.2d 1234. In that case, the de-

fendants pretended to sell crack but actually delivered
only baking soda. They were convicted of dtvg traffick-
ing and also received the higliest penalty enhancenient
for offering to sell more ttian 100 grams of crack co-
cahie. Id. at P19. The defendants were not charged with
tlte separate erime of trafficking in counterfeit drugs,
which requires knowledge that the drugs are counterfeit.

See R.C. 2925.37.

[*P22] The Supreme Court determined that the de-
fendants' convictions of drug trafficking could stand un-
der Scott and Patterson because they offered to sell drugs

in violation ofR.C. 2925.03(A)(7), rcgardless of whether

actual drugs were involved. Id at P9. I-Iowever, the

Coutt reversed the penalty enhancement, ruling that the
state was reqaired to prove the identity of the substance
as well as a detectable amount of that substance, not for
eonviction but to impose the penalty enhancement. Id. at

P16.

[*P23] In fonnulating its rationale, the Supreme
[*' l 1] Court noted that by the terms of the penalty pro-

visions in R.C. 2925.03(C), the substance tnust be or

contain the drug alleged. Id. at P18. "This language pre-
sumes that a detectable amount of cocaine is present
witltin the substance before the penalty eiil ancement
applies." Id. Ttte Conrt reiterated that the statute is clear
that a "substance offered for sale must contain sotne de-
tectable amount of the relevant conu-olled substance"
before a person can be sentenced under a penalty en-

hancetnent such as R.C. 2925.03(C) (4)(g). Id at P21.

[*P24] The Court concluded that the jury's finding
that the amount of the dtug equaled or exceeded 100
grams of crack cocaine was contrary to fact, for the sub-
stance involved was 130.87 grams of baking soda. Id. at

P16, 19. Consequently, regardless of the fact that a de-
fendant offers to sell crack cocaine, the penalty en-
haneement is inapplicable where there is no crack co-
caine to be detected. "I'he Court thus has separated the
provisions of the drug trafficking statute into distinct
rules regarding an offer to sell drugs: one regarding the
conviction for the offer to sell, where proof of an actual
diug is not required; and one regarding the btdk antount
enhanecment, [**12] where proof of an actual dtug is

required.

[*P25] We note that the dissenting justices in

Chandler argued that the separate holdings allowing the
conviction but tlien disallowing the penalty enhancement
were contradictory and contrary to the statute's language.
The dissent opined that the enhancement applies to the
knowing offer to sell a certain amount of a controlled
substance regardless of what was actually sold. Id. at

P35 (Resnick, J., dissenting); P53-54, 56 (O'Connor, J.,
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dissenting). It was noted that even the lowest penalty
provisions use the "drug involved" language as different
drugs hivolve different deg-ees of offenses. Id at P55
("The 'amount of the dmg involved' is niore properly
construed as the 'amount of the drug involved in the of-
fer,' at which tin e the trafficking crime is contplete").

[*P26] NeverYheless, their arguments were not per-
suasive to the majority. As such, the current state of law
is that a penalty enhancement provision cannot be used
where there were no detectable traces of the alleged sub-
stance. We could stop here and reverse appellant's en-
Itancement on this basis; however, due to a First District
case distinguishing Chartdler, we shall continue our
analysis. For the [**13] following reasons, we hold that
there is no valid reason for us to distinguish appellant's
offer to sell Oxycontin resulting in no sale and Chan-
dler's offer to sell crack cocaine resulting in a sale of
baking soda. Rather, if Chandler is entitled to have his
penalty enhancement struck, thcn so is appellant.

[*P27] The First District has distinguished Chan-

dder on the grounds that a counterfeit substance that has
been tested is different than a substance that is offered to
be sold but that is never delivered. State v. Garr, 1 st Dist.

No. 60794, 2007 Ohio 3448. They focused on the defen-
dant's statement that the crack cocaine he intended to sell
was high quality. Id. at P6. The court concluded that
circmnstantial evidence ean be utilized to establish that
there was "some detectable amoutit of the relevant con-
trolled substance" as required by Chandler. Id. at P5.

[*P28] Even if the Garr court's intetpretation and
metliod of distinguishing Chandler were eotrect, which

is highly debatable, Garr itself is distinguishable Gom
the case at bar. Although appellant offered to sell the
informant Oxycontin, there is no evidence circumstantial
or otherwise that there was some detectable amount of
Oxycoirtin in some [** 14] drugs offered for sale. Rather,
ttte only evidence was that appellant was attenipting to
find some Oxycontin and that he never did find any pills
to purchase in order to resell them to the inforinant. In a
case whet-e a defendant is trying to find a drug for a
buyer but never finds it, the penalt,y enhancentent provi-
sion, which the Supreme Court has held requires sonie
detectable aniount, is not satisfied.

[*P29] Notably, there is an appellate case out of the
Eight District, which is contrary to the First District's
Garr case and whicl was decided while the Chandler

appeal was pending in the Supreme Court. State v. Elli-

ott, 8th Dist. No. 86461, 2006 Ohio 71792_ In Elliott, the

defendant offered to sell a quarter of an ounce of crack
cocaine for $ 200 to an undereover officer. The officer
said that after he tried the crack that he had just pur-
cltased for $ 20 from the defendant, he may return for the
quarter ounce_ Id. ttt P7. The defendant was imtnediately
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atrested. The $ 20 rock tttrned out to be baking soda and
the verbally offered quarter ounce of crack cocaine was
neverrecovered.

[*P301 The defendant was convicted on the follow-
ing counts: (1) traf6cking in a counterfeit substance by
selling the rock of [**15] bakirtg soda; (2) offering to
sell the quarter ounce of ct'ack cocaine that was never
produced; and (3) offering to sell the $ 20 worth of crack
cocaine that tumed out to be baking soda. It is the treat-
ntent of the second count that is relevant to our analysis.
Regard'utg this count, the defendant's penalty was en-
hanced to a third degree felony upon the jury's finding
that he offered to sell an amount equaling or exceeding
five grams but less than ten grains.

[*P31] The Eighth District upheld the dtvg traf-
ficking conviction for the offer to sell crack cocaine un-
der couni two. Id at P26, 29. However, the court held
that the state did not provide sufficient evidence to sus-
tain the penalty enhancement to a third degree felony. 1d.

at P26. Adopting the Fifth District's Chandler- analysis as
to the penalty enhancement, the Eighth District con-
cluded that tlte state was required to prove a specific
amount of the dntg actually existed in order to obtain
penalty enhancement. Id. at P27. '1'hus, the Elliott comt
modified the conviction for offering to sell the quatter
ounce from a third degree felony to a fifth degree felony,
which is the lowest crack cocaine penalty provided in
R.C. 2925.03(C).Id. at P3, 27.

[*P32] [**l6] Consideriug that we now have the
benefit of the Supreme Court's Chandler decision in a

baking soda case, the Elliott court's handling of the issue
of a case involving drugs that were never produced or
recovered has even more support. We note here that the
Ohio Attorney General's Amicus Brief in the Supreme
Court's C&andler case specifically equated the defendant
who sells a counterfeit substance with the defendant who
does not have any substance. "Chat brief stated:

[''P33] "'I'ltis case, tether, turns on whetlrer R.C.

2925.03 applies to individuals who offer to sell crack
that turns out not to exist, either because it is fake or
becartse the defendant literally has nothing to sell."
(Emphasis added).

[*P34] To conclude the analysis, the Supreme

Court's Chandler case ruled tltat the penalty enhance-
ment provisions in the drug trafficking statute cannot be
used where there is no detectable trace of the alleged
substance. Pursuant to this precedent, then we hold that
wltere a defendant offers to sell six Oxycont'in tablets but
is unable to procure the pills for resale, the state has
failed to show a detectable amount of a coutt'olled sub-
stance as required for penalty enhancement. There is no
reason to distinguish [*' 1"J] between Chandler's baking
soda that did not contain dmgs and appellant's contplete

Page 5

lack of drugs. 'I'his is especially true in a case where it is
established that appellant mtsuccessfully went looking
for drugs to resell and kept meeting with the informant
tltereafter (as opposed to Garr where the court thought
the defendant may have actually had crack to sell but
merely failed to hand it over dtte to a failure to produce
payment). For all of the foregoiug reasons, we hold that
[here is insuf5cient evidence to support the penalty en-

hancenient provision.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NUMBBR TWO

["`P35] Appellant's second assignment of error con-

tends:

[*P36] "THE DEFBNDANT-APPELLANT'S
CONVICTION WAS AGAINST THE MANIFEST
WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE."

[*P37] Weigltt of the evidence deals with the incli-
nation of the greater amount of credible evidence to sup-
port one side of the issue over the other. Thoinpkins, 78
Ohio St.3d at 387. The reviewing court determines
whether the trier of fact clearly lost its way and created a
manifest miscartiage of justice- Id. Where the ctimiual
case was tried by a juty, only a unanimons appellate
cout't can reverse ott the ground that the verdict was
against the manifest weight of the evidence. Id at 389.
[**18] This is only done in exceptional circuntstances.
Id.at387.

[*P38] When there are two fairly reasonable views
of ttte evidence or two confliethig versions of events,
neither of which is unbelievable, it is not our province to
choose wlticlt one should be believed. State v. Gore
(1999), 131 Ohio App.3d 197, 201, 722 N.E.2d 125.
Rather, we defer to the jury who was best able to weigh
the evidence, draw rational inferences and judge the
credibility of witnesses by viewing their demeanor, voice
inflections and gestures. See Seasons Coal Co- v. Cleve-
land (1994), JO Ohio St.3d 77, 80, 10 Ohio B. 408, 461
N. E.2d 1273; State v. DeHass (1967), 10 Ohio St.2d 230,
231, 227 N.E2d 212.

[*P39] After settiug forth the law on weight of the
evidence, appellant merely conclttdes that the jury was
misguided and created a miscarriage ofjustice regarding
all tln-ee counts. Appellant does not set forth any argu-
tnent, cite to the record or tnention any particular view of
the evidence he wishes we would adopt. This is violative
of App.R. 16(A)(7), which provides that an appellant's
brief shall contain an. argument containing the conten-
tions of the appellant with respect to each assignment of
error presented for review and the reasons in support of
the contentions, with citations to the autlrorities, [**19]
statutes, and parts of the t-ecord on which appellant relies.
Pursuant to App.R. 12(A), the court may disregard an
assignment of error presented for review if the party rais-
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ing it fails to identify in the record the error on which the
assignment of error is based or fails to argue the assign-
ment separately in the brief, as required under App.R.
16(A).

[*P40] In any event, the testimony of ttie informant
is not incredible. Altltough the defense attempted to dis-
credit her as behrg a dtvg addict who was loolcing to
benefit herself and seek retribution on appellant's friend
who had informed on her the previons spring, the jury
could find her version of the transactions to he credible.
The jury also heard taped conversations between the in-
formant and appellant and heard the testimony of the
detective who searched the informant prioi- to the sales
and retrieved the drugs thereafter. Upon reviewing all of
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the evidence, we conclude that it was ttot a manifest mis-
carriage of justice to believe the testimony of the infor-
inant. This assigmnent of en'or is overniled.

[*P41] For the foregoing reasons, appellant's con-
victions are affirmed. Howeve, the additional finding
regarding the penalty enhancement, which elevated
[**20] the offense from a fourth degree to a tltird degree
felony, is reversed and this case is remanded for nrodifi-
cation of the degree of the offense and for resentencing
accord'ntgly.

Donofrio, J,, coucurs.

Waite, J., concurs.
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DISPOSITION: JUDGMENT REVERSED.

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Defendant appealed a
judgment from the Wood County Court of Common
Pleas (Ohio), whiclt convicted him of aggravated traf-
ficking in cocaine and traffickuig in a counterfeit con-
trolled substance, in violation of RC. §§

2925A3(C)(4)O7 and 2925.37(B). The trial court imposed

concurrent terms of imprisonment.

OUTCOME: The court reversed and vacated the con-
viction and sentence imposed on the trafficking in co-
caine conviction, and the matter was retnanded for resen-
tencing based on a fifth degree felony of trafficking in

cocaine, in violation of § 2925.03(C)(4)(a). The remahr

der of the trial court judgment was affirmed.

COUNSEL: Raymond Fischer, Wood County Prosecut-
ing Attorney, and William M. Connelly, Jr., Assistant
Prosecuting Attomey, for appellee.

OVERVIEW: Defendant travelled to a paiticular loca-
tion for the express pu pose of offering to sell crack co-
caine. He engaged in counterfeit drug sales in order to
support his own drug addiction by selling sitnulated
crack cocaine to unsophisticated buyers who thought
tltey were ptuchasing crack cocaine. The charges against
defendant arose from his offer to scll crack cocaine to aai
undereover narcotics officer, and his inteut to sell the
officer a eounterfeit substance whieb was a Midol-based
substance containing no crack cocaine. Defendant was
indicted and after a jury n-ial, fte was convicted as
ebarged and sentenced. On appeal, it was noted that de-
fendant only appealed the conviction for aggravated traf-
ficking in cocaine. The coulY relied on analogous caselaw
and found that as defendant offered to sell crack cocaine
to the officer, he violated R.C. § 2925.03(A). However,

because the substance that he offered for sale was coun-
terfeit, he could not be convicted for aggravated traffick-
ing of a specific amount of crack cocaine under §

John F. Potts, for appellant.

JUDGES: OSOWIK, J. Mark L. Pietrykowski, P.J., Wil-
liam J. Skow, J., Thomas J. Osowik, J., CONCUR.

OPINION BY: Thomas J. Osowik

OPINION

DECISION AND JUDGMENT ENTRY

OSOWIK, J.

[*PIJ 'I1ils is an appeal from a judgment of the
Wood County Court of Common Pleas. Appellant was
found guilty of one count of aggravated trafficking in

cocaine in violation of R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)0, and one

count of trafficking in a counterfeit controlled stibstance

in violation of R.C. 2925.37(B). Appellant was sentenced
to concunent terms of incarceration of five years and one
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year. We note for clarity that appellant is not appealing
his conviction for trafficking in a counterfeit eontrolled
substance. For the reasons set fortlt below, this courl
reverses atrd remands for resentencing appellant's traf-

ficking in cocaine conviction.

[*P2] Appellant, Lacone Scott, sets forth the fol-
lowing tln-ee assigmnents of error:

[*P3] "I. The evidence [**2] was not sufficient to
snpport appellant's conviction for aggravated trafficking.

[*P4] "II. Appctlant's conviction for aggravated
trafficking is against the manifest weight of the evidence.

[*P5] "Ill. It constituted error to sentence appellant
under an unconstitutional statute."

[*136] 'The following tmdisputed facts are relevant
to the issues raised on appeal_ On July 21, 2004, appel-
lant traveled to Bowling Green, Ohio, for the express
purpose of offe-ing to sell two ounces of crack cocaine.
Appellant engaged in counterfeit dnlg sales in order to
support his own drug addiction. Appellant would sell
simulated crack cocaine to nnsophisticated buyers who
erroneously believed they were purcliasing crack co-

caine.

[*P7] On Jaly 21, 2004, appellant offered to sell
two ounces of craclc cocaine for $ 1,700 to a buyer
whom, nnbeknownst to appellant, was an undercover
narcotics agent. Appellant and the shant buyer auaugcd
to meet at a gas station near findlay, Ohio. The under-
cover narcotics agent was perfortning a sting operation in
the course of his employtnent with the Ohio Btireau of

Crimi nal Investigatious.

[*P8] Appellant was anested after offering to sell
two ounces [**3] of crack cocaine to the undercover
narcotics agent. Appellant does not dispute that he of-
fered to sell crack cocaine. Appellant does not dispute
that the actual substance lie was prepared to sell was a
modified over-the-eounter Midol counterfeit concoction.

[*P4] On May 5, 2005, appellant was indicted on
one count of aggravated trafficking in cocaine in viola-

tion ofR C. 2925.03(C)(4)69 and one count of trafficking
in a counterfeit controlled substance in violation of R.C.

2925.37(B). A jury trial was conducted on October 4,
2005. Appellant was convicted on both counts. Appellant
limits his appeal to his conviction of aggravated traffick-

ing iu cocahie.

[*P10] In his first assignment of error, appellant
contends the evidence was insufficient to stipport his
trafficking in cocaine conviction. In his interrelated sec-
ond assignment of error, appellant claims the jury verdict
finding Itim guilty of trafficking in cocaine was against
the manifest weight of the evidence. Appellant's first and
second assignments of error sitnilarly involve weight and

sufficiency of the evidence in this case. Thus, for expedi-
ency, we will consider [**41 them simultaneoosly.

[*P11] A criminal conviction may be overturned
on appeal if it is against the manifest weight of the evi-
dcnce or because there is insufficient evidence_ When
examining whether a conviction is against the manifest
weight of the evidence, the appellate court serves as a
"thirteenth juror" to conclude whether the trial court lost
its way so significantly as to create a manifest miscar-
riage of justice necessitathtg that the conviction be over-

tumed. State v. Thonzpkins (1997), 78 Ohio St.3d 380.
387. 1997 Ohio 52, 678 NL.2a' 541.

[*P12] In reaching this decision, we must review
and consider the record, weiglt the evidence, reasonable
inferences, and consider witness credibility. Id. The trial
coutt directly observes and is presented witlt the wit-
nesses and the evidence. Because the trial coutt's role
enables it to directly assess witnesses and evidence in
reachhig its conclusion, we grant substantial deference to
trial coutt detertninations. State v. Mickles, 6th Dist. No.

L-05-1206, 2006 Ohio 3803, P 46.

[*P13] In conjtutction with manifest weight analy-
sis, we tnust simultaneously consider the snfficiency of
the evidence presented to the trial cotut. [**5] We must
conclude whetlter the evidence submitted was legally
sufficient to establish the eletnents of the charged of-

fense. Thompkisas, 78 Ohio St. 3d 386-387. We must as-

celt3in whether the evidence pt-esented, if believed,
would satisfy an average person of the defendant's guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt. State v_ Jenks (1991), 61
Ohio St.3d 259, 574 N.E_2d 492, paragraph two qf the

syllabus.

[*P14] In otu application of the above review stan-
dards and principles to the present case, we note that the
factual scenat-io of this case is unconventional in com-
parison with standard sufficiency and manifest weiglrt
arguments. In support of his first two assignments, appel-
lant does liot deny that he offered to sell crack cocaine.
That act is, in and of itself, criminal. Rather, appellalit
asserts in support of these assignments that his convic-
tion of trafficking in cocaine cannot stand because the
actual substance appellant intended to sell was not crack
cocaine. The compound appellant falsely represented to
be crack cocanie was, ironically, a Midol-based concoc-
tion prepared by appellant in order to simulate the ap-
pearanee of crack cocaine.

[*P15] In order for us to determine [**6] the pro-
priety of appellant's first two assignntents, we must de-
termine whether we are persuaded by appellant's position
that ttie counterfeit composition of the substance neces-
s'arily undertnines the validity of appellant's trafficking
conviction.



Page 3

2007 Oliio 564, *; 2007 Ohio App. LEXIS 524, **

[*P]6] ln this case, appellant's disputed conviction
and sentencing was done pursuant to an enhanced pen-
alty section set fortlt in R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)0. That stat-
tite provides "if the amount of the drng involved equals
or exceeds 500 grams but is not less than 1,000 giatns of
cocaine that is not crack cocaine or equals or exceeds 25
grams but is less than 100 grams of crack cocaine and
regardless of whether the offense was committed in the
vicini[y of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, traf-
ficking in cocaine is a felony of the first degree." Thus,
appellant was convicted under an aggravated portion of
the trafCeking statute, rendering the conviction a first
degree felony. It is undisputed that appellant offered to
sell an undercover narcotics agent two ounces of crack
cocaine_ ]n actuality, the substance was over-the-counter
Midol whiclr appellant modified to mimic the appearance
of crack cocaine.

["P] 7] [**7] The Supreme Court of Ohio recently
considered a case in which the critical underlying facts
were analogous to the case at hand. In State v_ Chandler
(2006), 109 Ohio St.3d 223, 2006Ohio 2285, 846 N.E.2d

1234, the appellant was challenghtg his crack cocaine
trafficking conviction based upon the fact that the sub-
stance he was actually offering to sell was baking soda.

In Chandler, the Supretne Court of Ohio detennined that
because the substance offered as crack cocaine did not
actually contain any detectable amount of the drug, it
was not proper to convict and sentence pursuant to the
penalty etiltancement provision of R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(g).
The court niled that the inrpropriety stemmed from the
fact that the enhanced provision dictates that specified
amounts of the named drug be involved. This pottion of
the statute becomes inapplicable in instances of counter-

feit drugs.

[*P18] 'I'he analysis relied upon and cited by the
Supreme Conrt of Ohio in Chandler colmected to R.C.

2925.03(C)(4)(g) is analogous to the disputed conviction
at issue in this case connected to R.C. 2925.03((-)(4).

In Chandler, the Supreme [**8] Comt concluded that
appellant's- mtderlying conviction for trafficking in a con-
trolled substance in violation of R.C. 2925.03(4)(1)
could properly stand given that the appellant did offer to
sell the prohibited controlled substance.

[*P19] The general trafficking in a controlled con-
viction does not require the acthial transfer of the prohib-
ited substance to the buyer. The Supreme Court of Ohio
detemzined that although the enltanced seitencing of the
appellant applying the aggravated-level penalty provi-
sions must be reversed given the counterfeit nature of the

actual substance, the underlying convietion is not invali-
dated. This result is dictated by the Ohio Supreme Court
holding in State u Patterson (1982), 69 Ohio St.2d 445,
432 NE.2d 802, which foutid one can be properly con-
victed of aggtavated trafficking without actually transfer-
ring a controlled substance to the buyer.

[*P20] We fmd the above discussed case law
analogous to and determinative of the outcome in this
case. It is undisputed that appellant offered to sell crack
cocaine. Appellant violated R.C. 2925.03(A)_ Appellant
committed a fifth degree felotty of trafficking [**9] in
cocahte.

[*P21] Because the substance offered for sale
proved to be counterfeit, we must reverse appellant's
sentence for commission of a first degree felony pursuant
to RC. 2925.03(C)(4)(fl and remand to the tria] coutt so
that appellant may be resentenced for cotmnission of a
fifth degree felony pursuant to R.C. 2925.03(C)(4)(a).
We find appellant's first assignmettt of en'or not well-
taken and second assignnient of error well-taken.

[*P22] In his tlrird assignment of error, appellant
asserts this case must be remanded for resentenciug as
the judge made findings pursuant to R. C. 2929.14(B) and

R.C. 2929.14(D)(2)(a), statutes now deemed unconstitu-

tional by State v. Fo.rter (2006), 109 Ohio St3d 1, 2006
Ohio 856, 845 N.E.2d 470. Given our holding in re-
spouse to the first two assigninents of ei-ror, we ftnd ap-
pellant's third assignment of error moot.

[*P23] The judgment of the Wood County Court of
Common Pleas is reversed and remanded for resentenc-
ing. Appellee is ordered to pay the costs of this appeal
pursuant to App.R. 24. Judgtnent for the clerk's expense
[** 10] in preparation of the record, fees allowed by law,
and the fee for filing the appeal is awarded to Wood
County_

JUDGME.NT REVERSED.

A certified copy of this entry shall constitute the
mandate pursuant to App.R. 27. See, also, 6th

Di.st.Loc.App.R. 4.

Mark L. Pietrykowski, P.J.

William J. Skow, J.

Thomas J. Osowik, J.

CONCUR.



AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES

AMENDMENT XIV

Section 1. All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to
the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they
reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or
immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of
life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its
jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Section 2. Representatives shall be apportioned among the several States
according to their respective numbers, counting the whole number of persons in each
State, excluding Indians not taxed. But when the right to vote at any election for the
choice of electors for President and Vice President of the United States,
Representatives in Congress, the Executive and Judicial officers of a State, or the
members of the Legislature thereof, is denied to any of the male inhabitants of such
State, being twenty-one years of age, and citizens of the United States, or in any way
abridged, except for participation in rebellion, or other crime, the basis of representation
therein shall be reduced in the proportion which the number of such male citizens shall
bear to the whole number of male citizens twenty-one years of age in such State.

Section 3. No person shall be a Senator or Representative in Congress, or
elector of President and Vice President, or hold any office, civil or military, under the
United States, or under any State, who, having previously taken an oath, as a member
of Congress, or as an officer of the United States, or as a member of any State
legislature, or as an executive or judicial officer of any State, to support the Constitution
of the United States, shall have engaged in insurrection or rebellion against the same,
or given aid or comfort to the enemies thereof. But Congress may by a vote of two-
thirds of each House, remove such disability.

Section 4. The validity of the public debt of the United States, authorized by law,
including debts incurred for payment of pensions and bounties for services in
suppressing insurrection or rebellion, shall not be questioned. But neither the United
States nor any State shall assume or pay any debt or obligation incurred in aid of
insurrection or rebellion against the United States, or any claim or the loss or
emancipation of any slave; but all such debts, obligations and claims shall be held
illegal and void.

Section 5. The Congress shall have power to enforce, by appropriate legislation,
the provisions of this article.
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§ 2925.03. Trafficking in drugs

(A) No petson shall knowingly do any of the following:

(1) Sell or offer to sell a controlled substance;

(2) Prepare for shipment, ship, transport, deliver, prepare for distribution, or distribute a controlled substance,
when the offendei- knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the controlled substance is intended for salc or resale

by the offender oi- another person.

(B) This section does not apply to any of the following:

(1) Manufacturers, licensed health professionals authorized to prescribe dtvgs, pharmacists, owners ofpharma-
cies, and other persons whose eonduet is in accordanee with Chapters 3719., 4715., 4723., 4729., 4730., 4731., and

4741. of the Revised Code;

(2) If the offense involves an anabolic steroid, auy person who is conducting or participating in a research project
involving the use of an anabolic steroid if the project Itas been approved by the Uttited States food and drug administra-

tion;

(3) Any person who sells, offets for sale, prescribes, dispenses, or adtninisters for livestock or other nonbuman
species an anabolic steroid that is expressly intended for administration tluottgh implants to livestock or otlter nonhu-
man species and approved for tttat puipose under the "Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act," 52 Stat 1040 (1938), 21

U.S.C.A. 301, as amended, and is sold, offered for sale, prescribed, dispensed, or administered for that purpose in accor-

dance witlt that act.

(C) Whoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of one of the following:

(1) If the dntg involved in the violation is any compound, mixture, preparatiou, or substance iucluded in schedule
I or schedule II, with the exception of tnarihuana, cocaine, L S.D., heroin, and hashish, whoever violates division (A) of
this section is guilty of aggravated trafficking in drugs. The penalty for the offense shall be determined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)( l)(b), (c), (d), (e), or (f) of this section, aggravated trafficking

in drugs is a felony of the fourth degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 ofthe Revised Code applies in determining

whether to impose a pi-ison tenn on the offender.

(b) Except as otlierwise provided in division (C)(1)(c), (d), (e), or (f) of this section, if the offense was conmrit-

ted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, aggravated trafficking in drugs is a felony of the third de-
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gree, and division (C) of s•ection 2929.13 of rhe Revised Code applies in determining wliethet- to impose a prison term on

the offender.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drttg invo(ved equals or exceeds the bulk
amount but is less than five times the bulk amount, aggravated trafficking in dmgs is a felony of the third degree, and
the coutt shall impose as a maudatory prison temi one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the third degree. If
the amottnt of the drug involved is within that rauge and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in
the vicinity of a juvenile, aggravated trafficking in dtugs is a felony of the second degree, and the cotut shall impose as
a mandatory prison terni one of the prison terms presctibed for a felony of the second degree.

(d) Except as otherwise provided ut this division, if the amounl of the dtug involved eqnals or exceeds five
titnes the bulk amotutt but is less than fifty titnes the hulk ainount, aggravated trafficking in drugs is a felony of the sec-
ond degree, and the court shall impose as a mandatory prison term one of the prison terrns prescribed for a felony of the
second degiee. lf the atnonnt of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense was comtnitted in the vicinity
of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, aggravated trafficking in drugs is a felony of the first degree, and the cotu't
shall impose as a mandatoty prison term one of the prison tenns prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(e) If the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds fifty times the bulk amouut but is less than one hun-
dred times the bulk amonnt attd regardless of whether the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the
vicinity of a juvenile, aggravated trafGeking in drugs is a felony of the first degree, and the court sltall impose as a nian-
datory prison term one of the prison terrns prescribed for a felony of the 6rst degree.

(f) If the amount of the dtvg involved equals or exceeds one liundred times the bullc amount and regardless of
whether the offense was conmtitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, aggravated trafficking in
dtvgs is a felony of the first degree, the offender is a major drug offender, and the court shall impose as a mandatory
pnson term the maxitnutn prison tenn prescribed for a felony of the first degree and may impose an additional prison
temi prescribed for a major dntg offender under division (D)(3)(b) of section 2929-14 of the Revised Code.

(2) If the dnig involved in the violation is any compound, mixture, preparation, or substance included in schedule
I11, IV, or V, whoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of traffickittg in drugs. The penalty for the offense

shall be determined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(2)(b), (c), (d), or (e) of this section, trafficking in drugs is a

felony of the fiftlt degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in detei-mining whether to

in .pose a prison tertn on the offender.

(b) Except as othetwise provided in division (C)(2)(c), (d), or (e) of this section, if the offense was committed in
the vichtity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in di-ugs is a felony of the fourth degree, and division

(C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in deLermining whether to impose a prison tertn on the offender.

(c) Except as otherwise provfded in this division, if the amotint of the dmg involved equals or exceeds the bulk
amount but is less than five times the bulk amomtt, traflicking in drugs is a felony of the fourth degree, and tltere is a
presumption for a pi-ison term for the offense. If the amount of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense
was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in drugs is a felony of the third de-

gree, and there is a presumption for a prison term for the offense.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the dtvg involved equals or exceeds five
times the bulk atnounf but is less than fifty times the bulk amount, trafficking in drngs is a felony of the third degi'ee,
and there is a presumption for a prison term for the offense. If the amount of the drug involved is within that range and
if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in drugs is a felony of
the second degree, and there is a presumption foi- a prison tertn for the offense.

(e) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals oi- exceeds fifty
times the bulk atnount, trafficking in drugs is a felony of the second degree, and the court shall impose as a mandatoty
prison tertn one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the an ount of the drug involved
equals or exceeds fifty times the bulk amount and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in tlte vi-
cinity of ajuvenile, trafficking in dntgs is a felony of the first degree, and the court shall impose as a tnandatory prison
term one of the prison tenns prescribed for a felony of the first degree.
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(3) If the drug involved in the violation is marihuaua or a compound, mixtt re, preparation, or substance contain-
ing marihuana other than hashish, whoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of trafficking in marihuana. The

penalty for the offense shall be detennined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(3)(b), (c), (d), (e), (f), oi- (g) of this section, trafficking in mari-

huana is a felony of the fifth degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in detennining

whether to impose a prison term on the offender.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(3)(c), (d), (c), (f), or (g) of this section, if the offense was
cotmnitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in marihuana is a felony of the foutth

degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determining whether to impose a prison term

on the offender.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amotint of the drug involved equals ur exceeds two hun-
dred grams but is less than one tlrousand grams, trafficlting in marihnana is a felony of the foutth degree, and division

(C) of section 2929.13 ofthe Revised Code applies in detennining whether to iinpose a prison tet7n on the offender. If

the amomtt of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in
the vicinity of ajuvenile, trafficking in marihuana is a felony of the third degree, and division (C) of.section 2929.13 of

the Revised Code applies in detennining whether to impose a prison tenn on the offender.

(d) Except as otherwise pt-ovided in this division, if the amount of the dntg involved equals or exceeds one
thousand grams but is less than five thousand grams, trafficking in tnarihuana is a felony of the thn-d degree, and divi-

sion (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determining whether to iinpose a prison term on the offender.

If the amouut of the drug involved is wittrin that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in
the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in marilmana is a felony of the second degree, and there is a presumption that a

prison term shall be imposed for the offense.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the dtug involved equals or exceeds five
thonsand grams but is less than twenty tlrousand grams, trafficking in marihuana is a felony of the third degee, and
there is a presumption that a prison term shall be itnposed for the offense. If the aniount of the drug involved is within
that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, traffict(ing in
marilruana is a felony of the second degree, and there is a presumption that a prison term shall be imposed fm- the of-

tense.

(f) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds twenty
thousand gratns, trafficking in marihuana is a felony of the second degree, and the court shall impose as a mandatoty
prison term the maximnm prison tertn prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the amount of the drug involved
equals or exceeds twenty tliousand grams and if the offense was eomrnitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity
ofajuvenile, trafGcking in marihuana is a felony of the first degree, and the court shall iinpose as a mandatory prison

term the maximum prison term prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(g) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the offense involves a gift of twenty grams or less of mari-
huana, trafficking in inarihuana is a minor misdemeanor upon a first offense and a misdemeanor of the third degree
upon a subsequent offense. If the offense involves a gift of twenty grams or less of marihuana and if the offense was
committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in marihuana is a misdenieanor of the

third degree.

(4) If the drug involved in the viotation is cocaine or a compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing
cocaine, wltoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of trafficking in cocaine. The penalty for the offense shall

be detennined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(4)(b), (c), (d), (e), (f), or (g) of this section, trafficking in co-

caine is a felony of the fifth degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 ofthe Revised Code applies in determining

whether to impose a prison tertn on the offender.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(4)(c), (d), (e), (f), or (g) of this section, if the offense was
cotnmitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the fourth de-

gree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determining whether to impose a prison tertn on

the offender.
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(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amotmt of the dmg involved equals or exceeds five
grams but is less than ten grants of cocaine tltat. is not crack cocaine or equals or exceeds one gratn but is less than five
gratns of crack cocaine, trafficking in cocaine is a'fclony of the fourth degree, and there is a presuntption for a prison
tenn for the offense. If the amount of the drng involved is within one of those ranges and if the offense was comtnitted
in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the third degree, and there

is a presumption for a prison term for the offense.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the atnount of the drug involved equals or exceeds ten
grams but is less than one hundred grams of cocaine that is not crack cocaine or equals or exceeds five grains bttt is less
than ten grams of crack eocante, tralficking in cocaine is a felony of the third degree, and the court sball impose as a
mandatory prison term one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the third degree.lf the amount of the drug in-

volved is witltin one of those ranges and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a
juvenile, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the second depee, and the court shall intpose as a mandatory prison term

one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the second degree.

(e) Fxcept as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals or execeds one hun-
dred grams but is less than five hundred gratns of cocaine that is not crack cocaute or equals or exceeds ten grams but is
less than twenty-five geams of crack coeaine, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the second degree, and the court shall
intpose as a mandatory prison term one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the amoant
of the drug involved is witirin one of those ranges and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the
vicinity of a juvetule, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the first degree, and tlte court shall impose as a mandatory
prison term one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(f) If the amount of the dntg involved equals or exceeds five hundred grains but is less than one thousand grams
of cocaine that is not crack cocaine or equals or exceeds twenty-five grams but is less than one hundred gratns of crack
eocaine and regardless of whether the offense was conmiitied in tlte vicinity of a scbool or in the vicinity of a juvenile,
traflicking in cocaine is afelony of the first degree, and the court shall i npose as a mandatory prison term one of the

prison terms prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(g) If the amount of the dnig involved equals or exceeds one thousand grams of cocaine that is not crack co-
caitte or equals or exceeds one hundred gaants of crack cocaine and regardless of whether the offense was committed in
the vicinity of a scltool or in the vicinity of a javenile, trafficking in cocaine is a felony of the first degree, the offender
is a major drug offender, and the cotut shall intpose as a tnandatory prison ternt the maxunnm prison term prescribed for
a felony of the first degree and may itnpose an additional mandatory prison term prescribed for a major drug oftender

under division (D)(3)(b) of section 2929.74 of the Revised Code.

(5) If the drug involved in the violation is L.S.D. or a compound, mixture, preparation, or substance containing
I..S.D., whoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of trafficking in L.S.D. The penalty for the offense shall

be detertnined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(5)(b), (c), (d), (e), (1), or (g) of this section, h-affrcking in

L.S.D. is a felony of the fiftlt degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determinuig

whetlter to impose a prison tenn on the offender. I

(b) Fxcept as othetivise provided in division (C)(5)(c), (d), (e), (f), or (g) of this section, if the offense was
committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of ajuvenile, trafl-icking in L.S.D. is a felony of the fomth de-

gree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 qf the Revised Code applies in detertnining whether to impose a prison term on

the offender,

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds ten unit
doses but is less tltan fifty unit doses of L.S.D. in a solid form or equals or exceeds one gra n but isless than five gratns
of L.S.D. in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form, trafficking in L.S.D. is a felony of the fourth
degree, and there is a pesumption for a prison term for the offense. If the amount of the drug involved is witltin that
range and if'the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in L..S.D_ is
a 1'slony of the third degree, and there is a presumption for a prison tenn for the offense.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the atnount of the drug involved equals or exceeds fifty unit
doses but is less than two htmdred fifty uttit doses of L.S.D. in a solid form or equals or exceeds five grams but is less
than twenty-five grams ofL.S.D. in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form, trafficking in L.S.D. is
a felony of the third degree, and the conrt shall impose as a mandatory prison term one of the prison ternts prescribed



Page 5

ORC Ann. 2925.03

for a felony of the third degree. If the amount of the drug involved is within that rauge and if the offense was coinmitted
in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in L.S.D. is a felony of the second degree, and the
court shall impose as a niandatory prison term one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of the second degree.

(e) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds two hun-
dred fifty unit doses but is less than one thousand wtit doses of L.S.D. in a solid form or equals or exceeds twenty-five
grams but is less than one hundred grams ofL.S_D. in a liquid concentt-ate, liqaid extract, or liquid distillate form, traf-
ficking in L.S.D. is a felony of the second degree, and the court shall impose as a mandatory pi-ison ternt one of tlte
prison tenns prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the amount of the drug involved is withiu that range and if
the offense was cotnnritted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvettile, trafficking in L.S.D. is a felony of
the first degree, and the court sltall impose as a mandatoty prison term one of the prison terms prescribed for a felony of

the first degree.

(f) If the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds one thousand unit doses but is less than five tltousand
unit doses of L.S.D. in a solid form or equals or exceeds one hundred gratns but is less than five hundred grams of
L.S.D. in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form and regardless of whether the offense was cotnmit-
ted in the vicinity of a scltool or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in L.S.D. is a felonv of the fnst degree, and the
court shall inipose as a mandatory prison term one of ttte prison terms prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(g) If the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds five thousand unit doses of L.S.D. in a solid form or
equals or exceeds five hnndred gratns of L.S.D. in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form and re-
gardless of whetlier the offense was committed in the vicinit), of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in
L.S.D. is a felony of the first degree, the offender is a major drug offender, and the cow't shall impose as a niandatory
prison term the maximum prison term prescribed for a felony of the first degree and may itnpose an additional tnanda-

tory prison term prescribed for a major dntg offender under division (D)(3)(b) of seciiorr 2929.14 of the Revised Code.

(6) If the dntg involved in the violation is heroin or a compowtd, mixture, preparation, or substance containing
heroin, whoever violates division (A) of this section is guilty of trafficking in heroin. The penalty for the offense shall

be determined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(6)(b), (c), (d), (e), (f), or (g) of this section, trafficking in her-

oin is a felony of the fifth degree, and division (C) of sec6on 2929.1.3 of the Revised Code applies in detennining

whether to impose a prison terni on the offender.

(b) Except as othe'wise provided in division (C)(6)(c), (d), (e), (f), or (g) of this sectiotr, if the offense was
conimitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in heroin is a felony of the fourth degree,

and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in detennining whetlier to impose a prison tenn on the

offender.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug utvolved equals or exceeds ten unit
doses bnt is less than fifty unit doses or equals or exceeds one giam but is less tt an five grams, trafficking in heroni is a
felony of the fom-th degree, and there is a presumption for a prison term for the offense. If the amount of the drug in-
volved is within that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile,
trafficking in heroin is a felony of the tltird degree, and there is a presumption for a prison term for the offense.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amowtt of the drug involved equals or exceeds fifty unit
doses but is less than one hundred unit doses or equals or exceeds five grams but is less than ten grams, trafficking in
heroin is a felony of the third degree, and there is a presumption for a prison terrn for the offense. If the atnount of the
drug involved is within that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a ju-
venile, traffickuig in heroin is a felony of the second degree, and there is a presumption for a prison term for the offense.

(e) Fxcept as otherwise provided in this division, if the antottnt of the drug involved equals or exceeds one httn-
dred unit doses but is less than five hundred unit doses or equals or exceeds ten gratns btit is less than fifty grams, traf-
ficking in heroin is a felony of the second degree, and the court slrall impose as a mandatory prison tertn one of the
prison tenns prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the amomtt of the drug involved is within that range and if
the offense was comntitted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, traffteking in horoin is a felony of
the first degree, and the court shall impose as a niandatory prison term one of the prison ternis prescribed for a felony of

tlte fu-st degree.
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(f) If the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds five bundred unit doses but is less than two thousand
five hundred unit doses or equals or exceeds fifty grains but is less than twa hundred fifty grams and regardless of

whether the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in heroin is a

felony of the first degi-ee, and ttte coutt shall impose as a tnandatoty pnson term one of the prison tei-ms presci-ibed for a
felony of the first degree.

(g) If the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds two thousand five hundred unit doses or equals or ex-
ceeds two hundred fifty grams and regardless of whether the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the
vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in heroin is a felony of the first degree, the offender is a major di-ug offender, and the
court shall impose as a mandatory prison terin the maximum prison tenn prescribed for a felony of the first degree and
may impose an additional mandatoty prison terrn prescribed for a major drug offender under division (D)(3)(b) of sec-

tion 2929. 14 of the Revised Code.

(7) If the drug itrvolved in the violation is hashish or a compound, inixture, preparation, or substance containing
hashish, whoever violates division (A) of ttris section is guilty of trafficking in hashish. The penalty for the offense shall

be detennined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(7)(b), (c), (d), (e), or (f) of this section, trafficking in hashish is

a felony of the fifth degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determining whetlier to

impose a prison terin on the offender.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in division (C)(7)(c), (d), (e), or (t) of this sectimt, if the offense was couunit-
ted in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of ajuvenile, trafFclcing in hashish is a felony of the fomth degree, and

division (C) of section 2929.13 ofthe Revised Code applies in detetmining whether to impose a prison term on the of-

fender.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amount of the dmg involved equals or exceeds ten
g ams but is less tltan fifty grams of hasltish in a solid for-m or equals or exceeds two grams but is less tltan ten grams of
hashish in a liquid concenttzte, liquid extract, or liquid distillate fonn, trafficking in hashish is a felony of the fourtlr

degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in detennining whether to impose a prison term
on the offender. If thc amount of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense was connnitted in the vicinity
of a school or in the vicinity of ajuvenilc, trafficking in hashish is a felony of the third degree, and division (C) of sec-

tion 2929.13 of tFxe Revised Code applies in determining whetlter to impose a prison term on the offender.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this division, if the amotmt of the drug involved equals or exceeds fifty
grams but is less flian two hundred fifry grains of ha.shish in a solid fotm or equals or exceeds ten grams but is less than
tifty grains of hashish in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form, trafficking in hashish is a felony of

the third degree, and division (C) of section 2929.13 of the Revised Code applies in determining whetlter to impose a
prison ternt on the offender. If the amount of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense was committed in
the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of a juvenile, trafficking in hashish is a felony of the second degree, and there
is a presumption that a prison term shall be hnposed for the offense.

(e) Bxcept as otherwise providcd in this division, if the amount of the dtug involved equals or exceeds two hun-
dred fifty grams but is less than one thousand gratns of hashish in a solid form or equals or exceeds fifty grains but is
less than two hundred grains of hashish in a liquid concentrate, liquid extract, or liquid distillate form, trafficking in
hashish is a felony of the tltird degree, and there is a presumption that a prison term sltall be imposed for the offense. If
the amount of the drug involved is within that range and if the offense was comtnitted in the vicinity of a school or in
the vicinity of ajuvenile, trafficking in has,hish is a felony of the second degree, and there is a presumption that a prison

term shall be imposed for the offense.

(f) Except as othetwise provided in this division, if the amount of the drug involved equals or exceeds one tltou-
sand gi-ams of hashish in a solid form or equals or exceeds two hundred grams of hashish in a liquid concentrate, liquid
extract, or liquid distillate fomt, n-affieking in hashish is a felony of the second degree, and the court shall impose as a
mandatory prison term the tnaximum prison term prescribed for a felony of the second degree. If the amount of the dtug
involved is within that range and if the offense was committed in the vicinity of a school or in the vicinity of ajuvenile,
trafficking in hashish is a felony of the first degree, and the court shall impose as a mandatoty prison term the maximum
prison tenn prescribed for a felony of the first degree.

(D) In addition to any prison tertn authoiized or required by division (C) of this section and sections 2929.13 and

2929.14 of the Revised Code, and ur addition to any ottier sanction imposed for the offettse under this section or sections
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2929.11 to 2929.18 of the Revised Code, the couit that sentences an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to a
violation of division (A) of this section shall do all of the following that are applicable regarding the offander:

(I) Ifthc violation of division (A) of this section is a felony of the first, second, or tliird degree, the coutt slrall
impose upon the offender the mandatory fine spcci6ed for the offense under division (B)(1) ofsecti'on 2929.18 of the

Revised Code unless, as specified in that division, the court determines that the offender is indigent. Except as otherwise
provided in division (H)(1) of this section, a mandatory fine or any other fine imposed for a violation of this section is
subject to division (F) of this section. If a person is charged with a violation of this section that is a felony of the first,
second, or third degree, posts bail, and forfeits the bail, the clerk of the cowt shall pay the forfeited bail pursuant to di-
visions (D)(1) and (F) of this section, as if the forfeited bail was a fine imposed for a violation of this section. lf any
amount of tlre forfeited bail retnains after that payment and if a fine is intposed under division (1-1)(1) of this section, the
clerk of the court shall pay the remaining amount of the forfcited bail pursuant to divisions (H)(2) and (3) of this sec-
tion, as if that remaining amount was a fine imposed under division (H)(1) of this section.

(2) The court shall suspend the driver's or commercial driver's license or permit of the offender in accordance

with division (G) of this section.

(3) If the offender is a professionally licensed person, the courC itmnediately shall comply with section 2925.38 of

the Revised Code.

(E) When a person is clrarged with the sale of or offer to sell a bulk anroimt or a multiple of a bulk amount of a con-
trolled substance, tlie jury, or the court trying the accused, shall determine the amount of the controlled substance in-
volved at tite time of the offense and, if a guilty verdict is retunied, shall rehirn the findings as part of the verdict. In any
such case, it is umrecessary to find and return the exact amount of fhe controlled substance involved, and it is sufficient
if the finding and return is to the effect that the amount of the controlled substance involved is the requisite amount, or
that the amount of the coutrolled substance involved is less than the requisite amount.

(F) (1) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of section 3719.21 oflhe Revised Code and except as provided in

division (I-I) of this section, the clerk of the court shall pay any tnandatory Tine imposed pursuant to division (D)(1) of
this section and any fine other than a mandatory fine that is icnposed for a violation of this section pursuant to division

(A) or (13)(5) of section 2929.18 of the Revised Code to the county, township, municipal corpom.tion, park district, as

created pursuant to section 511.18 or 1545.04 of the Revised Code, or state law enforcement agencies in this state that

primarily were responsible for or involved in niaking the arrest of, and in prosecuting, the offender. However, the clerk
shall not pay ainandatory fine so imposed to a law enforcement agency miless the agency ]tas adopted a written internal
control policy under division (F)(2) of this section that addresses the use of the fine moneys that it receives. Each
agency shall use the mandatory fines so paid to subsidize the agency's law enforcement effotts that pertain to drug of-
fenses, in accordance with the written internal control policy adopted by the recipient agency under division (F)(2) of

this section.

(2) (a) Prior to receiving any fine moneys under division (F)(1) of this section or division (B) of section 2925_42

of the Revised Code, a law enforcement agency shall adopt a written internal control policy that addresses the agency's
use and disposition of all fine inoneys so received and that provides for the keeping of detailed financial records of the
receipts of those fine moneys, the general types of expenditures made out of those fine moneys, and the specific amount
of eaclt general type of expenditure. The policy shall not provide for or permit the identification of atty specific expendi-
ture that is made in an ongoing investigation. All financial records of the receipts of those fine inoneys, the general
types of expenditures made out of those fine moneys, and the specific amount of each general type of expenditure by an

agency are public records open for inspection under section 149.43 of the Revised Code. Additionally, a written internal

control policy adopted under this division is such a public record, and the agency that adopted it shall comply with it.

(b)1:ach law enforcement agency that receives in any calendar year any fine moneys under division (F)(i) of

this section or division (B) of section 2925.42 of the Revised Code shall prepare a report covering the calendar year that

cumulates all of the information contained in all of the public financial records kept by the ageney pursuant to division
(F)(2)(a) of this section for that calendar year, and shall send a copy of the cumulative report, no later than the first day
of March in the calendar year following the calendar year covered by thc report, to the attomey general. Each repoi-t
received by the attorney general is a public record open for inspection under section 149.43 of the Revised Code. Not

later than the fifteenth day of April in the calendar year in which the reports are received, the attorney general shall send
to the president of the senate and the speaker of the house of representatives a written notification that does all of the

following:
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(i) lrndicates that the attorney general has received from law enforcement agencies repotts of the type de-
scribed in this division that cover the previous calendar year and indicates that the reports were received under this divi-

sion;

(ii) Indicates that the reporl-s are open for inspection under section 149.43 of the Revised Code;

(iii) Indicates that the attotney general will provide a copy of any or all of the reports to the president of the

senate or tlte speaker of tlte house of representatives upon request.

(3) As used in division (F) of this section:

(a) "Law enforcement agencies" includes, but is not limited to, the state board of pharmacy and the office of a

prosecutor.

(b) "Pt'osecutor" has the same meaning as in .rectiore 2935.01 of the Revised Code.

(G) When required under division (D)(2) of this section or any other provision of this chapter, the eourt shall sus-
pend for not less than six months or tnore than five years the driver's or commercial driver's license or permit of any
persmt who is convicted of or pleads guilty to any violation of this section or any other specified provision of this chap-
ter. If an offender's dtiver's or connnercial driver's license or pennit is suspended pursuant to this division, the offender,
at any time afler the expiration of two years frotn the day on which the offendet's sentence was imposed or $om the day
on which the offender finally was released from a prison terin tinder the sentence, whichever is later, may file a motion
with the sentencing court requesting terinination of the suspension; upon the filing of such a tnotion aad the court's find-
itig of good cause for the termination, the court may terminate the suspension.

(H) (1) In addition to any prison tenn authorized or required by division (C) of this section and sections 2929. I3

and 2929.14 of the Revised Code, in addition to any other penalty or sanction imposed for the offense under this section

or sections 2929. 11 to 2929.18 ofthe Revised Code, and in addition to the forfeiture of property in comiection with the

offense as prescribed in Chapter 2981, of the Revised Code, the court that sentences an offender who is convicted of or
pleads guilty to a violation of division (A) of this section may impose upon the offender an additional fine specified for

the offense in divisinn (13)(4) of section 2929.18 oft)ae Revised Code_ A fine imposed under division (H)(I) of this sec-

tion is not subject to division (F) of this section and shali be used solely for the support of one or nrore eligible alcohol
and drug addiction programs in accordance with divisions (11)(2) and (3) of this section.

(2) The eotut that imposes a fine under division (H)(1) of this section shall specify in the jndgment that imposes
ttte fine one or niore eligible alcohol and drug addiction programs for the support of which the fine money is to be used.
No alcohol and dnig addiction progratn shall receive or use money paid or collected in satisfact'ion of a fine imposed
under division (H)(I) of this seetion utiless the program is specified in the judgment that imposes the fine. No alcohol
and dntg addiction program shall be specified in the judgtnent unless the program is an eligible alcohol and drug addic-
tion progta n and, except as otherwise providod in division (H)(2) of this scction, unless the program is located in the
county in which the coutt that imposes the fine is located or in a county that is immediately contiguous to the county in
which that court is located. If no eligible alcohol and drug addiction protr am is located in any of those counties, the
judgment tnay specify an eligible alcohol and drug addiction program that is located anywherc within this state.

(3) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of section 3719.21 of tHe Revised Code, the clerk of the court shall

pay any fine imposed under division (H)(1) of this section to the eligible alcohol and diug addiction progratn specified
ptu'saant to division (H)(2) of this section in the judgment. The eligible alcohol and drug addiction program that re-
ceives the fine moneys shall use the moneys only for the alcohol and drug addiction services identified in the applica-

tion for certification under section 3793.06 of the Revised Code or in the application for a license under section 3793.11

of the Revised Code filed with the department of alcohol and dtug addiction services by the alcohol and dntg addiction

program specified in the judgment.

(4) Eaclz alcohol and drug addiction program that receives in a calendar year any fine moneys under division
(H)(3) of this section shall file an annual report covering that calendar year with the court of common pleas and the
board of county commissioners of the eounty in which the prog am is located, with the court of cornmon pleas and the
board of county cotnmissioners of each county from which the program received the moneys if that county is different
front the county in which the program is located, and with the attorney general. The alcohol and drug addiction program
shall file the report no later than the first day of March in the calendar year following the calendar year in which the
program received the fine moneys. The report shall include statistics on the uumber of persons served by the alcohol

and di-ug addiction program, identify the types of alcohol and drug addiction services provided to those persons, and
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includc a speci5c accounting of the putposes for which the fine tnoneys received were used. No information contained
in the repott shall identify, or enable a person to detemtine the identity of, any peison served by the alcohol and drug

addiction program. 1.'-ach repoiY received by a court of comtnon pleas, a board of county commissioners, or the attorney

general is a pttblic record open for inspection under section 149.43 of the Revised Code.

(5) As used in divisions (H)(1) to (5) of this section:

(a) "Alcohol and drug addiction program" and "alcohol and drug addiction services" have the same tneanings as

in section 3793.01 ofthe Revised Code.

(b) "Eligible alcohoi and drug addiction program" means an alcohol and di-ug addiction program that is certified

under section 3793.06 ofthe Revised Code or licensed under section 3793.71 of the Revised Code by the department of

nlcohol and drug addiction services.

(1) As tised in this section, "drug" includes any substance that is represented to be a drug.
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§ 2929.14. Basic prison terms

(A) Except as provided in division (C), (D)(1), (D)(2), (D)(3), (D)(4), (D)(5), (D)(6), (D)(7), (D)(8), (G), (I), (J), or

(L) of this section or in division (D)(6) of section 2919.25 ofthc Revised Code and except in relation to an offense for

whicli a sentence of deatli or life imprisonment is to be inyposed, if the court imposing a sentence upon an offender for a
felony elects or is required to impose a prison tenn on the offender pursuant to this chapter, the court sliall impose a

definite prison term that sltall be one of the followuig:

(1) For a felony of the first degree, the prison term shall be three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, or ten years.

(2) For a felony of the second degree, the prison term shall be two, three, four, five, six, seven, or eight years.

(3) For a felony of the third degree, the prison term shall be one, two, three, four, or five years.

(4) For a felony of the fourth degree, the prison term shall be six, seven, eight, nine, ten, eleven, twelve, thirteen,

fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, seventeen, or eighteen montlts.

(5) For a felony of the fifth degree, the prison term shall be six, seven, eight, nine, ten, eleven, or twelve months.

(B) Except as provided in division (C), (D)(1), (D)(2), (D)(3), (D)(5), (D)(6), (D)(7), (D)(8), (G), (1), (J), or (L) of

this section, in section 2907.02, 2907.05, or 2919.25 of the Revised Code, or in Chapter 2925, of the Revised Code, if

the court imposing a sentence upon an offender for a felony elects or is required to impose a prison term on the of-
fender, the court shall impose the shortest prison term authorized for the offense pursuant to division (A) of this section,

unless one or more of the following applies:

(1) The offender was serving a prison term at the time of the offense, or the offender previotisly had served a

prison term.

(2) The court finds on the record that the shortest prison term will demean the seriousness of the offender's con-
duct or will not adequatefy protect the public from fiiture crime by the offender or others,

(C) Except as provided in division (D)(7), (D)(8), (G), or (L) of this section, in section 2919.25 of the Revised

Code, or in Chapter 2925. of the Revised Code, the court imposing a sentence upon an offender for a felony may im-

pose the longest prison term authorized for the offense pursuant to division (A) of this section only upon offenders who

committed the worst forms of the offense, upon offenders who pose the greatest likelihood of committing future ctimes,

upon certain major drug offenders tinder division (D)(3) of this sectioti, and upon certain repeat violent offenders in

accordance with division (D)(2) of this section.



Page 2

ORC Atm. 2929.14

(D) (1) (a) Except as provided in division (D)(1)(e) of this section, if an offender who is convicted of or pleads
guilty to a felony also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type desct-ibed in section 2947.131

[2941.14.1], 2941.144 [2941.14.4], or 2941.145 [2941.14.5] of the Revised Code, the court shall impose on the of-

fender one of the following prison terms:

(i) A prison term of six years if the specification is of the type described in section 2941.144 [2941.14.4] of

the Revised Code that charges the offender witlt having a ftreann that is an automatic fneatm or that was equipped with
a fireartn nruffler or silencer on or about the offender's person or under the offende-'s connol while cammitting the fel-

ony;

(ii) A prison tet'm of ttiiee years if the specification is of the type described in section 2941.145 [2941.14.5] of

the Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm on or about the offender's person or under the of-
fender's control while committing the offettse and displaying tlre firearm, brandishing the fireann, indicating thatthe

offender possessed the fireann, or using it to facilitate the of{ense;

(iii) A prison term of one year if the specifrcation is of the type described in section 2941.141 [2941.14.11 of

the Revised Code that charges the offender witlt having a firearm on or about the offender's person or under the of-

fender's control while committing the felony.

(b) If a court imposes a prison tenn on atr offender under division (D)(1)(a) of this section, the prison term shall
not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, section 2967.193 [2967.19.3], or any other provision of Cltapter 2967, or
Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. Except as provided in division (D)(1)(g) of this section, a court shall not impose
more tttan one prisou tenn on an offender under division (D)(1)(a) of this section for felonies conimitted as part of the

same act or transaction.

(c) Except as provided in division (D)(1)(e) of this section, if an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to

a violation of section 2923.161 [2923.16 1] of the Revised Code or to a felony that includes, as an essential element,

purposely or lcnowingly causing or attempthrg to cause the death of or physical harm to another, also is couvicted of or

pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.146 [2941.14.6] of the Revised Code that charges

the offender with committing the offense by discharging a fireartn from a motor vehicle other than a manufactured

bome, the court, after imposing a prison term on the offender for the violation of section 2923.761 [2923.16.1] of the

Revised Code or for the otlier felony offense under division (A), (D)(2), or (D)(3) of this section, shall impose an addi-
tional prison term of five years upon the offender that shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, section
2967_193 [2967.19.3], or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. A court sltall not
impose more Ihan one additional prison term on an offender under division (D)(1)(c) of this section for felonies com-
mitted as put of the samc act or transaction. If a court imposes an additional prison term on an offender under division
(D)(7)(c) of this section relative to an offense, the court also shall impose a prison term under division (D)(1)(a) of this
section relative to tbe same offense, provided the criteria specified in that division for imposing an additional prison

term are satisfied relative to the offender and the offense.

(d) If an offendet- who is convicted of or pleads guilty to an offense of violence that is a felony also is convicted

of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.1411 [2941.14.11] of the Revised Code that

chatges the offender with wearing or carryuzg body annor while committing the felony offense of violence, the court
shall hnpose on the offendcr a prison term of two years. The prison term so itnposed shall not be reduced pmsuant to
section 2929.20, section 2967.193 [2967.193], or any other provision of Clrapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised
Code. A court shall not impose more than one prison term on an offender under division (D)(1)(d) of this section for
felonies comtnitted as part of the satne act or transaction. ]f a court imposes an additional prison tenn under division
(D)(1)(a) or (c) of this section, the court is not precluded from imposing an additional prison term under division

(D)(1)(d) of this section.

(e) The coutt sball not impose any of the prison terms described in division (D)(1)(a) of this section or any of

the additional prison terms described in division (D)(1)(c) of this section upon an offender for a violation of section

2923.12 or 2923.123 [2923.12.3] of the Revised Code. The cotnt shall not impose any of the prison terms described in

division (D)(1)(a) or (b) of this section upon an offender for a violation of section 2923.122 [2923.12.2] that involves a

deadly weapon that is a firearm other than a dangerous ordnance, section 2923.16, or section 2923.121 [2923.12.7] of

the Revised Code.
'Che court shall not impose any of the prison terms described in division (D)(1)(a) of this section or

any of the additional prison terms described in division (D)(1)(c) of this section upon an offender for a violation of sec-

tion 2923_ 13 of the Revised Code unless all of the following apply:
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(i) The offender previously has been convicted of aggravated murder, murde', or any felony of the first or

second de„ree.

(ii) Less than five years have passed since the offender was released Hom prison or post-release contt'ol,

whichever is later, for the prior offense.

(t) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a felony that includes, as an essential element, causing or at-
tempting to cause the death of or physical harm to another and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of

the type described in section 2941.1412 [2941.14.12] of'the Revised Code that charges the offender witlt committing the

offense by discharging a fuearm at a peace officer as defined in section 2935.01 of the Revised Code or a coiTections

o8icer as defined in section 2941.1412 [2941.14.12] of the Revised Code, the coutt, after imposnig a prison teim on the

offender for the felony offense under division (A), (D)(2), or (D)(3) of this section, shall impose an additional prison
term of seven years upon the offender that shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, section 2967.193

[2967.19.3], or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. If an offender is convicted

of or pleads guilty to two or nrore felonies that include, as an essential element, causing or attempting to cause the death
or physieal hartn to another and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type dcscribed under divi-
sion (D)(1)(f) of this section in connection with two or tnore of the felonies of which the offender is convicted or to
which the offender pleads guilty, the sentencing court shall impose on the offendei- the prison term specified under divi-
sion (D)(1)(f) of this section for each of two of the specifications of which the offender is convictcd or to which the of-
fender pleads guilty and, in its discretion, also may impose on the offender tlte prison terni specified under that division
for any or all of the remaining specifications_ If a court imposes an additional prison term on an offender under division
(D)(1)(f) of this section relative to an offense, the coutt shall not iinpose a prison term undet' divisiort (D)(1)(a) or (c) of

this section relative to the same offense.

(g) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to two or more felonies, if one or more of those felonies is ag-
gr'avated murder, murder, attempted aggravated murder, attempted murder, aggravated robbery, felonious assault, or
rape, and if the offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described under division (D)(1)(a)
of this section in connection witlt two or more of the felonies, tbe sentencing court shall impose on the offender the
prison term specifred under division (D)(1)(a) of this seetion for each of the two most serious speeifications of wlrich
the offender is convicted or to which the offender pleads guilty and, in its discretion, also ntay impose on the offender
the prison ter n specified under that division for any or atl of the remaining specifications.

(2) (a) If division (D)(2)(b) of this section does not apply, the court may intpose on an offender, in addition to the
longest prison term authorized or reqnired for the offense, an additional definite prison term of one, two, three, four,

five, six, seven, eight, nine, or ten years if all of the following criteria are met:

(i) "phe offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.149

[2941.14.91 of the Revixed Code that the offender is a repeat violent offender.

(ii) The offense of which the offender currently is convicted or to which the offender currently pleads guilty is
aggravated murder and the court does not impose a sentence of death or life imprisonment without parole, tnurder, ter-
rorism and the court does not impose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole, any felony of the first deb ee that
is an offense of violence and the court does not itnpose a sentence of lifa imprisonment without parole, or any felony of
the second degree that is an offerrse of violence and the trier of fact finds that the offense involved an attempt to cause
or a threat to cause serious physical harm to a person or resulted in serious pltysical harm to a person.

(iii) The court imposes the longest prison term for the offense that is not life imprisonmeut without parole.

(iv) The court finds that the prison terms imposed putsuant to division (D)(2)(a)(lii) of this section and, if ap-
plicable, division (D)(1) or (3) of this section are inadequate to punish the offender and protect the public from future

cr'nne, becatrse the applicable factors under section 2929.12 of the Revised Code indicating a greater likelihood of re-

cidivism outweigh the applicable factors under that section indicating a lesser likelihood ofrecidivism.

(v) The court finds that the prison tet-ins imposed pursuant to division (D)(2)(a)(iii) of this section and, if ap-

plicable, division (D)(1) or (3) of this section are demeaning to the seriousness of the offense, because one or more of

the factors under section 2929_ 12 of the Revised Code indicating that the offender's conduct is more serious than con-

duct normally constituting the offense are present, and they outweigh the applicable factors under that section indicating
that the offender's conduct is less serious than conduct normally constituting the offense.
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(b)'fhe eotirt shall impose on an offender the longest prison term authorized or required for the offense and
shall impose on the offender an additional definite prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, or

ten years if all of the following criteria are met:

(i) The offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.149

[2941.14.9] ofthe Revised Code that the offender is a repeat violent offender.

(ii) "I-he offender within the precednrg twenty years has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to three or more

offenses described in division (CC)(1) of section 2929.01 of ihe Revised Code, including all offenses described in that

division of which the offender is convicted or to which the offender pleads guilty in thc current prosecution and all of-
fenses described in that division of which the offender previously has beett convicted or to which the offender previ-
ously pleaded guilty, whethe- prosecuted together or separately.

(iii) The offense or offenses of which the offender cusently is convicted or to which the offender cunently
pleads guilty is aggravated rnurder and the court does not itnpose a sentence of deatlt or life imprisonment without pa-
role, rnurder, ten'orism and the court does not impose a sentence of life imprisotmlent without parole, any felony of the
first degree that is an offense of violence and the court does not innpose a sentence of life imprisonment without parole,
or any felony of the second degree that is an offense of violence and the trier of fact finds that the offense involved an
attempt to cause or a threat to cause serious physical harm to a person or resulted ut serious physical hann to a person.

(c) For purposes of division (D)(2)(b) of this section, two or more offenses colnntitted at the same time or as
part of the same act or event shall be considered one offense, and that one offense shall be the offense with the greatest

penalty.

(d) A sentence imposed under division (D)(2)(a) or (b) of this section shall not be reduced pursuant to section
2929.20 or section 2967.193 [2967.19.3], or any other pi-ovision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised

Code. The offender shall serve an additional prison tei-m imposed under this section consecutively to and prior to the

prison term itnposed for the underlying offense.

(e) When itnposing a sentence pursuant to division (D)(2)(a) ot- (b) of this section, the court shall state its find-

ings explaining the imposed sentence.

(3) (a) Except when an offender commits a violation of,rection 2903.01 or 2907.02 oftFee Revised Code and the

penalty itnposed for the violation is life imprisonment or commits a violation of section 2903.02 of the Revised Code, if

the offender eommits a violation of section 2925.03 or 2925.11 of ihe Revised Code and that section classifies the of-

fender as a major di-ug offender and requires the nnposition of a ten-year prison term on the offender, iftlte offender
conimits a felony violation of section 2925.02, 2925_04, 2925.05, 2925.36, 3719.07, 3719.05, 3719.16, 3719.161
[3719.16.1], 4729.37, or 4729.61, division (C) or (D) of section 3719.172 [3719.17.2], division (C) of section 4729.51,

or division (J) ofsection 4729.54 ofthe Revised Code that includes the sale, offer to sell, or possession of a schedule I
or 11 controlled substance, witll the exception of marihuana, and the court imposing sentence upon the offender finds
that the offender is guilty of a specification of the type described in section 2941.1410 12941.14.10J of the Revised Code
charging that the offender is a major drug offender, if the court imposing sentence upon an offender for a felony finds
that the offender is guilty of conupt activity with the most serious offense in the pattem of corrupt activity being a fel-
ony of the first degree, or if the offender is guilty of au attenipted violation of section 2907.02 of the Revised Code and,

had the offender completed the violation of section 2907.02 of the Revised Code that was attempted, the offender would

havc becn subject to a sentence of life imprisonment or life imprisonment without parole for the violation of section

2907.02 of the Revised Code, the court shall impose upon the offender for the felony violation a ten-year prison tertn
that cannot be redueed pursuant to section 2929.20 or Chapter 2967. or 5120. of the Revised Code.

(b) The court imposing a prison tenn on an offender under division (D)(3)(a) of this section may impose an ad-
ditional prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, or ten years, if the court, with respect to the
term imposed under division (D)(3)(a) of this section and, if applicable, divisions (D)(1) and (2) of this section, makes
both of the findings set forth in divisions (D)(2)(a)(iv) and (v) of this section.

(4) If the offender is being sentenced for a third or fotutlt degree felony OVI offense under division (G)(2) of sec-

tion 2929.73 of the Revised Code, the sentencing court shall impose upon the offender a mandatory prison term in ac-
cordance with that division. ln addition to the mandatory prison tenn, if the offender is being sentenced for a fourth de-
gree felony OVl offense, the court, notwitlistanding division (A)(4) of this section, may sentence the offender to a defi-
nite prison term of not less than six mont.hs and not more than thirty months, and if the offender is being sentenced for a
third degree felony OVI offcnse, the sentencing court may sentence the offender to an additional prison term of any
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duration specified in division (A)(3) of this section. In cither case, the additional prison term imposed shall be reduced
by the sixty or one hundred twenty days imposed upon the offeuder as the mandatory prisan term. The total of the addi-
tional prison term iniposed under division (D)(4) of this section pltts the sixty or one hundred twenty days imposed as
the mandatory prison tertn shall equal a definite tenn in the range of six montlts to thirty months for a foutth degree
felony OVI offense attd shall equal otte of the authorized prison ternrs specified in division (A)(3) of this section fot' a
third degree felony OVI offense. If the coutt imposes an additional prison term under division (D)(4) of this section, the
offender shall serve the additional prison term after the offender has served the mandatory prison terrn required for the
offense. In addition to the mandatory prison term or mandatory and additional prison tenn imposed as described in divi-
sion (D)(4) of this section, the court also may sentence the offender to a cotnmunity eotrnal sanction under section

2929.16 or 2929.17 of the Revised Code, but the offender shall serve all of the prison terms so imposed prior to setving

the con munity contt-ol sanction.

If the offender is being senteuced for a fotuth degree felony OVI offense under division (G)(I) of section 2929.13

of the Revised Code and the court imposes a mandatory tetm of local incarceration, the court may impose a prison term

as described in division (A)(1) oftlrat section.

(5) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.1414

(2941.14.141 of the Revised Code that charges that the victim of the offense is a peace officer, as defined in section

2935.01 of the Revised Code, or an investigator of the bureau of criminal identification and investigation, as defined in

section 2903.11 of the Revised Code, the court shall intpose on the offender a prison term of five years. If a court im-

poses a prison term on an offender nnder division (D)(5) of this section, the prison tertn shall not be reduced pursuant to

section 2929.20, section 2967.193 [2967.19.3], or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120_ of the Revised

Code. A conrt shall not impose more than one prison term on an offender under division (D)(5) of this scction for felo-

nies committed as part of the same act.

(6) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type dcscribed in section 2941.1415

[2941.14.151 of the Revised Code that charges that the offender previously has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to

three or more violations of division (A) or (B) of section 4511.19 of the Revised Code or an equivalent offense, as de-

fined in section 2941.1415 [2941.14.1 aJ of the Revised Code, or three or more violations of any combination of those

divisions and offenses, the court shall impose on the offender a prison term of three years. If a comt imposes a prison
term on an offender under division (D)(6) of this section, the prison tenn shall not be reduced pursuant to section
2929.20, section 2967.193 [2967.19.3], or any other provision of Clrapter 2967. or Chapter 5120, of the Revised Code.
A court shall not impose more than one prison term on an offender under division (D)(6) of this section for felonies

committed as part of the same act.

(7) (a) If an otTender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a felony violation of section 2905.01, 2905.02, 2907.21,

2907.22, or 2923.32, division (A)( l) or (2) of section 2907.323 [2907.32.3], or division (B)(1), (2), (3), (4), or (5) of

section 2919.22 of the Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in

section 2941.1422 [2941.14.22] of the Revised Code that charges that the offender knowingly committed the offense hi

furtherance of human trafficking, the court shall impose on the offender a ntandatory prison term that is one of the fol-

lowing:

(i) If ttte offense is a felouy of the first degree, a definite prison tertn of not less than five years and not greater

than ten yeats;

(ii) If the offense is a felony of the second or third degree, a definite prison term of not less than three yeai's

and not grcater than the maximum prison term allowed for the offense by division (A) of section 2929.14 qf the Revised

Code;

(iii) If the offense is a felony of the fourth or fifth degree, a definite prison term that is the maximum prison

tertn allowed for the offense by division (A) of section 2929.14 of the Revised.

(b) Tlte prison term imposed under division (D)(7)(a) of this section shall not be rednced pursuaut to section
2929.20, section 2967.193 [2967.19.3], or any other provision of Chapter 2967. of the Revised Code_ A coutt shall not
impose more than one prison term on an offender under division (D)(7)(a) of this section for felonies comtnitted as part

of the same act, sclteme, or plan.
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(8) If an offender is convicted of oi- pleads guilty to a felony violation of s•ection 2903.11, 2903.12, or 2903.13 qf

the Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads gai]ty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.1423

(2941.14.23J of the Revised Code that charges ittat the victim of the violation was a woman whom the offender knew
was pregnant at the titne of the violation, notwithstanding the range of prison terms prescribed in division (A) of this
sectiort for felonies of the same degree as the violation, the court shall impose on the offender a mandatory prison term

that is either a definite prison term of six tnonths or one of the prison terms prescribed in section 2929.14 of'the Revised

Code for felonies of the same degree as the violation.

(h) (1) (a) Subjectto division (E)(1)(b) of this section, if a mandatory prison tenn is imposed upon an offender pur-
suant to division (D)(1)(a) of this section for having a fit-earm on or about the offender's person or tmder the offender's
control while comrnitting a felony, if a mandatory prison tet-rn is irnposed upon an offender pursuant to division
(D)(1)(c) of this section for committing a felony specified in that division by discharging a firearm from a motor vehi-
cle, or if both types of niandatory prison terms are imposed, the offender shall serve any mandatory prison term imposed
under either division consecutively to any other mandatory prison teiln imposed uttder either division or under division
(D)(i)(d) of this section, consecutively to and prior to any prison term itnposed for the underlying felony pursrunt to
division (A), (D)(2), or (D)(3) of this section or any other section of the Revised Code, and consecutively to any other
prison term or mandatory prison tenn previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(b) If a mandatory prison term is unposed upon an offender pursuant to division (D)(1)(d) of this sectiort for
wearing or catrying body annor while cotnmitting att offense of violence that is a felony, the offender slmll serve the
mandatory terrn so imposed consecutively to any other mandatory prison term imposed under that division or under
division (D)(1)(a) or (c) of this section, consecutively to and prior to any prison term imposed for the tnrderlying felony
mtder division (A), (D)(2), or (D)(3) of this section or any other section of the Revised Code, and consecutively to any
other prison tenn or mandatory prison term previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(e) If a rnandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender pursuant to division (D)(1)(f) of this section, the of-
fender shall serve the mandatory prison term so imposed consecutively to and prior to any prison tenn imposed for the
underlying felony under division (A), (D)(2), or (D)(3) of this section or any other section of the Revised Code, and
consecutively to any other prison term or mandatory prison term previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(d) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender pursttant to division (D)(7) or (8) of this section, the
offender strall serve the mandatory prison terin so imposed consecutively to any other mandatory prison tenn imposed
under that division or under any other provision of law arid consecutively to any other prison ter-m or mandatory prison

term previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(2) If an offender who is an inmate in a jail, prison, or other residential detenfion facility violates section 2917.02,

2917.03, 2921.34, or 2921.35 of the Revised Code, if an offender who is under detsntion at a detention facility commits

a felony violation of section 2923.131 [2923.13.1J of the Revised Code, or if an offender who is an inmate in a jail,

prison, or other residential detention facility or is under detention at a detention facility commits another felony while

the offender is an escapee in violation of section 2921.34 of the Revised Code, any prison term irnposed upon the of-

fender for one of those violations shall be served by the offender consecutively to the prison term or tenn of imprison-
ment ttte offender was set-ving wlten the offender committed that offense and to any other prison tenn pt-eviously or

subsequently imposed upon the offender_

(3) If a prison term is imposed for a violation of division (B) of section 2911.01 of the Revised Code, a violatiott

of division (A) of section 2913.02 of the Revised Code in which the stolen property is a firearm or dangerous ordnance,

or a felony violation of division (B) of section 2921.331 [2921.33.1) of the Revised Code, the offender shall serve that

prison term consecutively to any other prison tertn or mandatory prison term previously or subsequently imposed upon

the offender.

(4) If multiple prison ternrs are imposed on an offender for convictions of multiple offenses, the court may require
the offender to serve the prison terms consecutively if the court Gnds that the consecutive service is necessary to protect
the public frorn future crime or to punish the offender and that consecutive sentences are not disproportionate to the
seriousness of the offender's conduct and to the danger the offender poses to the public, and if the court also finds any of

the following:

(a) The offender committed one or more of the multiple offenses while the offender was awaiting trial or sen-

tencing, was under a sanction imposed pursuant to section 2929.16, 2929.17, or 2929.18 of the Revised Code, or was

under post-release control for a prior offense.
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(b) At least two of the ntultiple offenses were committed as part of one or more courses of conduct, and the
hartn caused by two or more of the multiple offenses so committed was so great or unusual that no single prison tertn
for any of the offenses committed as part of any of the courses of condttct adequately reflects the seriousness of the of-

fender's conduct.

(c) The offender's history of criminal conduct demonstrates that consecutive sentences are necessary to protect

the public from future crime by the offender.

(5) If a mandatory prison term is itnposed upon an offender pursuant to division (D)(5) or (6) of this section, the
offender shall serve the mandatory prison term consecutively to and prior to auy prison term imposed for the underlying

violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903_06 of the Revised Code pursuant to division (A) of this section or see-

tiort 2929.142 [2929.14.2] ofthe Revised Code. If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender pursuant to

division (D)(5) of this section, and if a mandatory prison term also is imposed upon the offender pursuant to division
(D)(6) of this seetiott in relation to the same violation, the offender shall serve the mandatm'y prison tenn imposed pur-
suant to division (D)(5) of this section consecutively to and prior to the mandatory prison term imposed pursuant to di-
vision (D)(6) of this section and consecu6vely to and prior to any prison lerm imposed for the underlying violation of

division (A)(]) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the Revised Code pursuant to divisiou (A) of this section or sectiorz

2929.142 [2929.14.21 of'the Revised Code.

(6) When consecutive prison ternts are imposed pursuant to division (E)(I), (2), (3), (4), or (5) or division (J)(1)
or (2) of this section, the term to be served is the aggrcgate of all of the terms so imposed.

(F) (1) If a couit imposes a prison term for a felony of the first degree, for a felony of the second degree, for a fel-
ony sex offense, or for a felony of the third de^'eethat is not a felony sex offense and in the commission of which the
ofFender caused or threatened to cause physical harm to a peison, it shall include in the sentence a requit-ement that the
offender be subject to a period of post-release control after the offender's release fron intprisonment, in accordance witlt
thai division. If a coiut imposes a sentenee including a prison torm of a type desct-ibed in this division on or after Jttly
11, 2006, the failure of a court to include a post-release cmfi-ol requirement in the sentence pursttant to this division
does not negate, limit, oi- otherwise affect the mandatory period of post-release control that is required for the offender

under division (B) of section 2967.28 o,fYhe Revised Code. Section 2929.191 [2929.19.1] of the Revised Code applies if,

pior to July 11, 2006, a court imposed a sentence includiug a prison term of a type described in this division and failed
to include in the sentence pursuant to this division a statement regarding post-release control-

(2) If a cout-t imposes a prison term for a felony of the third, fourth, or fifth degree that is not subject to division
(F)(1) of this section, it shall include in the sentence a requirement that the offender be subject to a period of post-
release cotttrol after the offender's release from iniprisonment, in accordat ce with that division, if the parole board de-

termines that a period of post-release control is necessary. Section 2929.191 [2929.19.1] of the Revised Code applies if,

prior to July 11, 2006, a court in posed a sentence including a prison term of a type described in this division and failed
to include in the sentence pursuant to this division a statcment regarding post-release cotm'ol.

(G) The court shall impose sentence upon the offender m accordance with section 2971.03 of the Revised Code, and

Chapter 2971. of the Revised Code applies regarding the prison term or term of life imprisonment withoat parole im-
posed upon the offender and the service of that term of impriswtment if any of the following apply:

(1) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violent sex offense or a designated hotnicide, assault, or kidnap-
ping offense, and, in relation to that offense, the offender is adjudicated a sexually violent predator.

(2) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violation of division (A)(1)(b) of section 2907.02 of the Revised

Code committed on or after January 2, 2007, and either the courf does not impose a sentence of life without parole when

authorized pursuant to division (B) of section 2907.02 ofthe Revised Code, or division (B) of section 2907.02 oftlze

Revised Code provides that the court shall not sentence the offender pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(3) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to atteinpted rape committed on or after January 2, 2007, and a speci-

fication of the type described in section 2941.1418 [2941.14.18], 2941.1419 [2941.14.19], or 2941.1420 [2941.14.20]

of the Revised Code.

(4) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violation of section 2905.01 ofthe Revised Code committed on

or after January 1, 2008, and that section requires the court to sentence the offender pursuant to section 2971.03 ofthe

Revised Code.
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(5) A person is convictcd of or pleads guilty to aggravated murder committed on ot- after January 1, 2008, and di-
vision (A)(2)(b)(ii) of section 2929.022 [2929.02.2], division (A)(1)(e), (C)(1)(a)(v), (C)(2)(a)(ii), (D)(2)(b),

(D)(3)(a)(iv), or (E)(1)(d) of section 2929.03, or division (A) or (B) of section 2929.06 of the Revised Code requires the

court to sentence the offender pursuant to division (B)(3) of sectinn 2971.03 ofthe Revised Code.

(6) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder committed on or after January 1, 2008, and division (13)(2)

of section 2929.02 of the Revised Code requires the coult to senicnce the offender pursuant to section 2971.03 of the

Revised Code.

(H) If a person who has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to a felony is sentenced to a prison term or term of im-

prisonment under this section, sections 2929.02 to 2929.06 of the Revised Code, section 2929.142 [2929.14.2] of the

Revised Code, or section 2971.03 of the Revised Code, or any otlter provision of law, section 5120.163 [5120.16.3] of

the Revised Code applies regarding the person while the person is confined in a state correctional institution.

(I) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to a felony that is an offense of violence also is convicted of

or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.142 [2941-14.2] of the Revised Code that

charges the offender with having committed the felony while par[icipating in a critninal gang, the court shall impose

upon the offender an additional prison tertn of one, two, or three years.

(J) (1) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to aggravated murder, mui-der, or a felony of the first,
second, or tJiird degree that is an offense of violence also is oonvicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type

described in section 2941.143 [2941.14.3] of the Revised Code that charges the offender with having committed the

offense in a school safety zone or towards a person in a school safety zoue, the court shall impose upon the offender an
additional prison term of two years. The offender shall serve the additional two years consecutively to and prior to the

prison tertn imposed for the underlyusg offense.

(2) (a) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a felony violation of section 2907.22, 2907.24, 2907.241

[2907.24.1], or 2907.25 of the Revised Code and to a specification of the type described in section 2941.1421

[2941.14.21J of the Revised Code and if the court imposes a prison term on the offender for the felony violation, the

court nray impose ttpon the offender an additional prison tenn as follows:

(i) Subject to division (J)(2)(a)(ii) of this section, an additional prison tet-m of one, two, three, four, five, or six

months;

(ii) If the offender previously has been convicted of or pleaded gnilty to one or more felony or misdemeanor

violations of section 2907.22, 2907.23, 2907.24, 2907.241 [2907.24.1J, or 2907.25 of the Revised Code and also was

convicted of or pleaded guilty to a specification of the type described in section 2941.1421 [2941.14.21] of the Revised

Code regardirtg one ot- more of those violations, an additional prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight,

ttine, ten, eleven, or twelve months_

(b) In lieu of itnposing an additional prison term under division (J)(2)(a) of this section, the court may directly
impose ou the offender a sanetion that requires the offender to wear a real-time processing, continual tracking electronic
monitoring device during the period of time specified by the court. The petiod of time specified by the court shall equal
the duration of an additional prison term that the court could have imposed upon the offender under division (J)(2)(a) of
this section. A sanction imposed under this division shall commence on the date specified by the court, provided that the
sanction shall not cotnmence until after the offettder has served the prison term imposed for the felony violation of sec-

tion 2907.22, 2907.24, 2907.241 [2907.24.1], or 2907.25 of the Revised Code and any residential sanction imposed for

the violation under section 2929.16 ofthe Revised Code. A sanction imposed under this division shall be considered to

be a community control sanction for ptuposes of section 2929-15 of the Revised Code, and all provisions of the Revised

Code that pertain to commuruty control sanctions shall apply to a sanction imposed under this division, except to the
extent that they would by their nature be clearty inapplicable. 'Phe offender shall pay all costs associated with a sanction

imposed under tiris division, including the cost of the use of the monitoring device.

(K) At the time of sentencing, the court may recommend the ofetider for placement in a progranr of shock incar-

ceration under section 5120.031 [5120.03.1] of the Revised Code or for placement in an intensive program prison under

section 5120.032 [5120.03.21 of the Revised Code, disapprove placement of the offender in a program of shock incar-

ceration or an intensive program prison of that natttre, or make no recommendation on placement of the offender. In no
case shall the department of rehabilitation and cor'rection place the offender in a program or prison of that nature unless

the department determines as specified in sectiore 5120.031 [5120.03.1] or 5120,032 [5120-03.21 of the Revised Code,

whichever is applicable, that the offeuder is eligible foi- the placement.
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If the coutt disapproves placement of the offender in a program or ptison of that nature, the departinent of rehabili-
tation and correction strall not place the offender in any progratn of shock incarceration or intensive program prison.

If the court recommends placement of the offender in a program of shock incarceration or in an intensive program
prison, and if the offender is subsequently placed in the recommended program or prison, the depa-tment shall notify
the court of tlreplaeement and shall include with the notice a brief description of the placernent.

If the court reconm ends placement of the offender in a program of shock incarceration or in an intensive program
prison and the department does not subsequently place the offender in the recotnmended prog'ani or prison, the depart-
ment shall send a notice to the coutt urdicating w}ry the offender was not placed in the recommended program or prison.

If the coutt does not make a recontniendation under this division with respect to an offender and if the department

determines as specified in section 5120.031 [5120.03.1] or 5120.032 [-5120.03.2J of the Revised Code, whichever is

applicable, that the offender is eligible for placement in a program or prison of that nature, the department shall screen
the offendcr and determine if there is an available program of shock ittcarceration or an urtensive prog] am prison for
which the offender is suited. If there is an available progratn of shock incarceration or an intensive program prison for
which the offender is suited, the department shall notify the court of the proposed placement of the offender as specified

in section 5120.031 [5120.03.1 J or 5120.032 [5120.03.21 of the Reviaed Code and slrall include with the notice a brief

description of the placement. The corut slrall have ten days from receipt of the notice to disapprove the placemenY.

(L) If a person is convicted of or pleads guilty to aggravated vehicular homicide in violation of division (A) (1) of

section 2903.06 of the Revised Code and division (13)(2)(c) of that section applies, the peson shall be senteneed pursu-

ant to section 2929.142 [2929.14.2) of the Revised Code.
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